Tradelink =3

ANNUAL REPORT

Maximising
digital efficiency p
BlEHE KR EA

57 h == i=vs) e
B BEFESZABRENT
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
Stock Code BR{3X5% : 536



Corporate
Profile

RAEN A

Established in 1988 and listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”")
in 2005, Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(“Tradelink” or the “Company” or the “Group”) (Stock
Code: 536) is Hong Kong's digital efficiency pioneer.
With the mission to empower our clients with business
enabled e-solutions for their commercial and financial
activities, Tradelink have successfully brought the
benefits of smart technology to the city’s private and
public sectors.

In addition to leading Hong Kong's business-to-
government document compliance market, Tradelink
also offers expertise in supply chain, identity
management and payment technology solutions.
Over the years, the Company has earned the trust of
governments, multinationals, and small and medium
businesses spanning all industry sectors. Tradelink’s
vision is to promote a prosperous Hong Kong where
companies and people can readily achieve and enjoy
the benefits of digital efficiency.
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Financial Highlights

MBEME

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
BE-Z_=F EaEimb-mi
ez =R b=l +—H=+—H
LEFE IEFE
HKS$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Revenue g 266,611 258,815
Profit from operations R 78,186 80,094
Profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders 7< A 5% & It IR 355 A BB F
of the Company 100,639 52,333
Total assets EEHAE 545,581 532,561
Net assets EEFE 376,204 364,413
Dividend per share (HK cents) BREREGBW)
Interim ARG B 3.7 1.83
Proposed final BURRAAR R 6.3 4.67
Proposed special BUREFRIRRE - 2.75
Earnings per share (HK cents) BREF B
Basic %N 12.7 6.6
Diluted e 12.7 6.6
Financial ratios g ds 424
Net profit margin (Note 7) e ES( ) 37.7% 20.2%
Effective tax rate (Note 2) BN (M22) 9.4% 11.4%
Current ratio (Note 3) ENEE R (M1E3) 3.07 3.06
Quick ratio (Note 4) RENELE (ff2E4) 3.07 3.06
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
TSA=1—H [aeciE s
'000 ‘000
T TR
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares ERTRAREER
As at 31 December K+-BA=+—H 794,634 794,634
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R+ZA=+—He#TEER
(basic) outstanding as at 31 December BN I B (B A) 794,634 794,634
Note 1 Net profit margin = profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the — [fz£1 EBBFIF=2K LG EERBIEFFENEILEF W
Company/revenue
Note 2 Effective tax rate = taxation/profit before taxation Wiat2 EBRRE=-FIE R eIEF
Note 3 Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities K3 RBILLE=RBEE FEBEE
Note 4 Quick ratio = current assets minus inventory/current liabilities Kista BFBILE=-RBEERFE REEE
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Financial Highlights (Continued)
MBS E(R)

Revenue (HKS million) % of Segment Revenue of Total Revenue
W= (B BEET) DB EEWEEET DL
13%
337.2
2612 2738 533 266.6
P> E-Commerce EF &
Identity Management S{H&1E
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 J> Other Services EfthfRT

Profit for the Year (HKS million)

& Net Profit Margin Dividend per Share (HK cents)
FEBNBEIEET) RFEM=R BRRRE GBI
37.7% P> Final kHARE D> Interim FfARRE | Special $53IRR 8
24.4% 279%  26.9% 9.8 10.0

9.25 9.25

9.2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

* Proposed final dividend #FRERRR S
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Dear Shareholders,

Review

After the turbulent experiences in recent years, we started 2023
with some hope for a better economic environment amidst a more
stable endemic situation. As mentioned in the last Interim Report, our
business environment was still under a lot of pressure in the first half
year, but some slight improvement was observed towards the last
quarter. Anyhow, high interest rates and geopolitics continued to put
pressure on the economy.

Against this background, 2023 proved to be a year full of challenges
for the Company. Nevertheless | am pleased to report that the Group
achieved encouraging full-year results for 2023, in particular our profit
for the year. While our revenue recorded a small increase of 3.0% to
HK$266.6 million, our profit after tax saw a notable 92.3% increase to
HK$100.6 million.

Let me first talk about our operating results. With a slight improvement
in the second half of 2023, our full-year operating performance was able
to achieve comparable annual results as those in the previous year.
Our turnover in 2023 was HK$266.6 million (2022: HK$258.8 million),
total costs HK$188.4 million (2022: HK$178.7 million) and profit from
operations HK$78.2 million (2022: HK$80.1 million).

With the stable operating results, we were able to achieve a very
satisfying profit level in 2023 since we made substantial improvement
in our other activities largely driven by our investments to be explained
below.

As mentioned last year, we disposed of our securities investments in
2022 due to substantial fair value loss and continued market turmoil.
The sales proceeds were put in bank deposits, for which we earned
interest income of HK$20.4 million in 2023. Separately, we realised
a gain of HK$6.8 million from the disposal of our shareholding in our
associate in Guangzhou, the Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science &
Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”). In addition, we
recognised a net gain of reversing the impairment loss as well as
sharing its results in 2023 of HK$5.4 million due to the turnaround of
the Group’s investment in an associate, OnePort Holdings (BVI) Limited
(“OnePort”). As a result, the Group achieved a significant other net gain
of HK$32.2 million in 2023 versus a substantial net loss of HK$20.4
million in 2022. This huge swing of HK$52.6 million in net income
between 2022 and 2023 was a key contributor to the impressive
profit performance in 2023. Our profit before tax for 2023 jumped up
to HKS$111.1 million (2022: HK$59.1 million) and profit after tax at
HKS$100.6 million (2022: HK$52.3 million).

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

BEMRR :

=1 &8

ERERRAFENEER  RMNEE-E_=FHHA
ERRENREBERLRRENEERIE - #iin L

KPR ERTL - EFFRMANERRBDAERR
EXEN > BEPARER—BAEEERENE - BR
W SRR MGEBARRERREE S RE
F 0

ERhESRT ) —B=ZFHARN THEEL
B — o SAT > AAFRIARIRE » zl:%lﬁ':@::
FERRSASENEEEE LEHERFERN - &
B FIR IR S I N3.0%E % %266,600,0007T °

BB EANANEEENM2.3%E E 100,600,000
ﬁ: o
EHELAARBRANKCEESE AN ZZ =

THEREEBRENRS > ?ﬂzfﬁﬂﬁifﬁﬂ«ﬁﬁﬁi
BURAITFENFEXEESE BRANKZZT=Z=
fEE’JHSZm«‘%;%'#&Z% 600,0007c(Z =% : 7&*#%
258,800,0007T) > 48Rk 47 7#%5188,400,00070 (=
T 7%'#&178 700,0007T) @ K& F) A B
78,200,00070 (ZZF Z 4 : ##80,100,0007T) ©

BANSEEBEEBE S _=FEREOAEE
mEREN > TERHREME T XAAREEMKR
HEEB S HBSEENRE -

MM EERFRM > BN AABENEKRBEIRTIGH
BHE > BAER-ZSZFHERMNESRE
& o HEFBIREEEARTER  BAKRZEZ
= HEBRELT 351£20,400,0007TF BA o Bhb > i
BRYERENNBE I EREHBEHERE
BRAB(TREANBIKE > 813U 16,800,000
7 ° Lboh - R AEE R EEE 2T 0nePort Holdings
(BVI) Limited (“OnePort")MI EEEE AR » Ik
REBORESENINPZEER S =FXEF
H&mfﬁms 400,0007T c At » XEBKZZTZ=
FEF15 832,200,000 cEEEMBWZE > TT—
BT FAABERFEIEHET20,400,000T 0 ZF
T EFECE - SR HIEBE52,600,0007TH
EARGEFEEER _S_—FEREGBHARE
HRBER —T_=ENRReENBAEEE
111,100,0005c (= &/ = — 4 : ##59,100,0007T) °
[ 18R 2 815100,600,0007C (Z B - 4 : B
52,300,0007T) °
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETRHEEE(E)

Review (Continued)

Turning to the performance of the Group’s three business segments
in 2023, they largely followed the same trend as in the first half of the
year, as foreshadowed in the last Interim Report. The one which clearly
stood out and generated excitement was our Identity Management
(“IDM”) business as its performance surged further in the second
half year, resulting in a revenue of HK$68.9 million (2022: HK$47.7
million) and segment profit of HK$16.2 million for the whole of 2023
(2022: HK$5.2 million). Among our suite of IDM-related services
and solutions, our digital signing solution stood out in 2023 with a
phenomenal revenue growth. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Digi-Sign
Certification Services Limited (“Digi-Sign”), is the only commercial
Recognized Certification Authority (“CA") in Hong Kong, and we offer
Public Key Infrastructure (“PKI”)-based digital signing solution using
recognized certificates. Leveraging the advantages of this solution, we
capitalised on the growing market demand and secured several orders
in 2023. As highlighted in the 2023 Interim Report, our investment in
valuable research and development (“R&D") work in 2022 had paid off.
This allowed us to efficiently deliver solutions to our customers with
time and resources saved, thus enhancing the cost-efficiency of this
business segment and boosting its profit margin and amount.

On the other hand, the performance of our other two business
segments, E-Commerce and Other Services, continued to be impacted
by the difficult operating environment in 2023 due to the sluggish
economy and weak demand. Both segments experienced a decline in
revenue and segment profits to varying extents.

For our E-Commerce business, which consists of two business sub-
segments, namely Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS")
and Supply Chain Solutions (“SCS"), total revenue recorded in 2023 was
HK$163.7 million (2022: HK$172.2 million) and segment profit HK$50.2
million (2022: HK$60.9 million). While the overall GETS market in 2023
dropped by 9.8% resulting in a decrease in our transaction volume,
revenue of our GETS business for 2023 only experienced a slight
decline of 1.9% to HK$141.8 million (2022: HK$144.6 million) due to
our success in increasing average service price.

=l & (48)

REAEFA=FEEFEIBN_S_=ZFEMNEE > I L
KPR EFRTET  EARAREERELFENE
BoAEENESMERE(TMNEE) EHERTFBLIN
EHESAIRE » HEER THEE— S IRER
RIS =255 UEAE%68,000,000
TT(ZTEZ 4 #B#47,700,0007T) K 5 BRiE A 1
16,200,00050 (Z T~ — 4 : #¥#55,200,0007T) ° 7
BA—R B O EEERMRE LRSS » B
FERRNSE=_ERAXL » BRTEEHK
HER BN EMBABELFZERBFERA
B (TDigi-Sign.) B &AM — A & R Al 1% 5 148 (T
BB > RAREERRIEEN A AMATIELER
2R (TPKI)ERABIBEE SR o REZBAAREDN
B BMMNIBEREIEROTISER » MWHEZ
E_-FESZMIIE - NS =FhRE
Froasfl » AN S 258 B EENMAE KRS
(e 8% 1) TR E B INEREIR - EEHRFEHEK
MEEERERRASR > BENERER > Mk
S EFE D IR A  BFENEEE o

F—FHH > HREEEERTERES > HFAEH
MEXBIH(EFHERAMBH) K-S _=

NERFEESIBRHENCERBTE - MEAS BN
WK D B EFIISE R EREENTE

BMANEFEEER (B EMBEEE TSI > BIK
HEFE SRS (TGETS.) Rt FESEFE R A 2= (T
FEBERAZR))) M= BHEKREBIE
163,700,0007c(ZFE = — 4 : #172,200,0007T) >
PDE A ABE50,200,000c(ZB -2 F @ B
60,900,0007T) ° BE B _=FGETSHIFEET
#9.8% » ERHEMAMNRZERD » ZTEZ=FHKM
GETSEFERIUN a1 B8 T F£1.9%E #15141,800,000
T (ZEZ 4 : #18144,600,0007T) > LTHEFE
FIBER IR S FIIRRFE BT ©



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETRHEEE(E)

Review (Continued)

The performance of our SCS business remained disappointing in the
second half of 2023, resulting in a drop of full year revenue to HK$21.9
million (2022: HK$27.6 million). While there was a slight increase in
revenue from its maintenance and ongoing support services, our SCS
business was unable to attract expected new projects with customers.
It appeared that many of these customers, facing various adverse
business environments, decided to cancel or shelf their investment
decisions.

The Group’s Other Services segment comprises the Smart Point-of-
Sales (“PoS”) and related business as well as GETS-related services. In
2023 it generated a revenue of HK$34.0 million (2022: HK$38.9 million)
and segment profit HK$20.7 million (2022: HK$22.4 million). The
revenue drop of this business segment was attributable to the decline in
our Smart PoS and related business. In 2023, its revenue was HK$12.7
million, a decrease of 28.7% from the revenue of HK$17.8 million in
2022. As mentioned in the 2023 Interim Report, we anticipated the
decline of our Smart PoS and related business for the whole of 2023.
This was mainly due to the completion of a major project relating to the
development and deployment of a payment solution involving around
400 Smart PoS devices for a renowned enterprise in 2022.

Our GETS-related services recorded a commendable performance in
2023, despite the challenging market conditions. Considering its close
tie to the unfavourable GETS operating environment, our GETS-related
services managed to achieve a slight increase in revenue of HK$21.3
million (2022: HK$21.1 million). Due to the resumption of cross-border
and international cargo transport activities in early 2023, our Road
Cargo System (“ROCARS”) and call centre services for the Customs &
Excise Department (“C&ED”")'s ROCARS recorded a surge in revenue
increase of 33% year-on-year. Further we received additional one-time
revenue from the setup of call centre services for the Government'’s
Trade Single Window (“TSW") (Phases 1 and 2) as well as the ongoing
call service charge. Combination of these factors helped to compensate
for the revenue decline from the revenue coming from our collaboration
with PingAn OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (“PAOB”) and
contributed to a slight growth in revenue of our GETS-related services in
2023.

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

=l & (48)

RIE_=FT¥E > BANUEEERSRE
BREMASARE  BER2FERETHRERK
21,900,0007T (Z B = — 4 : #1£27,600,0007T) © %

REHEERIEE Z BRI UG E ML - BN
HIEEER S RES RS ERE S HEEMNET
B EhRIEFELUEZSBAMEERE » AT
BUHS M ERENRERTE

FEENHEMRE D OIEEEHER (THER) K
MEREBLURGETSIERART - KT =% > Hfth
AR5 50 BB R 15 Uk 25 B 134,000,000 (Z2 2=

7#1%38,900,0007T) » 53 EBi&@F % % #20,700,0007T

(ZZZZH : B122,400,0007T) o LEEEFE D EBAIIK
m NI RS RS E R BRI R TR - ﬁ"

ZEZ=F > HKEmAE12,700,0007T 0 BRZE
ZERHIK17,800,0007T FFE28.7% © uﬁwﬂ_g::
FEhfRERFM > BB S = E2FEEEH
ELNEMERISHRETB EXEHNEMKZ
BITESERT —EARIEE > A—RMNATER
BERREBIMBRASE S MN4008 EEHE R
B o

BERHBR AT RBE > RMVGETSHRARIE
TEC=FMRETAENRE  c EEIHAR
FRGETSREIRIBENE A% > HMIGETSHERA
PR 75 B Uk 25 BE R a0 B #521,300,0000 (2 ==
£ 1 B1¥21,100,0007T) - HRNBIRNEREEE
BR-ISZ=ZEEMHME  RMANERE %%*4
%45 (TROCARS)) A& #1501 (TEBERA) IR0
ROCARSE 5 & 1 (0 IR FE 8% 15 uﬁzmﬂttjcmmi%.ﬁé
33% o Itoh  HRMERABNEZE—EO(E—&
A1) (B—R 5 ZFEER) R Bad & s O AR TS UREN BB
=R FEUA RS E N EETHRESE - £t
EREEBHERMETLRERBRT(ERER
AE(TPAOBY) &EESM UG TR » MEFHKMGETS
RSN ER S = FRAEMIER
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETRHEEE(E)

Prospects

The global economic outlook in 2024 will likely continue to be
formidable and uncertain. Growth is expected to be slower than 2023
with higher downside risks. With inflation in the major advanced
economies staying elevated, interest rate is expected to stay at higher
levels for longer. This will not only dampen demand further, but also
undermine economic confidence around the world. In the context
of Hong Kong's trade environment, the ongoing trade disputes and
continuous geopolitical tensions pose significant risks for Hong Kong's
export-oriented economy.

Given the close ties of our business to the global economy as well as
local business environment, | share a cautious outlook regarding the
prospects of our overall operating performance in 2024. As regards our
treasury activities, we will likely continue to use time deposits as our
main investment channel in view of high interest rates still prevailing
amidst a very volatile investment environment. As such | reckon that
our interest income in 2024 would be, by and large, comparable to last
year.

Considering the precarious external environment, | anticipate that our
three business segments in 2024 will likely follow a similar trend as in
2023. Hong Kong's external trade activities will inevitably remain under
pressure, directly affecting the GETS market. While weak demand in
the advanced economies and geopolitical factors will for sure continue
to weigh on the Mainland’s exports, there is some hope that economic
fundamentals and various support measures would help the Mainland
economy continue its recovery from a low base. As a gateway for
goods entering and leaving China, Hong Kong will benefit from such a
recovery. As a result, we do not anticipate a further major downturn of
our GETS business and are cautiously optimistic about its prospect in
2024 if recovery will emerge gradually. We shall remain committed to
providing high-quality services, delivering value to our customers and
in turn allowing us to justify our price increases. For the Government'’s
TSW which has been posing uncertainty to our GETS business, we are
closely monitoring its development. As mentioned in previous reports,
we will take the earliest opportunity to engage in dialogue with the
Government to address mutual concerns. While there is uncertainty
surrounding the TSW, our GETS license had been extended to the
end of 2027. This provides us with the assurance regarding our GETS
business until then. In the meantime, we are actively devising strategies
to navigate the uncertain landscape and seize any opportunities that
may arise such as the call centre services for the TSW (Phases 1 and 2)
mentioned above.

Ik

“ZMFE FRERKERMABBEEFES
BEM BRIEESER_Z2=F > MMITRAKE
= ARTEEELTERNEREESTT » Est
MEBEERBEARFERS KT - EFETE
—SMFHIER > EFHBE2RETNEL - TEE
BZRET > HENESIRIMEGBUARREE
RHEBUHORERNEEBRERRR

ENHFANEBRSRKERE RS HEHIRIZEEE
B AAHRMAR S _NENERBLCERRANR
BEHEEE - MBEBNS - ERNRERRBR
RBE > MARMARS > KMATEGEBUEHE
RERTERERE - At > AL HAZF
“OERNFERABREMSHEEFREE

ZREFREENIIPIRE > AT > HAW=1E
EBNBR T OENBRENERE T =F8
Bl HEENEIINE R ETHF AT HRMIFEZE >
WHEIZEFZEGETSTHIS o ARBELHETEREHNA
MGEBUARZEMNESHREFRAMPIHAO » BEK
EAERZEZRERDEZENAMKHEEBR
BAEE - (FABYELPENME > HEBRNKRE
—EEPZaE o ALt > HMFES > MEEZS HIR
B MMMNGETSEBARE P KRIBTE > L H
ZEINENRIRITEELEEE c RMISEER
NREERERY  AFFPRHEEE > HMERK
MEEMREAER BRABANE—ESO—BEHHK
FIRGETSEBEBMAREM » MG HBERALE
BIER - MU FREM > R EREBUTE
THE > BTHREBYINKEE BEE-FOEFT
THEM » HANGETSHMEBEELEHRE—S-tFF
&> BARMELZATGETSEMFIRM TRE - [
B > HPERIBHIESRE - UBEHABEAREE » I
MUEERI AT BE L IRAEE - flln BB -5 O (E—
T2 58 TS ER) IV ERE B R ORTS ©



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETRHEEE(E)

Prospects (Continued)

SCS will undergo a refreshment phase in 2024 with a view to better
position ourselves strategically in the supply chain market and align
with the evolving needs and expectations of our customers. Upon
completion of the current strategic review by mid-2024, we will have a
clear roadmap to guide our next steps in the business in terms of its
direction, execution and sustainability. Meanwhile we will complete
the projects on hand and pursue immediate opportunities. With this
revitalisation efforts in place, | am hopeful about its prospect going
forward.

Regarding our IDM business, the increasing security threats brought
about by technological advancements have created a growing demand
for our services. Building upon the solid foundation established in
previous years, our IDM business has demonstrated remarkable
results in 2023. This success has generated significant momentum
that positions us well to seize the opportunities that lie ahead of us in
2024. In particular, riding on the phenomenal success of our PKI-based
digital signing solution last year, we will intensify our marketing efforts
to promote our solution not only in the local market but also to global
users. With the distinct feature of our solution that can support remote
issuance of recognized certificates for e-Passport holders, we are able
to offer a unique, trusted digital signing solution for cross-border and
global document exchanges. Together with the promising leads already
on hand for our electronic Know-Your-Customers (“eKYC”) and digital
onboarding solution, | am rather confident that our IDM business will
continue to deliver pleasant performance in 2024. That said though,
there is a caveat about the unpredictable economic situation in 2024
that may affect our IDM operating environment and the business. As
always we will stay agile and responsive to any changes that may arise.

Given the slower-than-expected recovery of the Hong Kong economy,
the outlook of our Smart PoS business in 2024 will continue to be under
stress. Analysts predicted that the Hong Kong retail market would
decline by a high single-digit percentage in the absence of any definitive
signs of rebound. The gradual recovery of inbound tourism and their
purchasing activities appear to show slow progress. Additionally, the
increasing trend of cross-border shopping further impacts the local
retail market. To navigate these headwinds, we would closely monitor
market trends and adjust our strategy accordingly. While striving to
sustain our position and explore innovative ideas, we shall work hard to
find breakthrough opportunities.

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

Al = (&)

HERERASREBEN_ S _NELE—EEH
MEER > UEyFthA B EE MR T ISR EN

TimEERAEBECHNBREPEL KT WF
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETRHEEE(E)

Prospects (Continued)

As for our GETS-related business which largely follows the trend of the
GETS business, again, | am reasonably confident about its outlook in
2024. Despite the challenges posed by the Hong Kong economy, our
solid domain knowledge and customer-centric approach have allowed
us to consistently improve our service delivery in a cost-effective
manner. As a result, our GETS-related services manage to maintain a
relatively stable performance over the years. In particular, with reference
to the success of our partnership with PAOB, we are actively exploring
potential opportunity with other partners. Leveraging our extensive
customer base and our connection to Hong Kong Monetary Authority
("HKMA”")’'s Commercial Data Interchange (“CDI") where customer data,
with the consent of our customers, can be shared with partners, we can
establish close relationships with partners and collaborate on mutually
beneficial initiatives.

On the whole, | maintain a reasonable level of confidence in the outlook
of our Other Services business for 2024.

Dividends

As always, we give priority to the interests of our shareholders. As the
Group has, on the whole, been maintaining a debt-free and healthy cash
reserve, the board of directors of the Company has recommended a
payout of approximately 79% of the Group's total profit of HK$100.6
million in 2023. This would mean a final dividend of HK 6.3 cents per
share. Together with the interim dividend payout of HK 3.7 cents per
share for the first half of 2023, the total dividend for the full-year 2023
will be HK 10.0 cents per share, representing an increase of 8.1% over
the total dividend (including a special dividend) payout of HK 9.25 cents
per share for 2022.
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TEHREE (HA)
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Finally, | would like to take the opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers and my fellow Board members
for their continued support of the Group. My thanks also go to our staff
for their commitment and contributions in ensuring the effectiveness of
the Group’s operations and continued delivery of quality services to our
customers in the past year.

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S,, J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review

E-Commerce Business Review

2023 was certainly a challenging year for our E-Commerce business
due to its close association with the Hong Kong external trading
environment which was significantly affected by the turbulent global
economy. In 2023, the occurrence of high levels of inflation and interest
rates, coupled with geopolitical tensions, created significant uncertainty
and has continued to pose challenges for the world market. Facing the
weakening external demand and, above all, significant tightening of
monetary conditions, Hong Kong's external trading performance was
severely impacted. Although there was some recovery in the second
half of 2023, it should be noted that this was from a low base when
compared to the same period in 2022 when the outbreak of the Russia-
Ukraine dispute aggravated the already gloomy economic conditions
at that time. The GETS market, as a key indicator of Hong Kong's
external trade activities, shrank 9.8% year-on-year which already was a
considerable improvement over the first half-year drop of 16.3%.

Under such a pessimistic operating environment, our E-Commerce
business recorded a decline in revenue, dropping by 4.9% to HK$163.7
million in 2023 from HK$172.2 million in 2022. The segment profit
also experienced a decline, down by 17.5% to HK$50.2 million when
compared to the HK$60.9 million profit in 2022. It is worth noting that
the full-year results, although still somewhat unsatisfactory, showed
some slight improvement when compared to the first half of 2023, as
revenue and segment profit declined by 7.8% and 29.4% respectively
then.

In 2023, the revenue of our GETS business sub-segment within the
E-Commerce business amounted to HK$141.8 million, representing a
decline of 1.9% compared to the HK$144.6 million achieved in 2022.
Despite the overall market shrinkage of 9.8% in the GETS market, we
managed to outperform the market with a relatively smaller decline
of 1.9%. This continued trend aligned with the performance observed
in the first half of the year. Our ability to outperform the overall GETS
market demonstrated our competitive strength in delivering high-quality
services that our customers were willing to pay a premium for. Despite
a drop in the business volume processed, we were able to accomplish
relatively favourable results through our ability to capture value from
our offering which enabled us to achieve a somewhat considerable
increase in the average price of our services. Taking a closer look at our
GETS business in the second half of 2023, despite a market shrinkage
of 3.1%, there was actually a positive growth in revenue, with an
increase of 1.3% compared to the same period in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

As explained in our previous reports, the overall average price increase
in our GETS business was primarily achieved when we renewed
customer contracts. During these renewals, we were able to negotiate
higher prices for our services, contributing to the overall increase.
Additionally, we observed a drop in the business volume of a couple
of key customers due to their own change of business operations.
These customers were previously receiving steep discounts from us
for their bulk business. Their decline in volume which was substantially
more than that of the market had the effect of lessening their impact
on dragging down our overall average price. Furthermore, the positive
trend observed in the first half of 2023 for our Electronic Cargo
Manifest service business within the GETS sub-segment continued
throughout the second half of the year. This was due to the increased
demand and capacity in the air cargo industry following the reopening
of international borders. The surge in revenue, amounting to 24%,
helped to mitigate the overall revenue decline within our GETS business
for 2023.

As regards our SCS sub-segment within the E-Commerce business
segment, its performance in 2023 was disappointing with 20.6% drop
in revenue to HK$21.9 million from HK$27.6 million in 2022. Despite
a marginal increase of approximately 1.6% in revenue from ongoing
maintenance and support services which used to contribute about
half of the total revenue, our project revenue experienced a significant
decline of 41% year-on-year in 2023. The poor performance of this
business sub-segment since first half of the year unfortunately
continued throughout the year. Several projects for which we had
received verbal approval from customers ultimately fell through due
to various issues, including the lapse of their government funding
applications or approvals. In the absence of government funding
support, customers were reluctant to invest solely with their own funds
under the current uncertain economic climate and many decided not
to proceed with the original plans. Hence for new projects, aside from
a major enhancement project confirmed in the first half of the year
for a Warehouse Management System (“WMS") previously developed
for a repeat customer, we only received one additional order from the
same customer for another WMS to be used for their other business
operations. During the year, certain development resources were
deployed to revamp our two core products, WMS and Transportation
Management System (“TMS") with a view to enhancing its stability,
robustness, and functionalities. This effort was undertaken as part of
our strategic review of the business direction and strategy within this
specific business sub-segment, taking into account the current market
situation and technology trends. While our SCS business delivered
disappointing results in 2023, we considered it essential and useful
that we invested time and resources to conduct this strategic business
review in order to identify areas for improvement and strengthen our
market positioning and competitiveness. Through the review, we gained
valuable insights into the challenges and opportunities within the
supply chain industry. It allowed us to assess our current strategies and
make necessary adjustments to better align with market demands.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

In terms of the outlook of our E-Commerce business, barring any
significant unforeseen events that could severely impact the global
economy and Hong Kong's external trade, we are cautiously optimistic
about its performance in 2024. As for our GETS business, which
comprises a significant portion of our E-Commerce business, its
performance will heavily depend on the external environment, which is
still full of uncertainty and continues to weigh on Hong Kong's external
trade. That said, considering the challenging conditions experienced
in 2023, where the market faced exceptional difficulties, we do not
anticipate a significant further decline in the GETS market. Furthermore,
the results of our GETS business in 2023 provided evidence of our
ability to achieve respectable price increases for our services to offset
the decline in business volume and as a result, outperform the market.
We are reasonably hopeful about continuing this positive trend in
2024 and optimistic about the outlook of our GETS business for the
upcoming year.

For the Government's implementation of its TSW, their plan to complete
the final phase of the project by the end of 2027 may face challenges
due to the delay in the TSW (Phase 3) tendering exercise. We would
adopt a wait-and-see approach until they are ready to engage with us
to address issues of mutual concerns upon the full implementation
of the TSW. In the meantime, we will continue to strive for excellence
and offer quality services, including value-added services, to meet the
specific needs of our customers and further strengthen our relationship
with them. Considering our strong presence in the GETS market and
our longstanding relationships with customers spanning almost three
decades, we are reasonably confident that we would be able to make
valuable contributions in the future TSW operational compliance and
efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

As regards our SCS business sub-segment, with our anticipated
completion of the strategic review and implementation of
improvements to reinforce our market position and align with market
demands before mid-2024, we expect a better year for SCS business
sub-segment in terms of its performance in 2024. We anticipate a more
promising year ahead, rebounding from a year of consolidation in 2023.
Indeed, as we were preparing our revamped standard core products,
WMS and TMS, we have already received interests from several
potential customers. We will actively pursue these opportunities and
are optimistic about successfully closing some deals and deploying
our new standard products to them earliest within the first half of
2024. Given our extensive experience and sound domain knowledge
in the supply chain industry, as well as our sizeable customer base in
the GETS market, most of whom are active players in the field, we are
confident in our distinct competitive advantage over other players in
the supply chain solution market. Furthermore, we will actively pursue
opportunities to leverage the synergy between our GETS business and
the supply chain solution market to further enhance our position.

Overall, we maintain a cautiously optimistic view about the prospect of
our E-Commerce business in 2024.

Identity Management (“IDM"”) Business Review

As anticipated in the 2023 Interim Report, our IDM business delivered
exceptional performance in 2023, with a revenue surge of 44.4%
from HK$47.7 million in 2022 to HK$68.9 million in 2023. Even more
impressive was its segment profit which soared to HK$16.2 million,
approximately 3.1 times higher than the profit in 2022. Following the
pleasing results achieved in the first half of 2023, momentum of the
business gained further traction in the second half of the year, with
revenue and segment profit growth surpassing that of the first half.
Indeed, the results achieved in 2023 by our IDM business were truly
remarkable. Despite starting from a lower base in 2022, when the
performance of this business segment was unsatisfactory, the business
experienced a strong rebound, demonstrating its resilience and ability
to overcome challenges. The impressive results of 2023 signified a
significant turnaround for the business after a couple of dismal years.
During those challenging periods when the operation environment was
unfavourable, we strategically allocated resources towards valuable
R&D initiatives which were proven to be fruitful, as we began to see the
positive outcomes materialising in 2023. This explained the significant
improvement of the profit margin for our IDM business in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)

Upon closer examination of the revenue breakdown for our IDM
business in 2023, it was noted the growth was primarily attributed
to our IDM-related projects and solutions. Due to its significant
increase of 61% vis-a-vis a moderate increase of 5% for our PKI-
related projects and solutions, its contribution to the overall revenue
of our IDM business segment increased from approximately 70% in
2022 to 78% in 2023. While related essentially to our recognized CA
business, our PKl-related products and services included the security
token business and associated delivery services amongst others. The
business which primarily was provided for several banks and one of
the disciplinary services of the Government has maintained a steady
level of revenue with modest growth over the years. The key growth
driver of this segment was our IDM-related projects and solutions.
The demand for these services has consistently increased due to the
evolving technological landscape and the rising cybersecurity threats
and risks. As technology continues to advance, the need for robust
identity management solutions becomes even more crucial. Our
eKYC solution for digital onboarding has consistently been our most
popular and sought-after product. However, we have also observed a
gradual increase in interest and adoption of our digital signing solution
over the past few years. Particularly in 2023, our new generation of
the solution, which supported remote application and issuance of
recognized certificates for e-Passport holders to sign legally-binding
documents, experienced significant growth. During the year, apart from
the order for digital signing solution received from a private hospital
which we mentioned in the 2023 Interim Report, we received new
orders for our digital signing solution from two financial institutions
based outside Hong Kong. These institutions utilised our solution for
digital document signing by clients located abroad, with recognized
certificates being remotely issued to them using their e-Passports for
identity authentication. Revenue generated from our digital signing
solution in 2023 was more than 7 times of that in 2022. This growth
indicated a strong rising demand for digital signing for local as well as
cross-border and global business transactions. As businesses have
increasingly embraced digital transformation, the need for secure and
efficient digital signing capabilities becomes paramount.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)
Turning back to our eKYC business, its performance in 2023 was
encouraging as its revenue also grew considerably by 39% compared
to last year. One particular repeat customer worth mentioning was
a major international bank. They placed two sizeable orders with us.
One was for our upgraded eKYC solution which supported a unique
angle-free feature for capturing identity document. The new feature
further improved the user experience and enhanced the accuracy of
our solution. The other order was for our enhanced eKYC solution for
digital onboarding of their clients holding Exit-Entry Permit issued to
Mainlanders for travelling to Hong Kong and Macau. These product
enhancements were the valuable outcomes of our dedicated R&D
efforts during the challenging years when our business was significantly
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Looking ahead in 2024, we will strive to seize the growing opportunities
for our services and products. We have already identified promising
leads that we intend to capitalise on. Notably the SEHK has announced
the implementation of digital signatures supported by recognized
certificates for the electronic submission of prospectuses and
accompanying documents to SEHK and Company Registry for
authorisation and registration with a six-month transition period starting
from 1 January 2024. By 1 July 2024, SEHK will only accept such
documents duly digitally signed and submitted electronically to them.
As the sole commercial recognized CA to issue recognized certificates
for this purpose, we have received significant interest from banks, legal
firms, and audit firms. Our digital signing solution, which offers the
unique advantage of allowing signatories abroad to use certificates
issued based on their e-Passports, has garnered considerable attention.
We plan to collaborate with strategic partners to offer a comprehensive
document management solution with our distinct digital signing
feature incorporated to support the document workflow requirements.
By providing a total solution for document management and remote
digital document signing, we empower our clients to streamline their
processes, enhance security and comply with the applicable rules as
necessary. We are very keen about the opportunities that lie ahead, and
we have a positive outlook for this business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)

At the same time, we will continue to invest in R&D and explore
new opportunities to further advance our IDM-related products
and solutions. While acknowledging the significant uncertainties in
the global economy, we recognise that 2024 will present external
challenges as Hong Kong's financial secretary had said at the beginning
of the year. Barring any unforeseen circumstances, we maintain a
reasonable degree of optimism regarding the prospect of our IDM
business in 2024. Building upon the successes of 2023, we aim to
achieve comparable results and look for continued growth.

Other Services Business Review

The performance of our Other Services, which includes Smart PoS
and related business, as well as GETS-related services, closely aligned
with our predictions outlined in the 2023 Interim Report. In 2023, the
revenue recorded for this business segment amounted to HK$34.0
million, representing a decrease of 12.6% compared to the HK$38.9
million revenue in 2022. Unfortunately, the segment profit for the entire
year of 2023 took a downturn. Despite an initial increase of 8.6% in the
first half of the year, it declined by 7.9% to HK$20.7 million, compared
to the HK$22.4 million profit in 2022. The segment profit dropped was
mainly attributed to the increased cost of sales of Smart PoS devices
ordered by customers. Further, the exceptional performance of our
Smart PoS and related business in the second half of 2022, driven by a
major project, set a high benchmark for comparison. The outstanding
performance in 2022 partly contributed to the decline in segment profit
for the business segment in 2023.

In terms of the breakdown of the HK$34.0 million total revenue
recorded in 2023, our Smart PoS and related business contributed
HK$12.7 million and GETS-related services contributed HK$21.3 million.
There was a significant drop of 28.7% in revenue for our Smart PoS and
related business compared to the HK$17.8 million recorded in 2022. On
the other hand, GETS-related services saw a marginal increase of 1.0%
compared to the HK$21.1 million revenue in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

The decline in revenue for our Smart PoS and related business was
anticipated. In 2023, the recurring maintenance and support revenue
for our Smart PoS devices deployed for our bank customers maintained
largely at same level as in 2022. The decline in revenue for this business
can be attributed to the completion of a major project by the end of
2022. As mentioned in our 2023 Interim Report, although we continued
to receive rental and support service revenue from the project after
its completion, the absence of development revenue had a significant
impact on this business. While there were slight signs of recovery in
the retail market during the second half of 2023, leading to additional
revenue from new orders for Smart PoS devices placed by our two bank
customers, the overall revenue for our Smart PoS and related business
still experienced a notable decline.

Regarding our GETS-related business, its performance for the full year
was in line with our expectations as outlined in the 2023 Interim Report.
Despite being closely tied to our GETS business, which experienced a
decline due to the challenging external environment in 2023, the revenue
for our GETS-related business actually recorded a slight increase, which
was a pleasant surprise. This was primarily attributed to the further
increase in revenue from our own ROCARS and call centre services
offered to C&ED’s ROCARS, both of which rebounded strongly in the
second half of the year with the increased cross-border cargo trucking
activity creating favourable environment for our services. Revenue from
these two services in 2023 increased by about 33% year-on-year. Our
paper-to-electronic conversion service for GETS was another area that
performed well, with revenue recording a marginal increase. Despite
the expected contraction in the market for this business, we were able
to secure business from customers and maintain the popularity of
our services by offering value-adding and customised solutions. As
anticipated, the performance of our partnership with PAOB showed
slight improvement in the second half of 2023. This was in line with a
slightly more favourable lending market and signs of global economic
recovery during that period. As a result, the decline in revenue narrowed
when compared to the first half of the year. Together with the additional
revenue from the call centre service we offered to the Government to
support their TSW (Phases 1 and 2) documents, we were able to deliver
satisfactory results for our GETS-related business in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

Outlook of our Smart PoS business which closely depends on the local
retail market is expected to remain challenging in 2024. The lingering
effects of global economic uncertainties, China’s slow economic
recovery and the underperformance of Hong Kong's equity and real
estate markets all adversely affect the local market. Hong Kong
residents “tripping north” to Shenzhen and travelling overseas have
also become a growing trend that impacts local retail sales. We expect
our sales of Smart PoS devices in 2024 to maintain, at best, a stable
level. Given the challenging market conditions, we recognise the need
to think outside the box and explore innovative approaches to address
some long-standing practical market issues. We are actively seeking
breakthrough solutions that will enable us to navigate the current
cloudy backdrop.

Our GETS-related business, while closely tied to the GETS market, has
consistently outperformed in past years. We are confident in our ability
to continue this trend, considering the various services and initiatives
we have introduced within this business that not only enhance our
GETS-related business performance but also increase our GETS
customers’ loyalty and engagement. Leveraging our extensive GETS
customer base and deep domain knowledge, we have formed strategic
collaborations with partners to offer services that go beyond trade
compliance operations. This includes expanding into areas such as
banking and financial services, addressing the diverse practical needs
of our customers. One successful example was our collaboration
with PAOB. Further with our connection to HKMA’s CDI which they are
actively promoting and enhancing with new features, we are optimistic
about the potential for working with more partners on initiatives that
provide three-way benefits to us, our partners, and our customers.
In collaborating with these partners, we can unlock new avenues for
service offerings and new revenues.

In conclusion, we maintain a cautiously optimistic outlook for our Other
Services business in 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Financial Review

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 grew by
3.0% or HK$7.8 million to HK$266.6 million. In 2023, revenue of our
E-Commerce and Other Services segments dropped, whereas those
of our Identity Management segment increased. The discussion and
analysis of the Group’s business performance during the year are set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Business Review”.

The Group’s operating expenses before depreciation in 2023 were
HK$179.5 million, representing an increase of 5.4% or HK$9.3 million
from HKS$170.2 million in 2022. It was mainly attributable to the
increase of HK$9.6 million to HK$27.8 million on the cost of purchases
as the project revenue with supplies to customers increased in 2023.
Staff costs in 2023 were HKS$120.1 million, higher than 2022 at
HK$118.6 million by 1.3% or HK$1.5 million. The other operating costs
dropped from HK$33.5 million to HK$31.6 million, down by 5.5% or
HK$1.9 million as compared to the last financial year. Depreciation
charges in 2023 increased by 5.3% or HK$0.4 million to HK$8.9 million
as compared to 2022.

The Group's profit from operations in 2023 was HK$78.2 million, a
decrease of HK$1.9 million or 2.4% as compared to 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded other net
income of HK$32.2 million, as compared to other net loss of HK$20.4
million recorded in 2022. The turnaround was mainly attributable to (1)
the absence of fair value loss on investments in financial instruments
in 2023 (loss of HK$32.5 million was recognised in 2022); (2) the
increase in interest income of HK$14.8 million in 2023 from time
deposits of proceeds of financial investments disposed of in 2022 and
the high interest rate environment in 2023; (3) the gain on disposal of
Nanfang amounted to HK$6.8 million since the disposal transaction
was fully completed in 2023 and (4) the reversal of impairment loss
on interest in an associate, OnePort amounted to HKS$4.7 million. In
prior years, the Group’s investment in OnePort was fully impaired due
to the accumulated losses incurred by OnePort. For the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group reversed the provision for impairment
loss of HKS$4.7 million after reviewing its current recoverable amount.
In addition to that, the Group shared a profit of HK$0.7 million from
OnePort in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Financial Review (Continued)

Taxation for 2023 at HK$10.4 million was higher than that of the last
financial year by HK$3.7 million. Included in the taxation for 2023
was HKS$1.9 million enhanced tax deductions for certain research and
development expenditures, compared to HKS1.7 million in 2022.

The Group’s after tax profit for 2023 was HK$100.6 million, up by
HK$48.3 million or 92.3% as compared to 2022.

Given no dilution of shares during the year, our basic and diluted
earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 were the
same at HK 12.7 cents, higher than that for 2022 at HK 6.6 cents by HK
6.1 cents.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK 6.3 cents per share
for 2023 (2022: final dividend and special dividend of HK 4.67 cents per
share and HK 2.75 cents per share respectively). The proposed final
dividend, together with the interim dividend of HK 3.7 cents per share
(2022: HK 1.83 cents per share) paid on 6 October 2023 amounted
to HK 10.0 cents per share for 2023. The total amount of interim and
proposed final dividends for 2023 represents a payment of about
79% of the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company.

The proposed final dividend will be submitted to shareholders for
approval at the annual general meeting on 24 May 2024. If approved,
the final dividend will be paid to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 31 May 2024, on or about
14 June 2024.

The Board reminds shareholders that the Company’s dividend policy
enunciated at the time of our IPO in 2005 is that it will pay no less
than 60% of its distributable profit as dividend. The Group has been
giving out dividend to our shareholders as much as possible out of
our distributable profits provided that it is allowed by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and also for the sake of prudency, it would
enable us to have reserve against unforeseeable risk as well as
potential future business expansion or investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Financial Review (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Position

As at 31 December 2023 the Group had total cash and bank deposits
of HK$444.7 million (2022: HK$436.5 million). During 2023, the Group
did not invest in any financial instruments. Before any investment or
business opportunities were identified, the cash surplus reserves were
parked in bank deposits as part of our treasury operations to improve
the yield of the Group'’s cash surpluses.

Total assets and net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$545.6 million (2022: HK$532.6 million) and HK$376.2
million (2022: HK$364.4 million) respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no borrowings (2022: Nil).

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other significant
financial investment as at 31 December 2023.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions or disposals in relations to subsidiaries
and associates during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Capital and Reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the capital and reserves attributable to
shareholders was HK$376.2 million (2022: HK$364.4 million), an
increase of HK$11.8 million from the end of 2022.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has obtained two bank guarantees
totaling HK$2.2 million (2022: two bank guarantees of HK$2.2 million)
issued to the Government for the due performance by the Group
pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government. The bank
guarantees are secured by a charge over deposits totaling HK$2.2
million (2022: HK$2.2 million). Other than the foregoing, the Group did
not have any other charges on its assets.

Capital Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2023 not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to HK$3.2 million
(2022: HK$1.9 million), mainly in respect of the purchase of platform
software and computer equipment for the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWE DN (E)

Financial Review (Continued)

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 242 staff (2022: 255),
of which 204 are in Hong Kong and 38 in Guangzhou. The related staff
costs for the year came to HK$120.1 million (2022: HK$118.6 million).
The Group’s remuneration policy is that all employees are rewarded
on the basis of market levels. In addition to salaries, the Group
provides staff benefits including medical insurance and contribution
to staff's mandatory provident fund. To motivate and reward staff,
the Group has various commission, incentive and bonus schemes to
drive performance and growth. The Company operates a share option
scheme to reward the performance of staff at senior vice president
grade and above.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges

As at 31 December 2023, other than its investments in the PRC and
Macau incorporated entities, and cash and bank deposits denominated
in US dollars, the Group had no foreign exchange exposure and related
hedges.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s accounting policies and
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023. It also had independent discussions with the internal auditor and
the external auditor, KPMG, without the presence of the Management.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERGEREEAE(E)

Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, s.B.S., J.P., aged 81, was appointed as a Director
of the Company on 19 September 2000. He is also our Chairman. He
holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Electrical Engineering from the Imperial
College, London, the United Kingdom (“UK") and a Doctorate from
Brown University, the United States (“US”). Dr. LEE was appointed as
the Chairman of TAL Group in 2012, which currently employs about
20,000 employees. He joined Textile Alliance Limited in Hong Kong in
1973 and was appointed as the Managing Director (title changed to
Chief Executive since 2010) of TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL") in 1983.
He was a Director of The Link Management Limited (now known as
“Link Asset Management Limited”), a wholly-owned subsidiary and
the Manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust (listed on the Main
Board of SEHK with stock code: 823). He has over 40 years’ experience
in the textile and garment industry. Dr. LEE is actively involved in a
number of trade organisations and public services in Hong Kong. He
is the Honorary Chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong Limited and
the Hong Kong Garment Manufacturers Association. In addition, he is
currently holding the position of the Advisor, Chairman Emeritus of the
Hong Kong Research Institute of Textiles and Apparel Limited (HKRITA)
and the Chairman of the Committee of Overseers of Lee Woo Sing
College of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE was awarded
the Honorary Fellowship of the Textile Institute in 2019 in Manchester,
UK. He was named in the Queen’s Birthday Honours list as an Officer
of the British Empire in 1996. He was appointed as Justice of Peace
(“J.P.”) in 1997 and was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (“S.B.S.”) at
the Fourth Anniversary of the Establishment of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region ("HKSAR”) in 2001.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung, aged 64, was first appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in March 2013 and
subsequently took over the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) position in
July 2015.

Before joining the Company, Mr. TSE had worked mostly in the financial
industry covering the Asia Pacific region. He began at State Street
in 1993 to develop and lead its investment servicing business in the
region and completed his career there as an advisor till early 2015.
Before State Street, he had worked for Standard Chartered, Ogilvy &
Mather (now known as “Ogilvy”), Baring Securities and the Hong Kong
Government.
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Mr. TSE has served on many committees and boards. He now serves
on the Hang Seng Index Advisory Committee, Pan Asian e-Commerce
Alliance Steering Committee, and Lee Woo Sing College Board of
Overseers of The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. TSE received the CW Chu Scholarship to study in the US and
obtained his BA degree from Lawrence University. He got his MBA
degree and MA degree (Buddhist Studies) from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and also got the Government's sponsorship to obtain his
MPA degree from The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew, aged 54, was appointed as a Director
and acting Deputy CEO (“DCEQ”) of the Company on 15 November
2011. He was the DCEO of the Company and re-designated to be the
Chief Technology Officer of the Company on 1 January 2017. He is
also a Director of the Company’s various subsidiaries. Mr. CHENG
holds a Master of Commerce degree in Information Systems from
the University of New South Wales, a Master of Engineering degree
from the University of Sydney, a Bachelor of Engineering degree with
Honours in Electrical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Sydney. Mr. CHENG
has 31 years’ experience in IT-related business, covering internet
security, domestic and international supply chain, logistics and finance.
He was a specialist in the consultancy on the setting up of a PKI by
the Hong Kong Government and is currently a member of the Expert
Review Panel of Hong Kong R&D Centre for Logistics and Supply Chain
Management Enabling Technologies (now known as “Logistics and
Supply Chain MultiTech R&D Centre”).
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Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, aged 67, was appointed as a Director of the
Company on 2 September 2008. She joined the Company in 1992. She
is currently the Chief Operations Officer of the Company and is also
a Director of the Company'’s various subsidiaries and associates. Ms.
CHUNG graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor
of Science degree and a Master of Science degree in Engineering. Prior
to joining the Company, Ms. CHUNG worked in the then Government
of Hong Kong for over 11 years providing management consultancy
services to government bureaux and departments. Since joining the
Company in 1992, she has gained over 31 years of solid and diversified
experience in the management of various aspects of e-commerce
business including the Company’s core business in Government
Electronic Trading Services and supply chain solutions for the business
community in Hong Kong. Under her leadership, the Company stands
consistently and firmly as the dominant player in the Government
Electronic Trading Services market under the consecutive licenses
granted by the Hong Kong Government.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman, aged 56, was appointed as a Director of the Company
on 29 October 2012. Dr. LEE Delman holds a Doctorate from the
University of Oxford and a Bachelor’'s degree in Electrical & Electronics
Engineering from the Imperial College London. He is the Vice Chairman
of TAL. Dr. LEE Delman joined TAL in 2000. He was appointed as a
member of the TAL Group’s Executive Committee in 2006 and became
President and Chief Technology Officer in 2010. He is responsible
for driving TAL's long-term strategy in operations, technology and
value-added services to customers. He looks after information
technology (“IT") and supply chain projects - from IT infrastructure
to logistics management throughout the entire organisation. He is
the architect behind TAL's current enterprise resource planning (ERP)
system. He is also responsible for global operations initiatives such
as standardisation of work methods, cultivation of a continuous
improvement organisation and corporate social responsibility.
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Dr. LEE Delman has a strong background in research. Prior to joining
TAL, he was a researcher at UK based Sharp Laboratories of Europe for
three years. There, he was responsible for the commercial application
of modern computer vision techniques to stereo photography and
stereoscopic displays. He has worked as a research fellow at University
of Pennsylvania in the US and University of Leeds in the UK in various
aspects of imaging.

Dr. LEE Delman has been appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of the Risk Committee commencing from
21 March 2017, a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Audit Committee commencing from 1 December 2017, the Chairman
of the Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee from 26
November 2020 of The Bank of East Asia, Limited (listed on the Main
Board of SEHK with stock code: 23). He joined the board of Dairy Farm
International Holdings Ltd (now known as “DFI Retail Group Holdings
Limited”, a standard listing on the London Stock Exchange as its
primary listing with stock code: DFIB, and secondary listings in Bermuda
Stock Exchange with stock code: 133 and Singapore Exchange with
SGX Symbol: D01 respectively) on 9 May 2018 and retired with effect
from 30 November 2021.

Mr. YING Tze Man, aged 68, was appointed as a Director of the Company
on 26 June 2012. He was a Director of the Company during the
period from 16 September 1996 to 9 May 2008. Mr. YING retired from
COSCO-HIT Terminals (Hong Kong) Limited (“CHT”) as the Managing
Director, Asia Container Terminals Limited as the Executive Director
and the Hutchison Port Holdings Trust (“HPH Trust”), the world’s first
publicly traded container port business trust (listed on the Main Board
of Singapore Exchange with SGX Symbol: P7VU for SGD and NS8U
for USD shares respectively) as a member of the HPH Trust Exco, a
committee of executives that determines the strategy for HPH Trust,
on 30 April 2016. Mr. YING has over 32 years’ experience in the finance
and logistics sector. Prior to joining CHT, he had held various executive
positions at Hutchison Port Holdings Limited (“HPH"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of HPH Trust. He was the Executive Director of Hongkong
International Terminals Limited (“HIT"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
HPH Trust, and the Finance Director of South China Division of HPH. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom. He was a member of the Port
Development Advisory Group of the HKSAR.
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Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent, aged 56, was appointed as a Director
of the Company on 11 May 2018. He has 29 years of experience in
the maritime industry. He started his career in HIT, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of HPH Trust (listed on the Main Board of Singapore
Exchange with SGX Symbol: P7VU for SGD and NS8U for USD shares
respectively), where he held a number of business development,
commercial and management positions. Since 2012, Mr. YUEN has
been a member of the HPH Trust Exco. As the Managing Director of
Port Services and Logistics Division of HPHT Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of HPH Trust, Mr. YUEN leads both Hutchison Logistics
(HK) and Asia Port Services that provides seamless total supply chain
solution across sea, air and land networks from container depot,
warehousing and distribution to freight handling, trucking and feeder
service. Mr. YUEN has a Bachelor of Science degree in Geology and
Geophysics from the University of Hawaii at Manoa and holds a Master
of Science degree in Environmental Engineering from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. He is a chartered fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert, aged 62, was appointed as a Director of the Company
on 21 October 2002. Mr. CHAK is currently an Executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of SF REIT Asset Management Limited (“SF
REIT Manager”), the manager of SF Real Estate Investment Trust (listed
on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code: 2191) and is also one of
the Responsible Officers of SF REIT Manager.

Mr. CHAK joined Link Asset Management Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary and the Manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust (listed
on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code: 823) in June 2010 and was
its Director of Finance when he left in December 2018. Prior to that, he
was an Executive Director of CSI Properties Limited (listed on the Main
Board of SEHK with stock code: 497) from April 2007 to May 2010.
He also held various senior management positions at Pacific Century
Group between October 1999 and February 2007 and was an Executive
Director of Pacific Century Premium Developments Limited (listed
on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code: 432) from May 2004 to
February 2007.

Mr. CHAK began his career with KPMG in Hong Kong and worked as
an investment banker between 1990 and 1999. He holds a Master of
Business Administration degree and a Bachelor of Science degree
in Mechanical Engineering from University of Wales (now known as
“Cardiff University”).
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Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, aged 81, was appointed as a Director of the
Company on 1 September 2009. He was the Non-executive Chairman
of the Board of Directors from 1998 to 2002. Mr. CHAU graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1967. He served in the Hong
Kong Government from 1967 to 2002. Between 1988 and 2002, Mr.
CHAU served in a number of principal official positions in the Hong
Kong Government, including Secretary for Commerce and Industry,
Secretary for Broadcasting, Culture and Sport, and Secretary for Health
and Welfare. Following his departure from the Hong Kong Government,
Mr. CHAU was an Independent Non-executive Director of SUM Holdings
Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock code: 880) from
January 2008 to 15 June 2022. He has been appointed by Wharf Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK
with stock code: 1997) as an Independent Non-executive Director with
effect from 1 January 2021. Mr. CHAU was awarded the Gold Bauhinia
Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2002.

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, aged 62, was appointed as a Director of the
Company on 9 February 2015. She has over 31 years of experience in
financial management and planning. Ms. CHAN joined The Dairy Farm
Company, Limited on 16 April 2016 as North Asia Food Finance Director
and left her job as Project Lead-China Expansion (Convenience) on 17
October 2018. The Dairy Farm Company, Limited is a member of Dairy
Farm International Holdings Limited (now known as “DFI Retail Group
Holdings Limited”, a standard listing on the London Stock Exchange
as its primary listing with stock code: DFIB, and secondary listings
in Bermuda Stock Exchange with stock code: 133 and Singapore
Exchange with SGX Symbol: D01 respectively). Before joining the Dairy
Farm Group, Ms. CHAN was the Chief Financial Officer, China Beverage
and Senior Region Financial Planning & Analysis Director, China
Region of PepsiCo Inc. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange with
stock code: PEP) in Shanghai. During her employment with PepsiCo
Inc., she had also worked in Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hong Kong.
Prior to joining PepsiCo Inc., Ms. CHAN had worked in Hong Kong for
ExxonMobil Chemical Limited, a subsidiary of Exxon Mobil Corp (listed
on the New York Stock Exchange with stock code: XOM) and Nestlé
S.A. (listed on SIX Swiss Exchange with stock code: NESN). Ms. CHAN
graduated from University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1983 with a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economic and Administrative & Financial
Studies and obtained a Master of Business Administration degree in
Marketing from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1985.
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Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy, aged 74, was appointed as a Director
of the Company on 11 May 2007. He has over 29 years of experience
in financial advisory, taxation and management. He was a partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers and retired in June 2005. In October 2005,
he joined a professional consulting firm, Russell Bedford Hong Kong
Limited (now known as “Russell Bedford Hong Kong”), as Director-
Tax & Business Advisory. Mr. CHUNG is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(“ACCA"). He was the President of the Hong Kong branch of ACCA for
the year 2005/06. With effect from 4 October 2022, Mr. CHUNG has
been re-designated from an Independent Non-executive Director to a
Non-executive Director of Lee Kee Holdings Limited (listed on the Main
Board of SEHK with stock code: 637) and was appointed as a member
of its Corporate Governance Committee.

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S,, J.P,, FCILT, aged 64, holds a Bachelor of
Science degree from Babson College in the United States of America
and is the Managing Director of Milo's Knitwear (International) Limited.

Mr. LIN was an Independent Non-executive Director of Top Form
International Limited (listed on the Main Board of SEHK with stock
code: 333) from May 2006 to 30 November 2023. He also served as the
Chairman of its Compensation Committee and a member of both its
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. LIN was the Chairman of the Hong Kong Productivity Council
from 6 August 2016 to 5 August 2022. He is currently the Chairman
of the Hong Kong Shippers’ Council and the Honorary Chairman of
the Textile Council of Hong Kong, a member of the HKSAR'’s Logistics
Development Council, Maritime and Port Board, Trade and Industry
Advisory Board and InnoHK Steering Committee, an Honorary Trade
Advisor of Ministry of Commerce of Thailand, and an Honorary Consul
of the Slovak Republic to Hong Kong and Macao. He had been the
Chairman of the Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation and of
the Board of Governors of the Prince Philip Dental Hospital.
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During Mr. LIN’s term of office as the Chairman of the Hong Kong
Productivity Council, he had been instrumental in promoting digital and
cyber security technologies, application of industry 4.0 technologies
and greening the supply chain; leveraging government funding
for industry upgrade, and fostering strategic collaboration with
international research and study powerhouses.

As the Chairman of the Hong Kong Shippers Council, Mr. LIN has
been pivotal in providing updated and timely market information for
manufacturers, logistic providers and the Hong Kong Government,
thereby enabling them to keep abreast of the ever-changing landscape
in the global trade. He has also been leading the initiative to enhance
the education and training to industry participants related to the
logistics 4.0 study. Due to entangling geopolitics that complicates the
supply chain, Mr. LIN has been actively promoting and bringing Hong
Kong companies to Asian countries such as Thailand, Vietham and
Indonesia so as to strengthen their supply chain capabilities and remain
competitive and versatile.

Senior Management

- Chief Executive Officer
— Chief Technology Officer
— Chief Operations Officer
- Chief Financial Officer

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan

Ms. PANG Kit Fong

Mr. TSE, Mr. CHENG and Ms. CHUNG are also Directors of the
Company. Their biographical details have already been set out above
under the sub-heading “Directors”.

The biographical details of Ms. PANG are set out as follows:

Ms. PANG Kit Fong, aged 41, has been appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company with effect from 1 January 2023. Ms. PANG
joined the Company in 2009. Prior to that, Ms. PANG worked in
PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd. for audit services. She holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration degree in Professional Accountancy from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. PANG is a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has over 18 years of
experience in accounting, auditing and financial management.
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Compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code")

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance and the Board believes that good corporate
governance is fundamental to effective and proper management
of the Company in the interests of our stakeholders. The
Company has applied the principles of good corporate
governance, and made every effort to ensure full compliance with
the code provisions (“Code Provisions”) in Part 2 of the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on SEHK (“Listing Rules”). The Company confirms that
we had complied with all applicable Code Provisions during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules to govern our Directors’ dealings in the
Company'’s securities. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors
have confirmed compliance with the required standard set out
in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transaction during 2023.

Our Purpose and Vision

With a mission “to empower our clients with business enabled
e-solutions for their commercial and financial activities”, we
develop, market and support smart IT solutions for our clients
with the purpose of creating opportunities in digital efficiency
for businesses and people. We promise to maximise digital
efficiency for our customers.

Encompassing our purposes and what we stand for, our vision
is “to promote a prosperous Hong Kong where companies and
people can readily achieve and enjoy the benefits of digital
efficiency.”
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TXERBREE(E)

(4) Our Values
(4) RPN EERNMEE

Guiding us in everything we do, our values are set out below:
SIERM—S—THROEESEUTSE !

Trust We work diligently to uphold our reputation for helping organisations maximise their digital
efficiency and successfully get more value from technology.

AEKE BANBEEERREM—ESNTBMIGB ARG EFIBERANBEEN G > WRIHERIRER Lk
BERAER -

Transparency We are open and direct in the way we communicate and conduct our business. We encourage
information sharing across the Company. We own up to our mistakes, work to correct them and
learn from them.

AEEH BMSERERERNERNEAHLE - RABIKE > TEIRIE > LRERFEE

Teamwork We are committed to close teamwork, among ourselves, with our business partners and customers,
with regulators and others we work with.

1B B A BMERERSE  URRARKET - BESERA TR UEEERE > 2 IEENAE

Thoughtfulness

Rif& o

We give our team members the resources and support to understand the pain points of our
customers and offer practical solutions to overcome them. We cultivate empathy and care for each
other, our customers, and all stakeholders whose lives we touch.

HEBEIE BARAESRETEERNZIE  UTHRELEXEMMEMT > RMBHERNRRSE - HM
BEREC > GHERE > LREZFNFSEMSE

Technology Our role is to maximise digital efficiency with a science-based approach that involves measuring
performance and constantly seeking improvement. We will continue to explore innovative new
technology that can help raise digital efficiency in Hong Kong.

BRAX BIUBRABENSZ » BN > TEISRKRESTH > RO BEHIBUE - KMGEEHH
KRR - EMABRSEENE °

Timely We respect people’s time. From developing effective e-solutions to responding swiftly to customer
requests, we seek to make best use of time. Working with a sense of timeliness helps us meet
deadlines and keeps us ahead of technological change.

R B 3P 3 KEAMERANER  ALENEENEERMARBELAN—KRA - REBRBEREFLEES
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(5) Our Culture

Our corporate values shape our organisational culture. Evolved
from our values, our culture describes the behaviours and
practices in our work environment and is used to promote our
business efforts and define ourselves as a company. We strive
to promote healthy cultures and to focus on helping employees
feel supported, valued and motivated. By generating feelings
of community and positivity in the workplace, we aim to boost
productivity, reduce turnover and improve morale.

Our culture is described as below:

Tradelink is a business dedicated to helping organisations
maximise digital efficiency.

Our work on the forefront of technology offers tremendous
potential advantages to business organisations.

Yet the challenges of rapidly-evolving technology can
create uncertainty and hesitation in those who can benefit
from it.

It is therefore essential that Tradelink is seen to be
trustworthy by all our stakeholders.

To achieve this, we nourish a culture in which integrity is
our highest value. We encourage, recognise and reward
positive contributions. And we ensure factors that can
undermine trust are readily identified, corrected and
prevented.

Tradelink is committed to ethical business practices, which
is upheld by our corporate policies and procedures.

As a public body we aim to be as transparent as possible in
our affairs and communications.

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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TXERBREE(E)

(5)

(6)

Our Culture (Continued)

We promote impartiality in our decision-making and seek
to objectively work in our customers’ best interests. To
achieve that we embed processes into our customer
relationships designed to measure, review and optimise the
services and solutions we provide.

Over the decades we have worked hard to earn our
reputation for trustworthiness. We nourish and instill our
culture by promoting and policing our six core values.

The Board has reviewed the statement of corporate culture,
purpose, values and strategy as disclosed above.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Group is committed to the continuous enhancement of risk
management framework, capabilities and culture across the
Group to strengthen our ability in achieving business objectives.
Appropriate risk management activities are embedded into the
business planning, project management, contract management,
business operations and organisational procedures. The Group
is willing to take reasonable and manageable risks in pursuit
of our strategic business objectives. The reasonableness and
manageability vary among our business segments.

Once risks, including those which are related to environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”), have been identified, recorded,
analysed, and the agreed treatments have been implemented,
an appropriate monitoring and reporting regime will be
performed to provide assurance that the implemented treatment
is effective and helps to control the risk. Appropriate risk
treatments are embedded into daily operations. The risk will
be continuously monitored depending on the subsequent risk
rating and the strength of controls to treat the risks. All staff
have the responsibility for the continuous monitoring of risks
and operation of controls within their area of responsibility. In
particular, close attention would be paid to those risk areas with
a strong reliance on internal controls and processes to bring the
risk to an acceptable level.
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(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls

(Continued)

The Company believes that effective communication and
consultation is essential throughout the risk management
process, as we enhance the understanding of risk identification,
analysis and evaluation among process owners and risk
management team in the Group. Individual departments of the
Group review at least monthly and update their own risk logs.
The responsible persons of the departments update and report
the risk logs to the Risk Manager and the responsible Executive
Director (the “Responsible ED") of the Company on a regular
basis. The Responsible ED then presents the consolidated risk
logs to Senior Management for identification and assessment at
management and Group levels. Senior Management updates the
Board on any significant risks and progress via monthly reports
or in Board meetings.

The Board recognises the need for sound and effective risk
management and internal controls systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems. With the support of
Senior Management and Audit Committee, the Board reviews
annually the effectiveness of the systems which cover different
areas, including without limitation, the financial, operational
and compliance controls for the financial year under review in
compliance with the Code Provisions D.2.1. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve the Group’s business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The risk management system framework adopted by the Group
was designed by reference to the principles and process outlined
in the international standard of 1ISO31000. Appropriate risk
management activities are embedded into business planning,
project management, contract management, business operations
and organisational procedures. The six steps involved in the risk
management process are:

—_

Establish the scope, context and criteria

Risk assessment (risk identification, risk analysis, risk
evaluation)

Risk treatment

Monitoring and review

Recording and reporting

Communication and consultation

N

ook w

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TXERBREE(E)

(6) FE\FzE Kk ABPELE ()

EREEE BB BRKERENREEEN
BFaiAKEEEEBRFRE KRR - 2
W R PR IR > EIEREREEEREF
TR ER - AEBBHPIED S A B BR
HERB - SBPIREAEHRELAEER
EBRARGERTER(AERTES) BN
NERERHR  BERTEFHERSGESE
BMEHZEXSREEAE  UETEEERAE
EEEEHRNE - BREEASEBEA
ERINEEEERNEFTEREEFNERA
BN IER o

EEgRARERRRE2ENNAREERA
MEZRG > UMRERRNRENEEDE
E- EFFNTHENFAEERAREERAEE
ERGNEREE - EEREEABRERE
BRI T  EFESFERTRETREEN
RO 0 SR BRI B RE R BE E B
B EERSREELETTRIMEXSED.2.1
& - ZERGETBEEMIEEMRREEREE
EEFZEFENAR > YEAREMFEEEKRDN
RERMIIEREH SEMIFEHIRSE o

AEBFAFRANAKEERARERLZR
ISO31000[E FRAZ % R B9 /R B R 72 o 5%
o BENERERTHNECMAEERE 18
HERE 6088 ¥EKEENEARER - B
MEEEFRSRNANESES

—_

FEIEE - BRIRE

R TG (RERHAR ~ BRI ~ BT
(=)

[\ R TR

BRI

SCER R FEER

byl

N

ook w



TECCHFER-BESBETESERAA

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TXERBREE(E)

(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls (6) MirEERARBERE (&)
(Continued)
Our risk management process and risk management framework EANEREERFREKREEESRTUER
can be represented diagrammatically as follows: RBRAT -
Risk Management Process 1S031000:2018 [\ B & 2 72 £1S031000:2018

Scope, Context,
Criteria
gE - Fr - BE

N
Risk Assessment
- R
s Risk Identification -
5 [ B 8k B 2
SE S
e %E Risk Analysis o3 ﬁ
g & BB 5 T e
= Risk Evaluation 'g
g BRRETE =
§ \\ J
. )
— Risk Treatment —
| Bk BE B
Y,
Recording & Reporting
R0 8% I FE 3R
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TEERAREE (F)

(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls

(Continued)

Risk Management Framework

Evaluate the effectiveness of
the risk management system

The Board and Audit Committee
SERREBAKNRM
EFeNBE%EEY

A

Oversee the implementation of
the risk management system

Senior Management
EERBEERGNER
SREEAB

A

Risk review, assessment, analysis
and reporting

Responsible persons of Individual Departments,

Risk Manager and Responsible ED
EBESL - FE - 2THER
EREFEEA  EAREEAREBERTES

A

Risk identification, recording and monitoring
Individual Departments
EREER - TTEAEER
NS

As an on-going process, the Company has assessed its internal
control system with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) internal
control framework 2013, specifically in relation to the five
elements of: control environment, risk assessment, control

activities, communication and monitoring.

(6) FE\FzE Kk ABPELE ()

B E IR AE LR

Independent Assurance
Internal Auditor and External Auditors
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AARTIE2H The Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission
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(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls (6) HBEIERAEBEEEE (&)

(Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal control
systems, the Company’s internal auditor (the “Internal Auditor”)
has been designated by Audit Committee to conduct reviews
and audit tests to verify the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems in place. A review report was
presented to Audit Committee in 2023. Audit Committee then,
based on the said report, formed the opinion on the effectiveness
of Tradelink’s risk management and internal control systems
and reported to the Board accordingly. The Company'’s external
auditors (the “External Auditors”) would obtain an understanding
of internal control relevant to their audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances though not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The
External Auditors would communicate with Audit Committee
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that they identify during the course
of their audit. If necessary, remedial actions will be taken timely
by the Company.

To better address the risk and exposure associated with the
COVID-19 pandemic to the Company, an emergency response
team was established since early February 2020 to come up
with a viable Business Continuity Plan (“BCP”) and policies. The
objective was to make sure risks associated with the COVID-19 to
the Company could be properly mitigated and the well-being of all
staff could also be taken care of.

The said emergency response team monitored the COVID-19
situation continuously and made necessary adjustments to
the BCP and policies from time to time. Various measures and
policies were enacted. These included providing protective
measures to staff, regular body temperature checks, policies
for quarantine and social distancing as well as work from home
arrangement.
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(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls

(Continued)

The COVID-19 restrictions in Hong Kong were formally ended on
February 2023. While all work arrangements for the Company
were back to normal, the Company’s BCP was switched to
standby mode to monitor the situation continuously. Several staff
contracted COVID-19 throughout the year and work-from-home
arrangements were given to the affected to reduce the spread of
the virus. The Company also maintained some stocks of surgical
masks and test kits as a preventive measure.

During the year, the Internal Auditor had conducted reviews of
Tradelink’s risk management and internal control systems. In
particular, the Internal Auditor had conducted the followings:

A gap analysis and evaluation of effectiveness of risk
management system by using ISO31000:2018 as a basis
for comparison;

A COSO entity level control gap analysis to ascertain if
the Company has established entity level controls that are
consistent with the key concepts of the control framework
recommended by COSO - ‘Internal Control - Integrated
Framework’; and

Audit tests to verify the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls in place.

The Company has upgraded the Whistleblowing Procedures to
a more comprehensive Whistleblowing Policy, which expands
the relevant complainants who may file a complaint or report
under the policy to include not only employees and officers of the
Company but also external parties who deal with the Company
(e.g. customers, suppliers, contractors etc.). Such complainants
are encouraged to raise concerns, in confidence, with Audit
Committee about possible improprieties and misconducts
pertaining to the Company. During the financial year under review,
no whistleblowing reports were received.

The Whistleblowing Policy is under the Company’s website
heading “Investors/Corporate governance/Corporate governance
policy” section.
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(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls (6) HBEIERAEBEEEE (&)

(Continued)

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions relating to
risk management and internal control during the year. Based on
the confirmation from Senior Management and the reviews from
Internal Auditor and Audit Committee, the Board has reviewed the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
considers the same to be adequate and effective for the reporting
year. There were no significant control failings, weakness or
significant areas of concern identified during 2023.

The Board also considers the resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions as well
as those relating to the Group’s ESG performance and reporting
are adequate.

The Group handles and disseminates inside information in
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). The Board,
with the recommendation of Senior Management, would identify
and determine whether certain information would need to be
disclosed as inside information under the Listing Rules and the
SFO. Once certain information has been determined as inside
information, it would be disclosed as soon as practicable by way
of announcements.

The Company has in place separate internal policies to govern
dealings in the Company’s securities by the Directors, general
staff and directors and staff of the Company’s subsidiaries who
are likely to possess inside information in relation to the Group
or its securities because of such office and employment (the
“Relevant Employees”) with terms no less exacting than the
Model Code. All employees and Directors are not allowed to deal
in the securities of the Company when they possess unpublished
inside information. Pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s
securities is mandatory for the Directors and those staff who are
likely to be in constant exposure to inside information.
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(6) Risk Management and Internal Controls

(Continued)

During the reporting year, the Directors and Relevant Employees,
as identified by Senior Management, were notified of the
periods when dealings in the securities of the Company were
prohibited. All inside information was disclosed timely by way
of announcements. Before the disclosure of inside information
by announcements, it was kept confidential and would only
be disclosed to, and handled by, those employees who had a
genuine need to know. Documents containing inside information
were protected by passwords.

The Company has also promulgated an Anti-Corruption Policy in
order to promote and strengthen anti-corruption initiatives. The
Anti-Corruption Policy is based on the recommendations in the
SEHK’s Corporate Governance Guide for Boards and Directors
(the “CG Guide”) and further taking into consideration the view
and advice of the Independent Commission Against Corruption
of Hong Kong (“ICAC”). The Anti-Corruption Policy applies to
Directors and employees at all level, as well as external parties
dealing with Tradelink and those acting in an agency or fiduciary
capacity on behalf of Tradelink (e.g. agents, consultants and
contractors).

The Anti-Corruption Policy is under the Company’s website
heading “Investors/Corporate governance/Corporate governance
policy” section.

Every employee must abide by the Code of Ethics and Conduct
and the Anti-Corruption Policy of the Group and is expected
to achieve the highest ethical and professional standards of
behavior.
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(7) Board of Directors

(®

Board Composition

During the reporting year, (i) Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P.
retired as an Independent Non-executive Director; and (ii)
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director upon election
by shareholders at the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of
the Company held on 12 May 2023 (“2023 AGM”"), both of
which took effect from the conclusion of the 2023 AGM.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company was led by a Board
comprising three Executive Directors, four Non-executive
Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, and five
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Independent
Non-executive Directors represent at least one-third of the
Board as required by the Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the members of the
Board are:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman*

Mr. YING Tze Man

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT*

(* Dr. LEE Delman is a nephew of Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee,
S.B.S., J.P. while Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT is
a friend of Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.)
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£58 > mMERLE > G.B.S., J.P., FCILT
AZThiEEL > SB.S, JP.AAER)
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(®

Board Composition (Continued)

The Board oversees the overall management and
operations of the Company. Major responsibilities include
determining the Company’s overall business, financial
and technical strategies, setting key performance
targets, approving budgets and major expenditures, and
supervising the performance of management with the
objective of enhancing shareholder value. Matters not
specifically reserved to the Board and necessary for the
daily operations of the Company are delegated to Senior
Management under the supervision of respective Directors
and the five committees of the Board.

The diversity profile of the Board is set out in the following
charts:

(7) EEE2(#@)

0]

Gender and Age Group
MBI & SR 48 Bl
12
10
8
Male
=
6
4
2
Female
ZiE
0
Gender

izl

ExedAR (@
EEGEEEFEAARNEREENE
B HIZEWBEOENTEAQBENE
RERTS « MBS RIMTERES  RERME
XERFER HMEMBEEETER
X UNEEEEENRE > EERS
RREE - AEIFFEERXHESTTRIE
BEMERFHEEEMEBROENE
B UEENSHREEABEHMBAES
NREEGETHEZESEEE TEE -

BEFRFEUBRESEUTER !

70 or above
7T0BRER A £

60-69
60Z695%

50-59
50E595%

Age Group
FEe/E R
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued) (7) EEE#@)
(i) Board Composition (Continued) (i) Es=g4AE@E

Geography of Educational/Professional Background

HE/ BEERMESM

Hong Kong
B

North America

1EEM

Australia
SEM

United Kingdom
FE

Others
Hith

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%  100%

Work Profile
TERRER
Business and Industry
REEITE
Government
T

Professional (e.g. legal, accounting, IT, investment,
asset management and maritime industry)

5 (0 OXRR - g5t BB RE

BEEEREETE)
Others
Efth
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%
The biographical information of Directors is set out in the EEREERE N AERF28EEFIS
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 28 to BIEENEREEASI—® o

35 of this Annual Report.
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Changes of Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Information
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

There have been no changes in the information of Directors
and Chief Executive of the Company since publication of
the 2023 Interim Report up to this Annual Report.

Appointment, Rotational Retirement and Re-election

All Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) were appointed for a period of three
years and all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with Article 96 of the Articles
of Association (the “Articles of Association”) of the
Company. Pursuant to that, one-third of the Directors (or,
if the number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire each
year but are eligible for re-election at each AGM.

Chairman of the Board and CEO

The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO
are held by Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. and Mr. TSE
Kam Keung respectively to maintain effective segregation
of duties. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the
functioning of the Board and the strategies of the Group
while the CEO is responsible for managing the Group’s day-
to-day businesses.

The Chairman of the Board held a private session with
the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors immediately after the Directors’
Conference of the Company held on 24 November 2023.

Directors’ Time Commitments

The Directors have confirmed that, during the course of
the year, they devoted adequate time to discharge their
duties as members of the Board and its committees. The
Directors also confirmed that they had been provided with
monthly updates on the Group’s operations, performance
and business prospects to enable them to discharge their
duties. Additional information, explanation and clarification
were provided by Senior Management in response to
questions raised by the Directors in the course of their
reviews of such materials.

(7) EEE2(#@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued) (7) EEE(#@)

(viy EEEEBRBRRAE

(vi) Board Meetings and General Meeting

During 2023, four Board meetings and an AGM were held. B
The attendance of Directors in the Board meetings and the 2

—ECZF AARBETHRES
RN —RRFREEARG > EFNE

2023 AGM was as follows: EEERN_EI=FERIREFAEN
HERMT :
Board meetings 2023 AGM
attended/ attended/
Eligible to attend Eligible to attend
BHE/EBE CHE SBK
LEESEE® WHWE-Z-=F

ERRE RRBFAERE

Chairman and Non-executive Director FEREYTES
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. FTh¥EtE L > SB.S, J.P. 3/4 1/1
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. TSE Kam Keung EiFikc b

(Chief Executive Officer) (1TB#85%) 4/4 11
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew EMBERSEE

(Chief Technology Officer) (i %) 4/4 1/1
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan b2k 3o gun

(Chief Operations Officer) (BERE) 4/4 11
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Dr. LEE Delman @ FEARFELO 3/4 0/1
Mr. YING Tze Man BPXEE 4/4 1/1
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent RKERE 4/4 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKBTES
Mr. CHAK Hubert Bkt 4/4 1/1
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay JEfBERLE 4/4 11
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan @ BREFL LT @ 3/4 11
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy EER S 4/4 1/1
Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. @ IS EEE > MH, JP. @ 1/1 1/1
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P,FCILT® MERZ4E » G.B.S, J.P., FCILT® 3/3 N/ATE R
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Board Meetings and General Meeting (Continued)
Notes:

(1) Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. excused from the Board
meeting held on 30 June 2023 due to other prior business
engagements overseas.

(2)  Dr. LEE Delman excused from the 2023 AGM and the Board
meeting held on 30 June 2023 due to other prior business
engagements overseas.

3) Ms. CHAN Chi Yan excused from Board meeting held on 24
November 2023 owing to sickness.

“) Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. retired as an Independent Non-
executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the 2023
AGM.

5) Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director with effect from the
conclusion of the 2023 AGM.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. In this regard, the Directors
have confirmed that appropriate accounting policies have
been selected and applied consistently and that judgments
and estimates made are prudent and reasonable in light of
the information provided by Senior Management.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023, the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong were adopted and the requirements
of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") and the applicable laws were complied with.

The Board has prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis and is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast doubt in the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the External Auditors are
disclosed in the “Report of the Auditors” of this Annual
Report.

(7) EEE2(#@)

(vi)

(vii)

ETEERRREARE (@)
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(viii) Directors’ and Auditors’ Attendance at the 2023 AGM

(ix)

The Directors’ attendance for 2023 AGM is shown in the
above table under the sub-heading “Board Meetings and
General Meeting”.

The External Auditors, KPMG, also attended the 2023 AGM
to confirm the audited financial statements of the Company
and to answer questions from shareholders.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

All newly appointed Directors will have to attend an
induction programme to enhance their knowledge and
understanding of the Group's business and operations and
their responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and other legal and regulatory requirements.

Besides, it is our practice to arrange a half day in-house
Directors’ conference annually to brief the Directors on
business updates and financial review of the Group and
have strategic discussions on the Company’s business
direction. In the half-day Directors’ conference held on 24
November 2023, apart from above discussions, we also
provided a training on the macro investment environment.
Except Mr. YING Tze Man and Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, all other
Directors, namely Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P., Dr.
LEE Delman, Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent, Mr. CHAK
Hubert, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy,
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT, Mr. TSE Kam
Keung, Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew and Ms. CHUNG
Shun Kwan, participated in the aforesaid in-house Directors’
conference.

We have allocated financial resources to support and
encourage the Directors to participate in continuous
professional development training to refresh and enhance
their knowledge and skills regarding their roles, functions
and duties as Directors.

All Directors have provided their training records to the
Company during the year.

(7) EEE2(#@)

(viii) EERZEMEE S -_=FKRRE

(ix)
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TXERBREE(E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

)

(xi)

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance to indemnify the Directors
against liabilities in respect of legal actions arising from
their day-to-day business activities. During the year, the
insurance coverage was HK$100 million.

Board Independence

The Company currently has in place the following
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input
are available to the Board:

(@) The Board maintains sufficient number of
Independent Non-executive Directors and ensures all
of them continue to devote sufficient adequate time
contribution and attention to the affairs of the Group;

(b) The Company receives annual confirmations from
all Independent Non-executive Directors for their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules;

(c) The Board encourages all Directors to express their
views in an open and candid manner during meetings
of the Board and the Board Committees and ensures
they have opportunity to provide input to the agenda
of meetings;

(d) The Company has an annual evaluation on the Board
independence through the Directors’ participations in
and discussion of the Company'’s business during the
year which the Independent Non-executive Directors
demonstrate their ability to continue to bring in
independent judgements to the Board and respective
Board Committees;

(e)  Under the terms of reference of all Board Committees,
it is clearly stated that legal and other independent
professional advice are available where necessary
at the Company’s expense to assist Directors’
performance of their duties;

(7) EEE2(#@)

()

(xi)
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(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(xi)

(xii)

Board Independence (Continued)

(f)  The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO
are separate which ensures that there is a balance of
power and authority; and

(g) The Directors are aware of any potential conflicts of
interest that may arise on their part in relation to the
Company’s businesses. In case of such conflict of
interest arises, the Director concerned would declare
his/her interest to the Board, and refrain from voting
on the issues or matters to be resolved.

Corporate Governance Committee and the Board have
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms during 2023 and believe that they are
adequate and effective to ensure independent views and
inputs are available to the Board for it to perform its duties.

Board Evaluation

The Board recognises the benefits of regular evaluations
of its performance. During the year, an evaluation covering
Board’'s and Board Committees’ performance was
conducted by Corporate Governance Committee with the
assistance of Senior Management. Areas covered included
the overall effectiveness of the Board and its committees,
attendance, participation and contributions both during and
outside meetings. The conclusion was satisfactory.

(7) EEE2(#@)

(xi)

(xii)
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TXERBREE(E)

(8) Board Committees

The Board has established the following committees: Audit,
Corporate Governance, Remuneration, Nomination and
Investment Committees.

0]

Audit Committee

Audit Committee currently consists of five Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The main duties of Audit Committee are to review the
Company’s financial information and to oversee the overall
financial reporting process as well as the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal controls. In addition, it is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board for the appointment,
reappointment or removal of the External Auditors. It also
reviews and monitors the External Auditors’ independence
and objectivity as well as the effectiveness of the audit
process to make sure that it is in full compliance with
applicable standards.

During the year, Audit Committee held two meetings. The
attendance of members was as follows:

(8) EEZEE

EEERERILTIEES
BEREEF

I BREEE X
FINEEE RBREEENKRE

£EFG o

0]

EREES
BERZEERBHARBIIIFRITES
HERY ©

EBERZEENTIERERBTREIATN
MHEENNERETABRNEEMBE
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h%%%ﬂﬁﬂ 5 > BEREE RN
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Rrigsd B RIMNB R BETE S %4ﬂ§
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BEREFEEETERER -

RERN > BREETY
éﬁtljr‘$§llﬂ<.

Audit Committee meetings

Names attended/Eligible to attend
BHE SEEHE
#®H ERZEEEERLH
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman) BRI E (F/E) 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert EU@&EI 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay fBEELE 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan () Bﬁ%‘éﬁ#:ﬁ” 1/2
Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. @ AL ES%E > MH, JP.@ 11
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT @ MER%LE  G.B.S, J.P,FCILT® 1/1
Notes: Bt
(1) Ms. CHAN Chi Yan excused from Audit Committee meeting held (1) BEERLAFHRER_TE_=F/\F/\AE{T
on 8 August 2023 owing to sickness. HEBEZZEEEH o
(2)  Following his retirement as an Independent Non-executive 2) FHRBRBEBLUIFHITEEE  ALELE  MH.,
Director, Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. ceased to act as a member JP.TBEFEZEZEGHKSE HZE_=FK
of Audit Committee with effect from the conclusion of the 2023 FEFEAGFRELN ©
AGM.
(3)  Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT was appointed as a (3) MERSLE GBS, JP, FCILTEZFAFEZZ

member of Audit Committee with effect from the conclusion of
the 2023 AGM.

EBHE  B-F_-FRRBEFAGHREL
¥ o



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERHRES (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(®

Audit Committee (Continued)

During 2023, Audit Committee performed, among other
matters, the following duties:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e

V)

reviewed the Group’s financial statements for the
year ended 2022, the draft 2022 Annual Report,
the draft 2022 annual results announcement and
the proposed 2022 final and special dividends and
recommended them to the Board for approval;

reviewed the Group’s interim financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2023, the draft
2023 Interim Report, the draft 2023 interim results
announcement and the proposed 2023 interim
dividend and recommended them to the Board for
approval;

reviewed and approved various audit plans and audit
reports prepared by the Internal Audit Department of
the Company;

reviewed the reports on risk management and
internal control of the Group to ensure that the risk
management and internal control systems were
adequate and effective;

reviewed the Whistleblowing Policy and the
whistleblowing procedures;

met with the Internal Auditor independently to
discuss the work of the Internal Audit Department of
the Company and to ensure the effectiveness of the
Group's internal audit function;

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

@

Audit Committee (Continued)

(9)
(h)

@

0

reviewed the remuneration of the Internal Auditor;

met with the External Auditors, KPMG, independently
to discuss the financial reporting and internal control
issues encountered during the 2022 annual audit;

reviewed the proposed audit fee for 2023 and
recommended the re-appointment of KPMG as the
External Auditors to the Board for consideration and
final approval by the shareholders at the 2023 AGM;
and

considered the need to make a positive profit alert
announcement and made recommendations to the
Board.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During 2023, the audit and non-audit fees payable or paid
to KPMG were: an audit fee of HK$1.09 million (2022:
HK$1.03 million) and a non-audit related service fee
of HK$0.09 million (2022: HK$0.08 million). The latter
represented taxation service fees.
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(i)

(8) EEZEE (&)

Corporate Governance Committee (i) XERZEES
Corporate Governance Committee consists of five Independent TEEARATEEHARBIUIERNITES
Non-executive Directors. The main responsibility of the A TEEERGNEREAATRE
Corporate Governance Committee is to ensure and uphold M A FIRY RYF I EEAMEE o
good corporate governance functions of the Company and
its subsidiaries.
During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee held HER > CXBEARLZEGERITMAE
two meetings. The attendance of members was as follows: #oLEYHEENT
Corporate Governance
Committee meetings
Names attended/Eligible to attend
BHE SERLERE
®A TEERZEETERAY
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman) B E (F/E) 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert Bkt 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay BERRELE 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan @ FRE L1 1/2
Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. @ A EALE > MH, J.P.P 1/1
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT @ MERSLE > GBS, J.P,FCILT® 1/1
Notes: sz :

(1) Ms. CHAN Chi Yan excused from the Corporate Governance
Committee meeting held on 8 August 2023 owing to sickness.

2) Following his retirement as an Independent Non-executive
Director, Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. ceased to act as a member
of Corporate Governance Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2023 AGM.

3) Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT was appointed as a
member of Corporate Governance Committee with effect from
the conclusion of the 2023 AGM.

(1) BREFRTREFHREKE—E_=F/F/\
ARTHTEEELZEEEH o

(2) FEABLIRTERE  HUELE
MH., JP.TBEELEELZECHS -
B =FREBEAGIEREE -

(3) MERLL GBS, J.P, FCILTEZLS
PHEELRZEOHE BT =FRE
BFEABHEFREEN °
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TXERBREE(E)

(8) EEZEE (&)

(i) LEBLRESS @)
KEREEL > CEEASEEREM
EIEN ) BERITUATHE :

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(ii) Corporate Governance Committee (Continued)

At the two meetings, the Corporate Governance Committee
performed, among other matters, the following duties:

(a) reviewed the Group’s policies and practices on (a) M AEEMNTEERRERE
corporate governance and made recommendation to o LRAESFREES
the Board;

(b) reviewed the training and continuous professional (b) @‘TZIK \FEEE - aREEAR
development of the Directors, Senior Management NEME (RS BEIR
and the company secretary (the “Company ?%ﬁa%%?é‘f@ ;

Secretary”) of the Company;

(c) reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG (c) BRARTAHTEEEATINEST
Code and the relevant compliance disclosures in the BRAMKZE__FrEELRRE
draft 2022 Corporate Governance Report and draft BRANCE T =FRHAREER
2023 Interim Report; FARENERERER ;

(d) reviewed the Anti-Corruption Policy and d BHRREBRXITEZEETIE
recommended to the Board for acceptance; s

(e) reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of (e) MWHAREEHINEI RN
the Company’s mechanisms to ensure independent UHERESEUESBIERR
views and inputs were available to the Board for it to BR O UBBHEITHES ;
perform its duties;

(f)  evaluated the performance of the Board and all Board () FHEEGRFBEEEZEFWN
Committees; RIR ;

(g) discussed the Board Diversity Research Paper (9 HBEEGHARER-ZTZZ
by HKICPA in December 2022 and the proposed F+ZHAEMNESTENRES T
downsizing or diversifying of the Board and its CHAEXHEREZRBERZ T
implementation timetable and plan; and EEGNEEBHERR NS ;

&
(h)  performed other corporate governance duties under (h) RIESFENEXEA 2. 1EEITH M

the Code Provision A.2.1.

TEERBE -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERHRES (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(8) EEZEE (&)

(iii) Remuneration Committee
Remuneration Committee consists of one Non-executive
Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among other
matters, making recommendations to the Board on the
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and
Senior Management and on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and Senior Management.

Remuneration Committee has promulgated the written
Remuneration Policy for the Directors and Senior
Management to ensure the ability of the Company to
attract and retain experienced and skilled Directors and
Senior Management of high caliber to lead, direct and
guide the Company to achieve its strategic corporate goals
and objectives. The Remuneration Policy is built upon the
principles of providing equitable and market-competitive
remuneration packages to the Directors and Senior
Management. The Remuneration Policy aims at maintaining
a competitive remuneration levels but not excessive. No
Directors or any of their associates are involved in deciding
that Directors’ own remuneration. Remuneration Committee
periodically reviews the Remuneration Policy.

During the year, Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance of members was as follows:

(i) FHEEL
FNEZEE SR —RIERITESRMELE
MIEMITESREMN ©

FINZEGHREMERI > AENES
REREEASFHMBER R RE UK
BEREZEREREEABNFINFER
EFXGREEE -

FMEEEERMHESERSREEAR
SEFMEBER - UERE QTSRS
kit BEREEBARRENERSES
BB EEAS > 518 IEENIESIE
NE)ERARBEXRBRERTE  Hl
BRUAEERSHREZABRHRAT
BERGHBIFINNFMGESERR > 5
ERREFFMKTARSEN > ARBX
FERES BEEFHHEFHWBEA
SHEETEETGNFHN - FNEES
TE Rt AT A SR o

RER > HFWNEEEBRT—RE
LZEHERMT :

ok

%

Remuneration Committee
meeting attended/

Names Eligible to attend

BHE SERERE
HE FHEEFERAH
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman) [ABERAE (F/FE) 1/1
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy BAEE ST 11
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. FJy)E1E L > SB.S, J.P. 1/1
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERHRES (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

At this meeting, Remuneration Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties:

(a) reviewed the remuneration packages of Directors and
Senior Management and recommended the same to
the Board for approval;

(b) approved and made recommendation to the Board
to grant share options to the Directors and Senior
Management, details of which are set out in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the
“Directors’ Report” of this Annual Report; and

(c) set performance targets and clawback mechanism
attached to the options granted.

Remuneration paid to Directors and Senior Management
Details of remuneration paid to Directors in 2023 are set
out in Note 9to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Remuneration paid to Senior Management in 2023 by band
was as follows:

(8) EEZEE (&)

(i) HHESE (@)

Rit&zt > HFMESEHRAEMSER
5 BBITUUTHEE :

(a) BHNEFKSREZE AN
AN ERETEHE ;

(b) HEREREFEMEZERSR
EEASREBRE  HFEEH
REFRIEFTEGREZ IPIER
REEEL—# 5 &

(c) HMEEMBEERMAFAER L ER
FERY @ BT ] o

MEERSREEASITHEHH
RIZE_=ZFEXNTFEEHNFHFMFE
BT B R R I FE 1 BOAYEE 9 o

R-ZEZ=ZF > MaREBEAERMHN
FIA R TEHE !

Number of staff

ETAH
HK$8,000,001-HK$9,000,000 78,000,001 E #1#£9,000,0007T 1
HK$4,000,001-HK$8,000,000 714,000,001 = #1£8,000,0007T -
HK$3,000,001-HK$4,000,000 71£3,000,001E ##£4,000,0007T 2
HK$2,000,001-HK$3,000,000 2 000,001 E ##£3,000,0007T -

HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000 711,000,001 Z #152,000,0007T 1




(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee

Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board, being a Non-executive Director, and two Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The main duties of Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to review the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
to select suitable candidates for appointment as Directors.

Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and
Size

The Company adopted the Policy of Board Diversity,
Refreshment & Succession and Size, which can be found
under the Company’s website heading “Investors/Corporate
governance/Corporate governance policy” section. The
Company acknowledges a truly diverse Board should
include a range of diversity perspectives with reference
to the Company’s business and specific needs, including
but not limited to, gender, age, educational background,
experiences, exposures, human relationship networks and
work-profile. Under the policy, all new Independent Non-
executive Directors appointed are subject to a maximum
tenure of nine years, except in exceptional circumstances
or unless the Board otherwise approves. Nomination
Committee and the Board keep on-going dialogues on
Board diversity, succession and refreshment issues in
accordance with the policy and review its implementation
and effectiveness on an annual basis. Nomination
Committee has also approved and recommended to the
Board for acceptance of a plan to phase out the existing
Independent Non-executive Directors who have served the
Board for more than nine years by stages, as well as a plan
to downsize the Board to align with the market trend in
Hong Kong.

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TXERBREE(E)

(8) EEZEE (&)

(ivy ERZEE

RRZETHEFTIFECFATESR)
KNmBBILIERITESMAERN °

RLZEGNTEREABANEFTEN
g RERES - BERBUIFNITE
ENBUM THEBESEEEIAES
BN -

EEgmESlt BB - #AERRE
BE
FRBEERMEEFERES T E
B BERRERE  BRBRURE
AEPIETIREE RER BEER
BRI —RER - Z QB AIES T
tNEEEREE—RISTILER
WEBERRBNREBRHERRK > 84F
BRBEMERN - F&8  -HEER K
B~ R~ AR - ARRIREERIE
B o RIBZBER > FTEMERENEIL
FHTESFNRRIHA/NE > EHEH
BRRINHFRIEREZTSEHTHE IR
LEEENREFEREABRNEES
REZ it  BENEEFERSHE
HiE - ISFEEHRITHERRMR
RRZEGTEMEM BB WEZRE
EEEM —HEEIMREERES
EEBEBNENRERBILFERITE
ES-EEEMAEREREURR
EEMHED -
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(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and
Size (Continued)

The Board has two female Directors out of twelve Directors
(equivalent to 16.7% of the Board) which is broadly in line
with prevailing market average in Hong Kong. Accordingly,
the Board diversity in gender is achieved for the time being
and we target to maintain this parameter unless there is
any change in either the market average in Hong Kong or
the Listing Rules requirements. For future recruitment of
a Director, if other things being equal, a female Director
would be given preference.

The gender ratio in our workforce in 2023 was set out as
follows:

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TXERBREE(E)

(8) EEZEE (&)

(ivy REZEE(#)

EFZgmEZ it EE - HERAE

B ()

EFENT _RESTTEMBUNES
(HENESZEM16.7%) » ARFEEH
BTMSBFEKTE - Bt > EFFRE
BERMRNZ T > BRIFEBTIE TS
KPR EHRUREEEE > TRIFKM
RRIFEMELS - KERBIEESR >
EREARMEGERNBERT > &2
B BRE B MEEA -

RIEBEZ=ZF > ETHBPERLAE
T

Gender ratio
(Male: Female)

1 51 b i

(Bt i)

Al staff (including Senior Management) 2RET (BERREEAS) 1.17:1
Senior Management SREEAS 1:1

As the gender ratio across the workforce is rather balanced,
the Company has no immediate plans or measurable
objectives set for achieving further gender diversity. For
the time being, there are no circumstances that may pose
a substantial challenge for the Company to achieve gender
diversity across the workforce.

HRREES TN L AIRA T > &
REREIEEBE D MHHZ T
SAEHAIFERR - B > WEEME
MAREREAQREERETENZ T
FEEREAYE
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wEEE)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy of the Company was adopted to
provide formal, clear and transparent procedures, process
and criteria for Nomination Committee to nominate and
recommend suitable candidate to the Board.

Selection Criteria

Nomination Committee and the Board may consider the
following factors, which are neither exhaustive nor decisive,
when assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

©)
(b)

(©

(d)

()

personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company’s
businesses and corporate development and strategy;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time
to discharge the duties as a Director and to make
required commitments;

the board diversity policy adopted by the Company
(as amended from to time, currently named as the
Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession
and Size) for achieving diversity on the Board with
reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender,
age, educational background experiences, exposures,
human relationship networks and work-profile; and

applicable legal and regulatory requirements (as
amended from time to time).

TR -HHER

FEZERAF

(8) EEZEE (&)
(ivy REZEE@E
REBE

KATIBRMIBEREER > AIRLEET
MEEERLNEESHEEEARHRE
Et N Eﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂéﬁﬂgﬂgﬁg > /m.*i& i3

Bl

EEER

RULEZEEREFEAETEUTHEEF

RIEANERTES > EFRSTRERN

BEER  hARREMER !

(@) BAEE- EERHE

(b) HAXRBER  EEHERRKRE
HANEEER « 5~ M

(c) ﬁ%iﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ)\%?’]ﬁ?ﬁf‘ﬁ@

TEFHELFHYEREGE ;

(d) EREFEMNEETEREST

LB R (EAREHERT » IREERA
EFEMES L BEE - #IE

RRERR)EESETLABNE
BRAMBHBER(BFEERRR
MR Fi - HEES LR
RERE ~ NBRRR RS R TIRELR)
BREFEMES T &

(e) (BARMEIEREIEREER
T o
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wEEE)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

Nomination Procedures

©)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

For filling a causal vacancy or appointing an
additional Director to the Board in accordance with
Article 88 of the Articles of Association, Nomination
Committee shall make recommendation for the
Board's consideration and approval. For proposing
candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
Nomination Committee shall make nomination to the
Board for consideration and recommendation.

Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand
for election as a Director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a Director” published
by the Company from time to time.

The nomination proposal should include the
candidate’s biographical information and other
information as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules and the candidate’s signed written
consent to be appointed as a Director and to
the publication of his/her personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose
of or in relation to their standing for election as a
Director.

If considered necessary, Nomination Committee
may request the candidate to provide additional
information and documents.

Nomination Committee shall consider the nomination
proposal, evaluate such candidate based on the
selection criteria and review the structure, size and
diversity of the Board to determine whether such
candidate is suitable for recommending to the Board.

(8) EEZEE (&)

(ivy REZEE@E

REBEKGE)

b2y

() WMERBAATMABESEMANE
SeIFIEMERRF TN S LM E
EEMB IRLEEGAEBA
BEEEGETERHIE - MEH
BIREATERRAGLESE ®
LEEEERNESGIRAMES
I=958i:3 10

(b) BRRIURBEQIBFELMITAR
RIERAESREZEZREF IR
—INERRRAG EHEEES
S

(c) RLEBEBEEBREANEER
REBELHRUWATFRENEME
o UREEAZEENSERE
E o AEREERES > LR

MESEEERHRMEFANER
TE XX 4 55 48 BA 48 il 2 B 4R B EL(E
ANEH o

) RLZEGMBBELE > T
ERBEARBENENRX
o

(e) RHLZESHREMEENEZRIRE
LEBERTEZANE > WEHE
EEMNEE - REMZTl U
HREZANERTEARNEEGIH

e

& °
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TXERBREE(E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

Nomination Procedures (Continued)

V)

(9)

A circular with the candidate information such as
the name, brief biography (including qualifications
and relevant experience), proposed remuneration,
independence and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will be provided to shareholders before the general
meeting and within the prescribed period as required
under Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of a candidate to
stand for election at a general meeting.

The Nomination Policy can be found on the Company’s
website.

During the year, Nomination Committee held two meetings.
The attendance of members was as follows:

(8) EEZEE (&)

(ivy REZEE(#)

REBEGE
teLEF (&)
() FRERRRGERRELHRAUE

(9

RETPRK A > MRRER—©0
BEREAERNER > ZMHEHR
HAEGREANGS  GEBER
EXAAR&EER) - BEME - B
MREMZERER  RAUKR
PIFRARERL o

EFEURAEEMERRAS L
BEREASENTERERK
RIEHE ©

RABBERAIE R QB EIEER

RER > RLEEGBRRTMAEE
LZEHERMT :

Nomination Committee
meetings attended/

Names Eligible to attend
BHiE AERLE
#H REZEEEHRIH
Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. (Chairman) A EEE > MH., J.P(E/E)® 1/1
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT MERLE » GBS, J.P,FCILT
(Chairman) @ (F/E)@ 1/1
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy EEESE 2/2
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. FTh¥EE L > SB.S, J.P. 2/2
Notes: st :
(1) Following his retirement as an Independent Non-executive (1)  FRREBLIFEHTEERE  AUBEE

@

Director, Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. ceased to act as the
Chairman of Nomination Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2023 AGM.
Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT was appointed as
the Chairman of Nomination Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2023 AGM.

@

M.H., J.P.TBEFIELEZEG/RHE » 5=
oo FRFBAFACIERELERN

MERLSE > GBS, J.P, FCILTEZEA
WBEEEGTE BT _=FRFEF
ABHEEEEN -
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TXERBREE(E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

v)

At the two meetings, Nomination Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties:

(a) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

(b) discussed the downsizing or diversifying of the Board
and its implementation timetable and plan;

(c) reviewed the Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment &
Succession and Size;

(d) reviewed the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors;

(e) reviewed and recommended three retiring Directors
(including one long-serving Independent Non-
executive Director) for re-election by shareholders at
the 2023 AGM;

(f)  considered and made recommendation to the Board
regarding nomination of Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S.,
J.P., FCILT as an Independent Non-executive Director
at the 2023 AGM; and

(g) considered candidates of an Independent Non-
executive Director for recommending to the Board for
nomination at the forthcoming AGM.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee consists of one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duty of the Investment Committee is to oversee the
Company’s investments in financial instruments and
the management’s execution of the investment policy
guidelines laid down by the Board.

(8) EEXETE

(ivy ERZEE

v)

(&)

(%)
KmAgZEL  RREEEHREMER
5h > BBITUUTHE :

(a) WHEFRGRE  RERRMERK ;

(b) HREFETHEBHAZTERHEE
Ml AR R 5t R 5

(c) BWHNEFZTHEZTH -EE-
BAERREEER ;

(d) WRBIIFNTESHEILMY ;

(e) WAMEZR="BRE_FT_=FK
REFAGHRREBEZINR
FEF(BE—LRARBNEL
FERITES) ;

N ZEK-B-—ERFEEAS
HEEMERESE > GBS, JP,
FOILTABIEMITES > LHE
FHRHES &

() TRAMEFFHBEREGRIT
HRREFRE LIRRBGIIIE
HITERREAN -

REZES
REZEEH—HIFNTEER=28
TIFMITESRMAERMN °

REZSENREREEAQANER
TEMNKREUREEENTESTEME
REBERESIMIER -
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TRERHRES (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(v) Investment Committee (Continued)
During the year, the Investment Committee held two

(8) EEZEE (&)

vy REZEE#)
FER REZEGRAFEMAEE &

meetings. The attendance of members was as follows: BHEERNT :
Investment Committee
meetings attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE SERERE
HE REZEFERAH
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman) BHsgiE (F/E) 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay [BEEREE 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan BREFRZ T 1/2
Mr. YING Tze Man BFEE 2/2
Note: Misz -
(1) Ms. CHAN Chi Yan excused from the Investment Committee (1) BEEXLREFHEFZEZ=F/\F/|

meeting held on 8 August 2023 owing to sickness.

At the two meetings, the Investment Committee, among
other matters, reviewed the updates on the Group's latest
cash position and investment portfolio, and considered
whether there was a need to make any changes to the
current deposit approach.

(9) Company Secretary

During the year, Mr. TAI Kwok Hung (“Mr. TAI"), the Group’s
former Senior Vice President of Legal & Compliance, was the
Company Secretary. Mr. TAl has confirmed that he took no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in 2023 as
required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Following the removal of Mr. TAI as the Company Secretary by
the Board on 9 February 2024, Mr. HO Kai Tak (“Mr. HO"), an
external service provider and a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong,
was appointed by the Board as the Company Secretary with
effect from the same date.

The primary corporate contact person at the Company whom Mr.
HO can contact for the purpose of the Code Provision C.6.1 is Mr.
TSE Kam Keung, the CEO.

HE{THRELEESEEH -

KWmRgZEL  REZSEHRHEMER
5 EBRFTEERNBEERRARRE
HENRMEN  TEEERETEHNER

(9) DAAWE

RER > AEEFEZRSRBSRIERE
BHAEE ((BEENRLBWE - RELECHE
2 RERE EHRAEI29FHNRER-F
ZZEBRADKSNENEREEEE -

R-E_NE_AABEEERERBLELH
ME—BR - SNRIRFSHERE R E BN REM
AREERE (AL EEEERETARETW
- BEBEEXN -

PTRIEXEC.6.1EMS > ASLERBEZ
ERBEERFMBABITERABE BRI
o
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(10)Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
the shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings can
send a request to the Company to convene a general meeting
pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622,
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “CQO"). The request must state the
general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The request
must be authenticated by the relevant shareholder(s) and sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form to
comsec@tradelink.com.hk.

Shareholders may also put forward proposals at general meetings
in accordance with Sections 580 or 615 of the CO. Shareholder(s)
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders who have a relevant right to vote at the general
meeting or at least 50 shareholders of the Company who have
a relevant right to vote at the general meeting may request the
Company to circulate statements regarding resolutions proposed
at the general meeting; or request the Company to circulate
resolutions which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at the AGM. The requisition must be authenticated by the
shareholder(s) concerned and sent to the Company in hard copy
form or in electronic form to comsec@tradelink.com.hk where,
(i) in the case of a requisition for the circulation of statements
regarding resolutions proposed at a general meeting, such
requisition must be received by the Company not later than seven
days before the relevant general meeting; or (i) in the case of a
requisition for the circulation of resolutions to be moved at the
AGM, the requisition must be received by the Company not later
than six weeks before the relevant AGM or if later, the time when
the notice of the relevant AGM is dispatched.

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(10)Shareholders’ Rights (Continued) (10) B RHEF| (48)

Pursuant to Article 97 of the Articles of Association, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by
the Directors for election, be eligible for election to the office of
Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the
intention to propose that person for election as a Director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been given to the Company in each case, during the
period (being a period of at least seven days) commencing on
the day after dispatch of the notice of general meeting at which
elections to the office of Director are to be considered and ending
on the day that falls seven days before the date of the general
meeting (both days inclusive). The procedures for shareholders
to propose a person for election as a Director can be found
under the Company’s website heading “Investors/Corporate
governance/Corporate governance structure” section.

For shareholders’ enquiries in other aspects, please refer to the
details set out in the Shareholders Communication Policy (as
mentioned hereinafter).

(11)Communications with Shareholders and

Investors

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication
Policy which is available under the Company’s website heading
the “Investors/Investor relations” section. The Company
encourages two-way communications with its shareholders and
investors to enhance understanding of the Group’s performance
and developments. The Company offers options for shareholders
to elect for receipt of the corporate communications either
through website version or in printed form. Regular e-newsletters
on the Company'’s latest business development are published on
the Company’s website. A free subscription service is available
for interested parties to receive e-newsletters which we publish
bi-annually on major updates on the Company’s business of
interests to investors. Under the Shareholders Communication
Policy, shareholders are encouraged to participate in the
Company’s general meetings and appropriate arrangements
will be in place to encourage shareholders’ participation. The
shareholders may at any time contact the Company’s Investor
Relations and Corporate Communications Department for any
enquiries with regard to the Group and/or the Board with contact
details published on the Company’s website and set out in
the section headed “Investor Relations” of this Annual Report.
In addition, shareholders may contact the Company’s share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, if
they have any enquiry about their shareholdings or entitlements
to dividend. Relevant contact details are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Information” of this Annual Report.
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TXERBREE(E)

(11)Communications with Shareholders and
Investors (Continued)

During the reporting year,

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

Forums were organised and held by the Company on
28 April 2023 and 22 September 2023 to brief individual
shareholders on our 2022 annual results and 2023 interim
results respectively;

Media luncheons were organised and held by the Company
on 3 April 2023 after the announcement of our 2022 annual
results and on 11 September 2023 after the announcement
of our 2023 interim results;

the Company also had a total of three virtual and/or
physical meetings and/or conference calls with investors
on corporate and business development issues of the
Company; and

2023 AGM was held physically in Hong Kong on 12 May
2023. Almost all members of the Board (including the
Chairmen of the Board and all Board Committees), Senior
Management and the External Auditors were present to
answer questions raised by shareholders.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy
and taking into account of the aforesaid channels in place
and initiatives taken to solicit and understand the views of
shareholders and stakeholders, considered the same to be
adequate and effective.

(12)Constitutional Document

The Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website
and the website of HKEXnews. There was no change in the
constitutional document of the Company during 2023.
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Environmental,
Social and

TECFER-EEBETESZARAT

Governance Report

B HBREARS

<ﬁTradellnk
Maximising digital efficiency

SIEBE RBMIEA

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”)
includes our disclosures related to the requirements as set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Guide”) contained in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

About Tradelink

Tradelink is an e-commerce services company and its principal
activity is to provide GETS for processing certain official trade-related
documents. Leveraging our core competence, Tradelink has diversified
its business in other areas including supply chain solutions, identity
management solutions and payment technology solutions, some of
which are being operated by the Company’s subsidiaries. The mission
of the Company is to empower our clients with business enabled
e-solutions for their commercial and financial activities.
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RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Reporting Scope and Boundary

This ESG Report focuses on aspects which have been identified as
material to the Group's business by the Board and our key stakeholders
namely, our employees, investors and shareholders, customers,
suppliers and the community. As our core businesses are carried on in
Hong Kong, the reporting boundary in this ESG Report covers Tradelink
and our subsidiaries in Hong Kong for the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2023. The scope of reporting in this ESG Report is the
same as that of 2022.

Reporting Principles

In the preparation of the ESG Report, the Company follows the reporting
principles of Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency as
set out in the ESG Guide. Three of the reporting principles which are
required to be disclosed under the mandatory disclosure requirements
are as follows:

Materiality — the Company selects material ESG factors by collecting
stakeholders’ opinions through various channels during our daily
operations. Details of stakeholder engagement with their concerned
matters and engagement channels are listed out in details under the
heading “ESG Strategy and Management Approach”. The Board reviews
and assesses those ESG issues which are material and relevant to our
Company’s businesses.

Quantitative — Although we do not disclose the quantitative key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) for emissions/energy consumption
in this ESG Report as these factors are not applicable to us (see
explanation set out under the heading “Materiality Assessment”), we do
disclose numerical figures in social KPIs with necessary descriptions
where appropriate. e.g. the percentage of employees trained by gender
and number of training hours per employee category etc.

Consistency — Unless otherwise stated, there is no change to the
methods or KPIs used in this ESG Report, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaningful comparison with the ESG Report of last year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

HERER®RSE (F)

Governance Structure and Board's Oversight

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board oversees the ESG issues by delegating
its responsibilities to Audit Committee to evaluate and determine
ESG-related risks to ensure that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place. The Board has
also delegated its responsibilities to Corporate Governance Committee
to review the performance and compliance of corporate governance
matters of the Company which include those relating to ESG issues.
Both Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee would
report back to the Board on their decisions or recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval.

ESG Strategy and Management Approach

Our ESG strategy is summarised as follows:

Environmental

- We are committed to sustainable business practices that help
protect the environment.

- We run our business in a responsible manner and minimise
environmental pollution.

- We implement internal policies to reduce environmental impact
and raise employees’ awareness of the efficient use of resources.

- We support or collaborate with organisations which promote
environmental protection.
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RE  #HEREREBE (A)

ESG Strategy and Management Approach
(Continued)

Social

- We manage our human resources and maintain our employer-
employee relationship with the employees in strict compliance
with the relevant employment laws.

- We use reasonably best endeavours to engage suppliers that are
in compliance with their local environment and employment laws.

- We make positive contributions to the community.

Governance

- Tradelink is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance and detailed information in relation to governance is
shown separately in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this Annual Report.

The Board uses its reasonably best endeavours to create values for
our customers, employees and stakeholders while complying with
the ESG-related laws and regulations, as well as driving social and
environmental good in the community by reference to the relevant and
applicable KPIs. The Board will review the ESG strategy and identify
areas for improvements from time to time or when circumstances
warrant.
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TECFER-EEBETESZARAT

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Stakeholders’ Engagement

In order to implement our ESG strategy to meet or even exceed
expectations of our stakeholders, the Company engages stakeholders
to collect their opinions on ESG-related issues via various channels
on ongoing basis. Views of stakeholders on concerned matters are
collected via various channels as set out below:

KhhESHE

AERTSEEBESMERENRE - HERE
AR ARRBBESNELS > BBRERE
TENRERHERIRE - HEREREREENE
R ARBZEBUTEBRREUERNEHMISE
HNWER:

Stakeholders Concerned matters Engagement channels

FE BEEE SHERE

Employees - Employee rights and benefits Staff intranet portal, meetings and emails
i==] - Training and development BT - GFENER

- Work environment

— Work-life balance

- EERERNREF

- EER

- TFIRIR

- ITREEFEZENTE

Investors and shareholders — Investment returns
KREENKR - Business development
- Business performance
— Business strategies
— Corporate governance
- KRERR
- EBERE
- EBRR
- EBRK

- XEHR

Announcements, investor newsletters,
circulars, annual report, interim report,
annual general meeting, face-to-face
meetings/calls with investors, bi-annual
individual investor forums

NE -~ REEBM  BR - FIR ~ PHIR
HRRAFAY - HIREEEDET
BEGE SEMANEAAREERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - -#H#E8RERKE (E)

K ESHEE

Stakeholders’ Engagement (Continued)

Stakeholders Concerned matters Engagement channels

H0E BEEER SHRE
Customers — Product/service quality/service level Product/service terms and conditions, code
=] Product/service price of conduct, contracts, letter of undertaking
Customer information/personal data on integrity, meetings and training, after-
confidentiality sales service (customer inquiries or
Cyber security complaints)
Employment practices Efm/ REGERRIEHS 1277 - &
Business ethics (anti-corruption and 4~ S EGER ~ BERIEI - EBRRE
prevention of bribery) (B R EHHIEH)
Corporate governance
Em/ RBEEREKE
Em REEERE
ERER EAERMREN
RS
BIEER
B E(RES R LEREER)
TEES
Suppliers Business ethics and credit Business contracts, meetings
HAER Fair trade E(BEN B8R
Mutually beneficial strategic alliances
Corporate governance
FEEENER
NERS
EZEEH BB
TtEES
Community Community development Volunteer/community work and charitable
& Social welfare activities

HEERE
HEEH

BT HERBREEED




CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

HERER®RSE (F)

Materiality Assessment

In assessing materiality of ESG issues which are considered important
to our investors and stakeholders, the Company takes into account the
reporting principles as set out in the ESG Guide, our business nature
and principal activity, and the results of stakeholders’ engagement. We
will review and revise our ESG strategy as appropriate based on the
materiality assessment.

EEMFME
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Material ESG issues of the Group TEENEERE  HEREARER
- Customers’ Data Protection and Privacy - HPEURRERTE

- Service Quality and Safety - REEEHZZ

- Supply Chain Management - {HrEREIE

- Business Ethics - WEEE

- Employee Relations - RERE

- Labour Standards - TR

- Development and Training - BRI

- Occupational Health and Safety - BERREREZE

Given the fact that the Company is an e-commerce services company,
the four aspects under the Environmental area of the ESG Guide, namely
Emissions, Use of Resources, The Environment and Natural Resources,
and Climate Change are not considered as material ESG issues which
are sufficiently important to investors and other stakeholders that
they should be reported in this ESG Report in accordance with the ESG
Guide. The respective reasons are as follows:

Emissions — the Company’s operations do not involve any air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste in significant
quantities. There are no relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the Company regarding Emissions.

Use of Resources — the Company’s operations do not involve any
direct and/or indirect energy consumption (e.g. electricity, gas, oil and
other raw materials) and water consumption in significant quantities.
In addition, the Company’s operations do not involve any packaging
materials used for finished products as the Company does not deliver
tangible products.
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RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Materiality Assessment (Continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources - the Company considers
that its business nature and operations have no significant impact on
environment and natural resources.

Climate Change — the Company is aware of significant climate-related
issues such as high temperature, typhoon, flooding, wildfire or other
extreme weathers. As mentioned above, our Company’s operations do
not involve any air and greenhouse gas emissions and therefore we
do not consider climate change as a material ESG issue which needs
to be disclosed. Nevertheless, the Company has already adopted a
systematic approach to include management and monitoring of climate
risks in our risk management process. Also, we have implemented
several environmental policies to run our business in a responsible
manner and those actions are listed out under the heading “Our
Environmental Policies and Actions Taken”. At the same time, we have
devised policy on staff's work arrangements under adverse weather
conditions so that possible impacts on the Company’s operations can
be mitigated and our staff's safety can be protected in case of adverse
weather conditions during work days.

Anyhow, the Company understands the importance of environmental
protection and undoubtedly supports it. In this regard, the Company
constantly reminds its staff to protect the environment and use
energy and resources effectively and efficiently by issuing policies
and guidelines on the related subjects. In this ESG Report, we would
voluntarily disclose the policies and practices which have been adopted
by the Company with a view to conserving the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Our Environmental Policies and Actions Taken

The Company has implemented several environmental policies to
protect the environment. We have been running and will continue to
run our business in a responsible manner and minimise environmental
pollution.

The Company takes actions in daily operations to reduce environmental
impact. They include:

- using LED lamps, and reminding staff of turning off lights and air-
conditioning when not in use or out of office,

- keeping air-conditioning at 25°C,

- installing of a new air-conditioning system in the office to improve
the air quality and save energy consumption and costs,

- posting internal posters on saving water,

- installing tap water controllers to limit the water flow and speed
to save water consumption,

- setting up timer for air conditioners and water dispensers to save
electricity,

- using e-forms to reduce use of paper,

- installing recycling bins for metals, plastics and waste paper
collections in office, and

- replacing company cars with electric vehicles.

Besides, the Company produces corporate stationeries, reports and
souvenirs made by environment-friendly materials as far as possible
and uses recycled papers and toners to raise employees’ awareness
of efficient use of resources and conservation of the environment. The
Company supports and collaborates with organisations which promote
environmental protection. All these policies and actions aim at not only
environmental protection but also cost-saving for the Company.
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RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Our Environmental Policies and Actions Taken
(Continued)

The Company also promotes environmental awareness of our
employees and the good use of resources through different programs.
During the reporting year, the Company has mobilised our staff to
support Non-Governmental Organisations campaigns such as:

- collecting red packets for recycling and pledging to reduce the
printing quantity of company red packets, and

- collecting mooncake boxes for recycling.

ESG-related Goals, Targets and Progress Review

As elaborated above, unless there are any changes in the Company’s
ESG strategy in the future, the aspects under the Environmental area (i.e.
Emissions, Use of Resources, The Environment and Natural Resources,
Climate Change) are not considered as material ESG issues which are
sufficiently important to investors and other stakeholders that they
should be reported in our ESG Report in accordance with the ESG Guide.
As such, no goals and targets were set for relevant KPIs of Emissions
and Use of Resources aspects and also accordingly, review against the
progress is inapplicable to the Company. As regards Social aspects, the
Board will monitor and assess the progress regularly by using relevant
KPIs to achieve our goals and targets.
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RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

With our operations in Hong Kong, a breakdown of our total workforce
in Hong Kong and the employee turnover rate in 2023 by gender, age

e

EBREEEIER
EE

RMPREBEERT > BRARN

TEC=FE

B~ AN RERERMEASNERREBE/ABK

group and employment type are shown below: B EMAZRMMT -
Number of Employee
employees turnover rate
EEAH EBEREAE
Our workforce in Hong Kong BEBET 204 18.14%
By gender BRI &5
Female Z% 94 10.64%
Male Bk 110 24.55%
By age group RERAERE D
<25 <25p% 10 70.00%
25-29 258 295% 32 46.88%
30-39 30E395% 47 14.89%
40 - 49 40FE495% 58 12.07%
> 50 >505% 57 1.75%
By employment type REBERES
Full-time 2 204 18.14%
Part-time RO 0 0%

The Company manages its human resources and maintains its
relationship with the employees in compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong Kong), the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485, Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608, Laws of Hong Kong) and the relevant
legislations against discrimination, including the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 602, Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480, Laws of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487, Laws of Hong Kong) and the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527, Laws of Hong Kong).

To the Company, employees are valuable assets. The Company
provides equal employment opportunity and competitive remuneration
packages to attract and retain employees. The Company has issued
and would continue to review and update our policies and guidelines
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare.
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RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Employment (Continued)

The Company offers employee benefits better than the requirements
of the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong Kong), such as
fully-paid sick leave, maternity leave and paternity leave, and provides
birthday leave, vaccination leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave,
examination leave, voluntary service leave, medical insurance and ex-
gratia payment to retiring employees. The Company has employed
disabled employees and provided them with disability-friendly working
environment. The Company has adopted a lactation policy and provided
a lactation room to support breastfeeding mothers as part of the
Company’s family-friendly policies and benefits.

In order to promote work-life balance, the Company provides flexible
working hours to employees and makes part-time job arrangement as
appropriate for working parents. The Company has also designated a
room to be the common room for holding staff social activities.

Health and Safety

The Company provides a safe and healthy working environment and
protects employees from occupational hazards in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including but without limitation to the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509, Laws of Hong
Kong) and the subsidiary regulations relating thereto.

After the COVID-19 pandemic, Hong Kong has returned to normalcy in
2023. Tradelink also resumed normal staff activities in 2023, including
staff annual dinner, year-end celebration and provision of fruit to staff
twice weekly.

The Company has purchased an Automated External Defibrillator
(“AED"). Training on AED was provided to staff. From time to time, the
Company provides occupational health and safety information to its
employees so as to raise their awareness on workplace safety.

The Company always puts office safety as its top priority. The
Company would do its utmost to minimise the risk of fire in our offices.
In accordance with fire regulations, all Tradelink offices have been
installed with fire sprinklers and fire extinguishers, which are checked
annually by qualified persons. In order to increase the staff's safety
awareness, fire drill is conducted regularly to show the location of fire
exits and the way to the exit in case of a fire. Training on fire safety is
also organised for our staff.
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TECFER-EEBETESZARAT

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety (Continued)

With the relevant precautionary measures and training taken, the work-
related fatalities and lost days due to work injury were maintained at
zero in the past three years (including the reporting year). This record is
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encouraging and we will strive to keep it at a zero level. —5CER o
2023 2022 2021
—EB-=F —E-F —E-—5F
Number and rate of work-related AITHHAERLLE 0 0 0
fatalities occurred 0% 0% 0%
Lost days due to work injury EIBEBELINIERE 0 0 0
Development and Training BRRIEI
To encourage cultivation of internal talents and enhancement of our ZABEBEIASIEEAT » REETINEERENTF

staff's professional skills and competitiveness, the Company has in
place policy on provision of training subsidy. The Company supports
employees to attend external, job-related training courses and seminars
to improve their knowledge and skills for discharging their work duties
and enhance their career progression. Moreover, the Company provides
training subsidy to staff for payment of course fees and examination
fees for job-related courses or qualifications.

71 AREEFIEBNENEER c ZRBEZFREE
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Percentage of
employees trained

ZIREFT

Average training
hours completed
per employee
BEEEN

FHZ IR

By gender BR85S

Male 5

Female 7

By employee category REESERES
Senior Management BREEAS

Vice President and Senior Vice President  BI4B& NS4k EI4EE
Manager FESE

General staff —fRET

22.73%
34.04%

20.00%
15.38%
28.00%
30.89%

1.24
2.17

0.6
5.44
1.05
1.17
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Labour Standards

Employment of child labour and forced labour is expressly and strictly
forbidden. The Company abides by the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57, Laws of Hong Kong) and its regulations and have not employed any
child and forced labour.

The Company has established appropriate procedures in the
recruitment process, including the examination of candidates’ identity
cards and other supporting documents to prevent wrongful recruitment
of child labour and illegal labour. We also confirm the willingness of
candidates to work in order to eliminate forced labour. The Company’s
Human Resources Department is responsible for checking and verifying
the background, identity and qualification of each new hire. If any
employee is identified as child labour, illegal labour or forced labour,
the Company would terminate his/her contract immediately and report
to the relevant regulatory authorities. Besides, we regularly assess our
risk management and internal control systems to ensure that effective
measures have been adopted to avoid employment risks.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Company is committed to building mutually beneficial longstanding
relationships with suppliers and partners so as to support our day-to-
day business operations as well as the delivery of quality product and
service to customers.

During the reporting year, the number of suppliers by geographical
breakdown is as follows:
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Geographical region

Number of suppliers

ihE HERE A
Hong Kong &8 136
Mainland China R E Ay 6
Regions outside China FREI SR E 34

We understand the environmental and social impacts throughout the
supply chain.

HIVREAMAERE LIRIRIBTNIRE R ERE -



CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

As an e-commerce service provider, most of our purchases are IT
services-related (e.g. cloud services, facilities management services,
IT security services) which do not involve any environmental risks.
Anyhow, we aim to promote local sourcing as far as possible in order
to minimise the carbon emission derived from transportation. In 2023,
around 81.12% of suppliers from whom we sourced are Hong Kong-
based.

We support or collaborate with organisations which promote
environmental protection. In the Company’s procurement policy, it is
specifically stated that the Company would use its reasonably best
endeavours to select and engage suppliers which are in compliance
with their local environmental and labour laws. Moreover, the Company
requests our key suppliers to provide written compliance confirmations
confirming, inter alia, that they are in compliance with their local
environmental laws and regulations and they will run their businesses in
a responsible manner and minimise environmental pollution. During the
reporting year, the Company was not aware of key suppliers which had
any actions or practices with a significant negative impact on business
ethics, environmental protection, human rights and labour practices.

For our annual and interim reports printing, we specifically require our
supplier to use environment-friendly paper.

Product Responsibility

The Company provides hotline service, on-site technical support
and training for customers who use our services and products. The
Company also pledges to continuously improve our service and
products through enhancements and upgrades with an aim to deliver
the best possible reliable and quality solutions to our customers. The
Company does its best to meet with the set service targets and strives
to achieve high standard in different aspects of our operations.

To uphold our pledge to customers to deliver reliable and quality
services, the Company implements a quality management system
for our customer services which is ISO 9001:2015 certified. The
certification demonstrates our ability to consistently provide products
and services that meet with customer and applicable statutory and
regulatory requirements, and our commitment to enhance customer
satisfaction. The 1ISO 9001 standard is based on a number of quality
management principles including a strong customer focus, the
motivation and implication of top management, the process approach
and continual improvement.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

The Company observes the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “PDPOQ") and the data protection
principles under the PDPO in conducting our business. The Company
educates and requires our staff to handle personal data of our
customers carefully and properly. Access to the personal data of
customers is limited to those employees who have a genuine need to
access to such personal data in order to perform the services to the
customers. The Company will only process the personal data of our
customers to the extent, and in such a manner, as is necessary for
the purposes of provision of our services and in accordance with the
customers’ instructions and will not process the personal data for any
other purposes. The Company will not disclose the personal data of
our customers to other third parties without the consent of customers.
The Company stipulates clearly our privacy obligations to customers
in our Privacy Policy which will be reviewed and updated from time to
time to take into account any legislative amendments to the PDPO,
other applicable privacy law and trends and practices in other mature
jurisdictions.

Like all other technology companies, the Company regards our
intellectual property (“IP”) rights as the lifeblood for our businesses and
operations. Accordingly, the Company has developed and deployed
coherent strategies in protecting our IP rights. These include first of all
registration of all IP rights the protection or perfection of which depend
on registration, whether locally or overseas. Second, the Company has
put in place contractual safeguards to ensure all IP rights invented or
developed by our employees during the course of their employments
are vested in and belong to the Company absolutely. Thirdly, the
Company has daily practices in place on observing and respecting
the IP rights of third parties. We remind staff on a continual basis to
use only licensed software. A monitoring software is also in place to
check any unauthorised software installed by staff. Education and
trainings on prevention of IP right infringement and the consequential
risks are provided to new staff and those relevant staff to enhance
internal awareness. Internal control practices to identify and detect
the relevant businesses, operations or activities of the Company
that are more prone to infringing third-party IP rights and the related
remedial measures have been developed and put into effect, thereby
substantially alleviating the risk of infringing IP rights of third parties.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

The Company has implemented quality assurance process to ensure
quality of our product throughout its development cycle. Quality
standards and procedures are put in place to define, plan and develop
quality products. Formal reviews, walkthroughs, and inspections are
conducted to enforce the quality. Moreover, defects are tracked and
reviewed at each phase of the production process. Major product
deliverables are validated against an acceptable level of quality. All
our products are thoroughly tested before they are handed over to
customers.
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this item is not applicable
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During the reporting year, the Company was not aware of any incident
of non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Company relating to advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress.

Anti-corruption

The Company has zero tolerance to any form of corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. As a matter of fact, the
Company is deemed a “public body” under the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201, Laws of Hong Kong) to reflect the nature of the
GETS services and the Company’s market position as a major service
provider with a licence granted by the Hong Kong Government in
running important public functions. In this regard, Senior Management
and Directors who will likely be regarded as “public officials” for the
purpose of the common law offence, have been advised on their
various liabilities under the common law offence on “misconduct in
public office”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

For employees in general, in order to comply with Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201, Laws of Hong Kong) and Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615, Laws of Hong
Kong) as well as other relevant anti-corruption laws and regulations, the
Company has adopted the Code of Ethics and Conduct and the Anti-
corruption Policy, both of which are applicable to all employees of the
Group. The Anti-corruption Policy was adopted by the Company with a
view to further strengthening the anti-corruption initiatives and is based
on the recommendations in the CG Guide, relevant provisions in the
existing Code of Ethics and Conduct for employees and further taking
into consideration the view and advice of the ICAC. The Anti-Corruption
Policy applies not only to all employees, but also all Directors and
officers of the Company, as well as external parties doing business with
Tradelink and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf
of Tradelink (e.g. agents, consultants and contractors).

The Code of Ethics and Conduct and the Anti-corruption Policy, which
are subject to the review and comment by Corporate Governance
Committee and ICAC, provide the details about the liabilities as
employees of a public body. All employees are required to read the
same and understand and observe them both in letter and in spirit at all
times. They must observe the prescribed standards of behavior when
performing duties at work. The Code of Ethics and Conduct and the
Anti-corruption Policy address, inter alia, the following key areas:

- Proprietary and Confidential Information

- Conflict of Interest

- Prevention of Bribery

- Gifts, Gratuities, Hospitality

- Notification of Suspected Corrupt Conduct

- Personal and Private Dealings
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

From time to time, the Company invites ICAC to conduct anti-corruption
talks to our new staff and also Directors where practicable to enhance
their ethical standards in performing their duties.

The Company has updated the Whistleblowing Procedures to the
Whistleblowing Policy, which shall be reviewed by Audit Committee
on an annual basis. The Whistleblowing Policy has incorporated
the recommendations of the CG Guide, including protection against
retaliation and victimisation, confidential and discreet handling of
reports and consequences of false reports. It aims at encouraging staff
and also those who deal with the Company (e.g. customers, suppliers,
contractors etc.) to report, on a confidential basis, any suspected
misconduct, malpractice, impropriety, dishonesty, corruption, fraud,
illegal activity, breach of law or fiduciary duties, conflict of interests,
abuse of power or wrongdoing within the Company which they become
aware of to the Vice President (Internal Audit) or Head of Human
Resources (as appropriate) of the Company, who are the delegate
of Audit Committee. An Investigating Officer will be appointed to
investigate the allegations in the report, which will be treated in strict
confidence and restricted to need-to-know basis. No such report was
received during the reporting year.

There are no legal cases or concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Company or its employees during the
reporting year and this is in line with our target.

Community

Community Investment

With our commitment to help improving the community well-being,
we listen to the community’s needs and continuously encourage our
staff, customers, their families and friends to participate in different
voluntary activities. To this end, one measure which the Company has
introduced to motivate staff to participate in voluntary services is our
implementation of a voluntary service leave policy under which a staff
can take up to 2 days’ full paid leave in a year for his/her participation
in service of a charitable nature. During the reporting year, 10.5 days of
voluntary service leave were taken by our staff in total. We encouraged
our staff to bring community involvement into their daily life by putting
words into action.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE - HBRERARS (HE)

Social (Continued)

Community (Continued)

Community Investment (Continued)

During the reporting year, the Company addressed its concerns
on conservation, environment preservation and animal welfare. In
conjunction with the celebration of the Company’s 35th anniversary, we
participated and invited our customers to join us in participating in the
following charitable and community work:

. Beach Cleanup with Plastic Free Seas

Tradelink co-organised a beach cleanup event with Plastic Free
Seas at Sam Pak Wan, Discovery Bay on 18 March 2023 to
promote environmental stewardship and preserve the natural
beauty of our coastline. Over 30 Tradelink’s staff and customers
were engaged and 68 kg of waste including 77 plastic bottles
was collected.

. Dog Volunteer Event with Sai Kung Stray Friends Foundation
(“SKSFF")

Tradelink co-organised a dog volunteer event on 20 May 2023
at the SKSFF shelter where over 150 stray, abandoned, sick and
injured dogs were rescued and provided with medical care and
rehabilitation. Over 20 Tradelink customers and colleagues joined
the event to aid with dog walking and assist in preparing meals
for the dogs and cleaning the kennels.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR  #HE8RERES (HE)

Social (Continued) HE @

Community (Continued) & ()

Community Investment (Continued) HERE(E)

. Ocean Park Conservation Tour organised with Ocean Park . HEBSFEABREES(OPCF) AR EF

Conservation Foundation Hong Kong (“OPCF")

Around 40 Tradelink customers and staff joined the Ocean Park
Conservation Tour we co-organised with OPCF on 22 July 2023.
The event included a guided tour of the Hong Kong Marine Life
Stranding and Education Centre. During the tour, conservation
work for stranded marine life within Hong Kong waters was
introduced. We also had a chance to take a behind-the-scene
tour to witness the daily care routine of seals at Ocean Park. The
event raised participants’ awareness of the threats from human
activities on marine life and the importance of conservation
efforts.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - -#H#E8RERKE (E)

Social (Continued)

Community (Continued)

Community Investment (Continued)

Animal Shelter Volunteer Day at House of Joy & Mercy

Tradelink co-organised an animal shelter volunteer day on 28
October 2023 with House of Joy & Mercy, where over 250 animals
including dogs, cats, goats and turtles were rescued and cared
for. Around 15 Tradelink customers and staff participated in the
event to make an effort to contribute to the animal shelter by
assisting the cleaning of the kennels and caring of the animals.
The event raised participants’ awareness of the pet abandonment
issue in Hong Kong.

Organic Farming Experience with Produce Green Foundation

Tradelink co-organised an organic farming activity with Produce
Green Foundation on 9 December 2023. Over 35 Tradelink
customers and staff joined to visit the first-in-Hong Kong
educational organic farm. Through hands-on experience of farm
work and making organic bread, participants learnt a lot about
the values and benefits of organic agriculture. Participants also
received a potted plant kit as a gift by Produce Green Foundation
which enabled them to continue practicing organic planting at
home.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  #HEREREBE (A)

Social (Continued)

Charity Donation

To promote our care for the community and continued support for
the disadvantaged and poverty alleviation, we not only participated in
voluntary services and donation, but also encouraged our customers
to join in with us. Under our customer loyalty program, customers
could convert their bonus points to become charity donations to our
two charitable organisation partners, which is Direction Association
for the Handicapped and Oxfam Hong Kong. During the reporting year,
we had 707 customers donated a total of HK$14,760 via the Company
by converting their bonus points to these two charitable organisations.
Meanwhile, the Company also donated HK$10,153 to Oxfam Hong
Kong and Co Creer Limited for the aforesaid causes totally.

Community Recognition
In appreciation of the various social aspects of work we have done, we
are pleased that we currently have the following recognitions awarded

e ()

HERX

AIREMAEME  EEFHBHFRENHEER -
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FAHE10,1537T ©
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HARZELEHEENTFEEREE > LREERH
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by the relevant organisations.

Award:
#8197 .

Organiser:
FHEBEN

Award for Family — Friendly Employers to Tradelink
KERERE -EB58

Award for Breastfeeding Support to Tradelink
SR RMEE - E58E

Good MPF Employer Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
MMAEirEE - B 5B XDigi-Sign

Support for MPF Management Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
HETBEEEIRR - B 5B &Digi-Sign

e-Contribution Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
BEHEREFLHE - E5EMDigi-Sign

Caring Company Logo to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
M R ERIZIRSS - B 5B XDigi-Sign

“Green Office” label and “Eco-Healthy Workplace”
label in Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme

HEMAERES BN ENAE IR R RE TR IR

ESG+ Pledge Logo to Tradelink
TESGHINE I1F:E - BRE

Family Council and Home and Youth Affairs Bureau
REZSUNRKRBKREEEHR

Family Council and Home and Youth Affairs Bureau
REZSURRBREEEHE

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BEIELTBEHIAEER

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BHMEAEEEEER

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
REIMABEEAEER

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

BAMERTHE
World Green Organisation
R EAS

The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong

ERPEREHES
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Directors’ Report
EEEREE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting our Annual Report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Principal Place of Business

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong
and has registered office and principal place of business at 11th and
12th Floors, Tower B, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of GETS for
processing certain official trade-related documents. Leveraging our
core competence, we have diversified our business into other areas
including supply chain solutions, identity management solutions and
payment technology solutions, some of which being operated by the
Company’s subsidiaries.

The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group’s future business development and possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this Annual Report and these sections form part of this
report.

The Group’s financial risks are shown in Note 25 to the “Notes to the
Financial Statements”.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
KPIs can be found throughout this Annual Report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

The Board believes that a strict compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations is pivotal to the success of the Company. For this
purpose, the Board has delegated responsibilities to Audit Committee,
Corporate Governance Committee and Senior Management to monitor
and implement the Company’s policies and practices in compliance
with the legal and regulatory requirements that have a significant
impact on the Company.

As an entity incorporated and listed in Hong Kong, the Company is
governed, managed and operated pursuant to the CO, the SFO and
the Listing Rules on the corporate level. The Board has adopted the
Model Code, and its committees have their own terms of reference
defining their respective rights, duties and obligations. Besides, the
Company is deemed to be a “public body” under the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201, Laws of Hong Kong) to reflect the nature
of the GETS services and the Company’s market position as a major
service provider with a licence granted by the Hong Kong Government
in running important public functions. The Company has also acted in
strict compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of
Hong Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap.
485, Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608,
Laws of Hong Kong) and various legislations against discrimination
including the Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602, Laws of Hong
Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480, Laws of Hong Kong),
Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487, Laws of Hong Kong) and
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527, Laws of Hong Kong).

On the operational level, the various businesses of the Group are
conducted in accordance with, among others, the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619, Laws of Hong Kong), the Unsolicited Electronic
Messages Ordinance (Cap. 593, Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486, Laws of Hong Kong) and the Electronic
Transactions Ordinance (Cap. 553, Laws of Hong Kong). The member
companies of the Group have registered trademarks and domain names
to protect IP rights, which are considered crucial to our businesses. In
particular, the Company conducts its core business of providing the
GETS services to the trading and logistics sectors in conformity with
the Import and Export Ordinance (Cap. 60, Laws of Hong Kong) and the
GETS Contract signed with the Hong Kong Government in addition to
the above-mentioned ordinances.

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT
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Business Review (Continued)

The Company has implemented several environmental policies relevant
to our business and operations to protect the environment. The
Company takes actions in daily operations to reduce environmental
impact. We have been running and will continue to run our business in a
responsible manner to minimise environmental pollution.

We manage our human resources and maintain our relationship with
the employees in strict compliance with the relevant employment
laws. The Company provides a safe and healthy working environment
and protects employees from occupational hazards. The Company
supports and subsidises employees to attend job-related trainings to
improve their knowledge and skills for discharging their duties at work
and enhance their career progression.

The Company values mutually beneficial and long-term relationships
with the suppliers and customers by developing mutual trust with
suppliers and providing high quality services to customers. The
Company provides hotline service, on-site technical support and training
for customers who use our services and products. The Company also
pledges to continuously improve our service and products through
enhancements and upgrades with an aim to delivering reliable and
quality solutions to our customers. We use reasonably best endeavors
to engage our suppliers which are in compliance with their local
environment and employment laws.

We would like to make positive contributions to the community in
various ways and also encourage our staff, customers, their families
and friends to participate in different voluntary activities. The
discussions in respect of specific ESG areas are shown in the section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this Annual
Report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the financial year is as follows:

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

FERFRHER

REBEERTERR MMHERE DRI BEAEEN
HERNRBEENNT ¢

Percentage of the Group'’s Total

HAEEAENE DL
Sales Purchases
HERE 238
The largest customer BRAER 3.8%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEE 15.4%
The largest supplier RAMER 3.4%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAHEES 10.4%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
interest in these major customers or suppliers.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs at that date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 128 to 233 of this Annual Report.

Recommended Dividend

An interim dividend of HK 3.7 cents per share (2022: HK 1.83 cents per
share) was paid on 6 October 2023.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK 6.3
cents per share (2022: a final dividend of HK 4.67 cents per share and
a special dividend of HK 2.75 cents per share) for the year ended 31
December 2023. The proposed dividends are expected to be paid on or
about 14 June 2024 to qualified shareholders subject to shareholders’
approval at the forthcoming AGM.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 74 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Share Capital

Details of issue of shares and movements in share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 24 to the “Notes to the
Financial Statements”.

Donations

The Group’s donations for charitable purposes during the year are
disclosed on page 95 of this Annual Report.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the
date of this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P.(”

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT®

Notes:

(1) Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. retired as an Independent Non-executive Director
with effect from the conclusion of the 2023 AGM.

) Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the 2023 AGM.
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EEEHREE(E)

Directors (Continued)

Biographical details of the Directors at the date of this report are shown
on pages 28 to 35 of this Annual Report.

In accordance with Article 96 of the Articles of Association, at each
AGM one third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not greater than
one third) shall retire from office. Mr. TSE Kam Keung, Dr. LEE Harry
Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P,, Mr. YING Tze Man and Ms. CHAN Chi Yan will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. TSE Kam Keung and Dr.
LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. being eligible, have offered themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM, whereas Mr. YING Tze Man
and Ms. CHAN Chi Yan have decided not to offer themselves for re-
election, in conformity with the Company’s Policy of Board Diversity,
Refreshment & Succession and Size and will retire after the conclusion
of the forthcoming AGM. Further, Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy will also
retire by resignation after the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM, in
conformity with the Company's Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment
& Succession and Size.

The Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the financial year
and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan

Ms. PANG Kit Fong

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject to the CO, every Director
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which the Director may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of the Director’'s office or otherwise in
relation thereto (save and except liability for negligence, default, breach
of duty or breach of trust which the Director may be guilty in relation
to the Company). Such permitted indemnity provision is in force at any
time during the financial year and at the time of approval of this report.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. was appointed as a Non-executive
Director on 19 September 2000 and is a director of TAL and accordingly
may be regarded as having interests in all contracts and other dealings
between TAL and members of the Group during the year under review.

Dr. LEE Delman was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 29
October 2012 and is the Vice Chairman of TAL and accordingly may
be regarded as having interests in all contracts and other dealings
between TAL and members of the Group during the year under review.

Apart from the foregoing, no contracts, transactions or arrangements
of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or
were parties, and in which a Director or any entities connected with the
Director had, directly or indirectly, a material interest, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory compensation.

All Directors shall retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules or at such time as may be required by
resolution of the Board.

Details of three Executive Directors’ employment contracts, four Non-
executive Directors’ and five Independent Non-executive Directors’
service contracts are set out below.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung signed an employment contract to act as the
CEO with effect from 1 July 2015, for a three-year term until 30 June
2018, subject to a three-month written notice to terminate the contract
by either the Company or Mr. TSE. The contract was extended upon
its expiration on 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2021 respectively, each
for a period of not more than three years with other terms remain
unchanged.
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Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

Under the employment contract of 30 August 2004 signed between
the Company and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew, the contract can
be terminated by the Company or Mr. CHENG by giving one month’s
notice or payment in lieu of notice. On 15 November 2011, Mr. CHENG
was appointed as Acting DCEO, and on 26 June 2012, he became the
DCEQO. In line with the business developments of the Company, he was
re-designated as the Chief Technology Officer of the Company on 1
January 2017.

Since the employment contract between the Company and Ms. CHUNG
Shun Kwan dated 20 March 2008, Ms. CHUNG has been appointed
as the Chief Operations Officer of the Company. The contract can be
terminated by the Company or Ms. CHUNG by giving one month’s notice
or payment in lieu of notice. Since Ms. CHUNG reached the retirement
age of 60 in 2016, Ms. CHUNG's appointment has been extended for
one-year period respectively by several employment contracts dated 13
July 2016, 17 July 2017, 16 July 2018, 16 July 2019, 22 July 2020, 19
July 2021, 19 July 2022 and 20 July 2023.

In the 2017 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with
three Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S,,
J.P., Dr. LEE Delman and Mr. YING Tze Man, and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and Ms. CHAN Chi
Yan, each for a period of three years. The respective service contract
can be terminated by the Company or the relevant Director by giving
one month’s notice in writing or payment in lieu of notice. The service
contracts with the aforesaid Directors were renewed for a period of
three years with other terms remain unchanged with effect from 8 May
2020 and 12 May 2023 respectively.

In the 2018 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with
a Non-executive Director Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr.
CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy and Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. (retired after
the conclusion of 2023 AGM), each for a period of three years. The
respective service contract can be terminated by the Company or the
relevant Director by giving one month’s notice in writing or payment in
lieu of notice. The service contracts with the aforesaid Directors were
renewed for a period of three years with other terms remain unchanged
with effect from 11 May 2021.
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Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

In the 2023 AGM, the Company entered into a service contract with an
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy,
G.B.S., J.P., FCILT, for a period of three years. The service contract can
be terminated by the Company or the Director by giving one month’s
notice in writing or payment in lieu of notice.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executives of the Company in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and SEHK pursuant to the Model Code are as
follows:

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
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LERYE

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Personal Corporate underlying total issued
Name of Directors interest interest Sub-total shares® Total shares
EERTRG
RERR BEEN
EENS ARE EERR Nt EEE @t BAk
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, SB.S,, J.P. FhfEtEL ) SBS, JP. - 196,798,000” 196,798,000 1,000,000 197,798,000 24.89%
Dr. LEE Delman FEKEL - 1011250007 101,125,000 300000 101,425,000 12.76%
Mr. YING Tze Man BYXEE - - - 300,000 300,000 0.04%
Mr. CHAK Hubert 2kt - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.13%
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay e - - - 600,000 600,000 0.08%
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy ERELE - - - 900,000 900,000 0.11%
Mr. TSE Kam Keung Eifitcyine 4,070,000 - 4,070,000 18,300,000 22,370,000 2.82%
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew BERLLE 2,755,843 - 2,755,843 9,500,000 12,255,843 1.54%
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan ] EFe3-gn 2,994,605 - 2,994,605 9,100,000 12,094,605 1.52%




Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures (Continued)

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
(Continued)

Notes:

(1)

@

3)

Apart

Of these shares, (a) 101,125,000 shares were held by TAL, in which Dr. LEE
Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. has indirect shareholding; and (b) 95,673,000 shares

is the sole shareholder and sole director. Accordingly, Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee,
S.B.S., J.P. is deemed to be interested in these shares under the SFO.

These shares were held by TAL, in which Dr. LEE Delman has indirect
shareholding. Accordingly, Dr. LEE Delman is deemed to be interested in these
shares under the SFO.

The interests in underlying shares represented the share options granted by the
Company to the Directors as beneficial owners under the share option scheme
of the Company, details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below.

from the foregoing, none of the Directors or the Chief Executives

of the Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years
of age has interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and SEHK pursuant to the Model Code.

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

EERRSITRAERKS - HERK
7R EREFRNER AR (&)

RERDRERRG NS TR (&)

Hst -

(1) HEZZRHH > (a)101,1250008BHETALIFE »
ELIEE L S.B.S., JP.HTALHHEHEEERE; &
(b)95,673,0008% f& 1} FiEastex (HK) Limited#$%5 » &
J3UE1E L > SB.S., JP.BEE—RERME—EE o A
It RIFE S REFE IR - F)3/E18 L > S.B.S., J.P.4%

(2) EERGATALIFE @ MFEFELITALFHER EER
W o AUt > RBEFRIEIER] - FEFELREBIE
ZERA PG e o

(3)  RHEEIRG FEIE R IE R L BRI R ISR IR T E
F (R HmEBN)BIFEIRIE - 1R IEHI TX R
HEEH B —Hp ©

Br EXXFRitSh » RABDEEFRERSITHRABRER
RENEMBH+/\BERUTHFREBEREQRRAE
AHREEE (ERERBHFRIAEHRMEXVE) B
1 ~ HEER G SRR P HEECHREREES N
EIRGIBIS2AR BT HENETMAZERIRE »
HIRBRETAESITHNERRABDREBMIFAZ
REREE o

105



106

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited « Annual Report 2023

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was adopted on 9
May 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme 2014"). Under the Share Option
Scheme 2014, the Board has the absolute discretion to offer any
employees (whether full or part-time), directors (including Independent
Non-executive Directors), consultants, business associates or advisers
of the Company or any company within the Group options to subscribe
for shares of the Company, provided that the total number of shares
issued or to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to any one
grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue. The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company
as nominal consideration for the grant upon acceptance of the offer
of an option. An offer must be accepted within 21 calendar days (from
and including the date of the offer by the Company). Each option has
a 10-year exercise period and the details of the Share Option Scheme
2014 (including but not limit to the vesting conditions, the fair value of
options at the date of grant and the accounting standard and policy
adopted) are set out in Note 23(a) and (b) to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements” on pages 206 to 217 of this Annual Report. The Share
Option Scheme 2014 will expire on 8 May 2024. However, share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 before its expiry date will
remain valid, subject to the same terms and conditions.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2014 is:

(a) to assist the Company to attract and retain the best available
personnel; and

(b) to provide additional incentives to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers to promote the
success of the Group,

by providing them with an opportunity to have a personal stake in
the Company through an offer of grant of options. The shares issued
subject to the Share Option Scheme 2014 will be identical in nature with
the other shares of the Company.

RS

TABREKNBREASN S -—NFEFRANAE
i (—Z—MERERES ) - REBE_T—NFRE
RS EFFUEENBERAARHAERE
TEAXRNEMRE (FREREGERE) - EF (8
BREIIIFATESE) « FXER - EHB A

BRI RBAQB RO EBRE - WIFTRE
REEITER > FATERPBAE TR E
TFEA—RABRANROBUEFIFEBBEELTE
BITRMEN% o HWBREZNE > KRARBE
NEIZIBEE1.007T  (FAERBRENKEXA
8- ARAMEREHAH(BERHER) #5121
RAEZEN - BHBRENTEREATE > =
T-MERRESD (BEERRIEB G - Bk
EREH BN AR EEUKRFARMN S St ERIK
BER) S BTN A F R E206 R EH217H 155
HRRMISE I 23(a) R (b) - —E—OFRBERES
RN _WERAR/\BER ° A > KEmE
RE-_T-NOEEREABIROOBRESNDRAE
R o M RARERR AR AR

TR -ERERESBENNT

(a) WEBIERRKRIINEBREST ; &

(b) HEE - EF - EXEMH - XBEBHNGEHE
Rt tEaSMER) - LUREREBAT) »

B ERREBRESSERATRHANEA
BRRERRREENERE - —T—NFEBRES
BIFMPNEETRNELSE LRXABTHMRHE
E o



Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 shall not
exceed in aggregate 10% of the issued capital of the Company at its
adoption date, being 79,207,319 shares on 9 May 2014 (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit"). Options that have lapsed shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription amount payable in respect of each share option upon
exercise of an option shall be determined by the Board and shall be not
less than the greater of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the SEHK’s daily
quotation sheet on the date, which must be a business day, of a
written offer of such option (the “Date of Grant”); and

(i)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in the SEHK's
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Date of Grant.

At the AGM of the Company on 8 May 2015, shareholders approved the
amendments to clauses 10.1(D), 10.1(E) and 2.1 of the Share Option
Scheme 2014. Such amendments to the Share Option Scheme 2014
give the Board a discretion to waive or extend the 90-day Limitation (as
defined in the Company’s Circular to shareholders dated 2 April 2015)
with authority to impose conditions to any such waiver or extension
and to provide an appropriate exercise period for each grant of options
during the scheme period. This provides the Board with necessary
flexibility it needs to deal, in the best interest of the Company, with
different types of situations that may arise over the course of the ten-
year validity period of the Share Option Scheme 2014.

CECFER-EEBETESARRAT

BRETE (&)

RIEZE—MFEERES BT RE N EERE
FLUTER A FRITHRMAESR » B BAS
NEFRMEREI —_E—MERB AR WEET
B&7Z<10%(B179,207,3190% A% 19) (T5+ B3I HEFREE]) ©
EHETEIREREER > BRMNBRIERSHE
Ao

E1T R ETMALS (7 B RE SRR BRIES
HEFRTETE BFARIRTIRSE :

() HBRENSEEVAH(RHEAH > ¥A
REXR) > RONBEMZFAEARERAR
SIEHE ; &

(i) BRRHBPHIAMBEERE  ROKEBHR
Fiig BIRERFTIBTFHWTHE o

RER-ZZ-—AFHEA/NBRETHNEARTDRRE
FREL  MHEBT T -—NFBRESINNE
10.1(D) ~ 10.1(E) 2. M&RIER - %5 _T—NEHER
BN T REESENEREHIERIOA R
(EERBBPA T —AENA_HMARATRER
BR) - AR TE B4 S B AE E RO AR FE R 14 WA Re 5t BI BRI A
RS EEREERNTER - LBTTREFE
HEARARENENAFRETRE_S—NEFEHE
RRIES B+ FEMPRE A REEENSEBR
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

As at the date of this Annual Report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the amended Share Option Scheme 2014 is
47,125,000 shares, representing approximately 5.93% of the issued
shares of the Company on that date.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the number of shares that may
be issued in respect of options granted under the amended Share
Option Scheme 2014 divided by the weighted average number of the
shares in issue for the year is around 0.06.

As provided under the transitional arrangements under the amended
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company would continue to make
grants to participants eligible under the amended Share Option Scheme
2014 until refreshment or expiry of the existing scheme mandate
on 8 May 2024, upon which the Company will be required to amend
the terms of the scheme to comply with the amended Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules and seek shareholders’ approval for a new scheme
mandate. The Board decided at the Board meeting held on 22 March
2024 that no new share option scheme would be adopted, however, the
outstanding options granted under the amended Share Option Scheme
2014 shall continue to be valid and exercisable up to the end of the
relevant exercise periods.

fERAER 8 ()

RAEFREE  RBEET T —OERBRESE
AR EEITHI IR (D AR 8N4 47,125,00082 8219 » 5% A
HAAE AT B #1TRN495.93% °

BE_Z_=F+_A=+—HLEE > BB
“E-IEBEREGEATERUNBRET T
TRIR M BB FRUER EH TR BIMAE T
#981#30.06 ©

AN ETH EH RSB+ CEETRBEZHE
RE > BARFAEEREBEEITI S —NFERERE
AmEERSEERLERE  EERAEIR
BR-ZE_NEHEA/\HEEFRERBL - B
KRB R AETRERIES BIRER > UFF 15T
B EHRAUB - CEL S RIRALENHEIRE -
BEGR_Z_NE=ZR_+HETHNESEY
HRTE N R FIRTIBARE ST B - AT > IRBEIE
5] — T — M E R AR 5T B IR BV R R AT 15 B8 B 1S
BEBUREITE > EEMERTEATERL -



Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share

options during the year:

TECFER-EEBETESZARAT

fERAER 8 ()

TRKEENETARBRENES)

No. of options
[apsed upon
termination of
employment/  No. of options Market value
No.of options ~ No. of options  No.of options  No. of options ~ expiryofthe  outstanding pershare  Market value
outstanding granted ~ exercised  cancelled 10-year asat ondateof  pershare
asat 1January during during during exercise 31 December Exercise  Exercise price grantof  onexercise
023 the year the year the year period 2023 Date of Grant period  pershare options ~~ of options"
ik BRLZE/ H-3-z%
-A-8 TEIRS T2A=1-8 RRLERE BREGRE
WATRN  ERREN  ERORN  FARED ERRAME  HAGRM BESRRE SRR
BhESE BREEE  BRREE  RREHR  BREME  BREEE RhAH fik8  SRORE i HmE"
HKS HKS HKS
AR b L
Directors
]
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, 8.5, J.P. 900,000 - - - 900000 30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
FNERL ) S8S,JP. “E-MErA=1A 1
100000 - - - 100000 02/07/2015 10years 178 13 -
“E-1EtRCA T
Dr. LEE Delman 200,000 - - - - 200000 30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
TEAfEL ZE-MERA=HA T
100000 - - - - 100000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
“E-REtACH 1§
Mr. YING Tze Man 200,000 - - - - 200000 30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
£735E “E-MErA=1A 1
100000 - - - - 100000 02/07/2015 10years 178 13 -
“E-REtRCA T8
Mr. CHAK Hubert 900,000 - - - - 900000  30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
Bart Z5-MERA=TA t§
100000 - - - - 100000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
“B-RELACH 5
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEgHREE(HE)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

fERAER 8 ()

No. of options

|apsed upon
termination of
employment/  No. of options Market value
No.of options  No. of options ~ No. of options ~ No.of options ~ expiryofthe ~ outstanding pershare  Market value
outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled 10-year asat ondateof  pershare
asat 1January during during during exercise 31 December Exercise  Exercise price grantof  onexercise
2003 the year the year the year period 2023 Date of Grant period per share options  of options"
H-g-zf RALEE/ H-3-zf
-A-8 TEIES T2A=1-5 HELERE BREGEN
HAGRN  ERREN  ERORN  FASEN BRRAMY  HAGRY REERRE  SRRG
EREEE BREHE EREHE RREMR  BREER  BREXE RiEH fik®  SRORE g W
HKS HKS HKS
An A L
Mr. CHAU Tk Hay 500000 - - - - 500000 30/06/2014 10 years 19 190 -
BEERE “E-MErA=1A t#
100000 - - - 100000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
ZI-RELACH tf
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kvwok Jimmy 800,000 - - - - 800000 30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
EhERE “E-MERA=HR 1§
100000 - - - - 100000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
TE-REtACH 1
Mr.HO Lap Kee, MH, JP 900,000 - - (900,000) - 30/06/2014 10 years 19 190 -
fIIERE MH, JP “E-MErA=1A 1
100000 - - - (100,000) - 00772015 10 years 178 13 -
“E-REtRCA T8



Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

TECFER-EEBETESZARAT

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESTEI(E)
No. of options
|apsed upon
termination of
employment/  No. of options Market value
No.of options  No. of options ~ No. of options ~ No.of options ~ expiryof the ~ outstanding pershare  Market value
outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled 10-year asat ondateof  pershare
asat 1January during during during exercise 31 December Exercise  Exercise price grantof  onexercise
2003 the year the year the year period 2023 Date of Grant period per share options  of options"
H-g-zf RALEE/ H-3-zf
-f-8 TETRE T=A=1-8 HELBRE BREGRR
HAGRN  ERREN  ERORN  FASEN BERRAMY  HAGRY REERES  SRERE
BhESR BREEE  BREHE BRERE  BREHR  RREEE RiRH fik®  SRORE ti Hm g
HKS HKS HKS
L A i
Mr. TSE Kam Keung 200000 - - - 200000 30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
Eiiichd “E-MErA=1A t#
100000 - - - 100000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
ZI-RELACH tf
1,200,000 - - - - 1200000 O4/07/2016 10 years 157 156 -
“3-7ELANR 1§
2400000 - - - - 2400000 28/0472017 10 years 1592 15 -
“Z-tEMAZTAR 1
2400000 - - - - 2400000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 133 -
Z%-)\kRAPH 1
2400000 - - - - 2400000 12/04/2019 10years 1406 139 -
“E-EmATIR t#
2400000 - - - 2400000 17/04/2020 10years 109 109 -
ZECEEMATER 1
2400000 - - - 2400000 16/04/2021 10years 12 116 -
“2_-EMA+A 1
2400000 - - - 2400000 19/04/2022 10years 117 116 -
ZE_CEMATAR 1
- 2400000 - - - 2400000 21/042023 10years 0.958 095 -

ZE_CENAZ+-R

TE
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

ESEHEE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESTEI(E)
No. of options
|apsed upon
termination of
employment/  No. of options Market value
No.of options  No. of options ~ No. of options ~ No.of options ~ expiryofthe ~ outstanding pershare  Market value
outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled 10-year asat ondateof  pershare
asat 1January during during during exercise 31 December Exercise  Exercise price grantof  onexercise
2003 the year the year the year period 2023 Date of Grant period per share options  of options"
H-g-zf RALEE/ H-3-zf
-A-8 TETRE T=A=1-8 HELBRE BREGRR
HAGRN  ERREN  ERORN  FASEN BRRAMY  HAGRY REERES SRR
BhESR BREEE  BREHE  BRERE  BREHR  RREEE RARH fik®  SRORE ti T4
HKS HKS HKS
An A i
r. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew 1200000 - - - - 1200000 30/06/2014 10years 19 19 -
B = S t
1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
ZI-REACH t#
900,000 - - - - 900000 04/07/2016 10 years 157 156 -
“E-7ELAmA 1§
500000 - - - - 500000 28/04/2017 10 years 1592 15 -
“Z-tEMAZTAR 1
900,000 - - - - 900000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 133 -
Z%-)\kRAPH 1
1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 12/04/2019 10 years 1406 139 -
“E-EMATIR t#
1,000,000 - - - 1000000 17/04/2020 10years 109 109 -
ZECEEMATER t#
1,000,000 - - - 1000000 16/04/2021 10years 12 116 -
“2_-EMAt7A 1
1,000,000 - - - 1000000 19/04/2022 10years 117 116 -
ZE_CEMATAR T
- 1000000 - - 1000000 21/04/2023 10years 0.958 095 -
ZECZEMACH-H 1



Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

TECFER-EEBETESZARAT

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESTEI(E)
No. of options
|apsed upon
termination of
employment/  No. of options Market value
No.of options  No. of options ~ No. of options ~ No.of options ~ expiryof the ~ outstanding pershare  Market value
outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled 10-year asat ondateof  pershare
asat 1January during during during exercise 31 December Exercise  Exercise price grantof  onexercise
2003 the year the year the year period 2023 Date of Grant period per share options  of options"
H-g-zf RALEE/ H-3-zf
-f-8 TETRE T=A=1-8 HELBRE BREGRR
HAGRN  ERREN  ERORN  FASEN BERRAMY  HAGRY REERES  SRERE
BhESR BREEE  BREHE BRERE  BREHR  RREEE RiRH fik®  SRORE ti Hm g
HKS HKS HKS
L A i
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kiwan 500,000 - - - 500000 30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
BEELL “E-MErA=1A t#
700000 - - - 700000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
ZI-RELACH tf
900,000 - - - - 900000 04/07/2016 10 years 157 156 -
Z3-7ELANR 1§
1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 28/04/2017 10 years 1592 159 -
“Z-tEMAZTAR 1
1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 133 -
Z%-)\kRAPH 1
1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 12/04/2019 10years 1406 139 -
“E-EMATIR t#
1,000,000 - - - 1000000 17/04/2020 10years 109 109 -
ZECEEMATER t#
1,000,000 - - - 1000000 16/04/2021 10years 12 116 -
“2_-EMAt7A 1
1,000,000 - - - 1000000 19/04/2022 10years 117 116 -
ZE_CEMATAR T
- 1000000 - - 1000000 21/04/2023 10years 0,958 095 -

ZE_-ERAZ+-R

TE

113



114

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited « Annual Report 2023

Directors’ Report (Continued)

ESEHEE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESTEI(E)
No. of options
|apsed upon
termination of
employment/  No. of options Market value
No.of options  No. of options ~ No. of options ~ No.of options ~ expiryofthe ~ outstanding pershare  Market value
outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled 10-year asat ondateof  pershare
asat 1January during during during exercise 31 December Exercise  Exercise price grantof  onexercise
2003 the year the year the year period 2023 Date of Grant period per share options  of options"
H-g-zf RALEE/ H-3-zf
-A-8 TETRE T=A=1-8 HELBRE BREGRR
HAGRN  ERREN  ERORN  FASEN BRRAMY  HAGRY REERES SRR
BhESR BREEE  BREHE  BRERE  BREHR  RREEE RARH fik®  SRORE g T4
HKS HKS HKS
An A i
Employees 1300000 - - - (100000) 1200000  30/06/2014 10 years 19 190 -
L ZE-REAASHE 1
1,200000 - - - (100000) 1100000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
ZI-RELACH t#
1400000 - - - (200000) 1200000  04/07/2016 10 years 157 156 -
“3-7EtAmA 1§
1400000 - - - (200000) 1200000 28/04/2017 10 years 1592 15 -
ZE-tEMAZTR 1
2000000 - - - (500000) 1500000  04/05/2018 10 years 134 133 -
Z%-)\FEAMA tE
2300000 - - (800000) 1500000 12/04/2019 10years 1406 139 -
“E-1EMATIA 1
2400000 - - (800000) 1600000  17/04/2020 10years 109 109 -
ZECZEMATEA 1
2400000 - - (800000) 1600000 16/04/2021 10years 12 116 -
“Z_-EMAtA 1
3000000 - - - (800000) 2200000  19/04/2022 10years 117 116 -
ZEZ_CEMATAR 1
- 2400000 - - (200000) 2200000  21/04/203 10years 0,958 095 -
ZECZEMACH-H tE
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EEEHREE(E)

TECFER-EEBETESZARAT

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESTEI(E)
No. of options
|apsed upon
termination of
employment/  No. of options Market value
No.of options  No. of options ~ No. of options ~ No.of options ~ expiryof the ~ outstanding pershare  Market value
outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled 10-year asat ondateof  pershare
asat 1January during during during exercise 31 December Exercise  Exercise price grantof  onexercise
2003 the year the year the year period 2023 Date of Grant period per share options  of options"
H-g-zf RALEE/ H-3-zf
-A-H TEIES T2A=1-5 HELERE BREGEN
HAGRN  ERREN  ERORN  FASEN BERRAMY  HAGRY REERRE  SRRA
EREEE BREHE EREHE RREMR  BREER  BREEE RiBH fik®  SRORE e HmeE
HKS HKS HKS
L A L
Ex-employees 2900000 - - - - 2900000 30/06/2014 10 years 19 190 -
HE8 “E-MERA=1A tf
2900000 - - - - 2900000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 13 -
ZI-RELACH t#
2100000 - - - - 2100000 O4/07/2016 10 years 157 156 -
ZE-FtARA 1
500000 - - - - 500000 28/04/2017 10 years 1592 159 -
“3-tEMAZ R 1
Total 63400000 6800000 - (5500000 64700000
i
The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the A ATRH T TIEHEREEHEAREI S - =Fry

date on which the share options were granted on 21 April 2023 was

HKS0.96.

A Being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares 3

immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised.

# Mr. Ho Lap Kee, M.H., J.P. retired as a Director after the conclusion of 2023 #

AGM.

A o

RIBIEEFRF -

ABZ+—B)NKHERBE0.967T

BIZK 2 B B B AR i R 1R R IR 1T (2 H BR BT B9 I % P15

EUELEE MH, JPH - E_ZFERFBEAGHEFR
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

At its meeting on 20 March 2023, the Board approved (a) an allotment
of share options under the amended Share Option Scheme 2014 to
certain employees (the “Grantees”, including Directors) entitling them
to subscribe for a total of 6,800,000 ordinary shares of the Company
at HK$0.958 per share, and (b) recommendations of Remuneration
Committee regarding the setting of performance targets (that out
of a 5-level rating system of the Company’s staff appraisal scheme,
the Grantees must achieve rating at level 3 or better) and clawback
mechanism (that outstanding options granted but not yet vested and
exercised may be forfeited by the Board at its absolute discretion in the
event of serious misconduct, material misstatement of the Company’s
financial statements, breach of employment contract or termination
of employment due to misconduct) for the options to be granted, in
accordance with the new requirements in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The terms of grant are consistent with the amended Share Option
Scheme 2014. The Grantees may exercise the share options subject to
the conditions in the respective option offering letters. Particulars of the
share options granted (including the vesting conditions, performance
targets, clawback mechanism and fair value of the options granted and
the accounting policy adopted therefor) are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 21 April 2023 and Notes 1(q)(iii) and 23(a) to the
“Notes to the Financial Statements” respectively.

The options granted to the Directors are registered under the names of
the Directors who are also the beneficial owners. Taking into account
of the aforesaid matters, including the exercise period, performance
targets and clawback mechanism relating to the share options granted,
Remuneration Committee considered that such grant was appropriate,
aligned with the purpose of the amended Share Option Scheme 2014
and was in the interest of the Company and shareholders. Accordingly,
Remuneration Committee approved and made recommendation to the
Board to grant the share options to the relevant Directors.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07(2) of the Listing Rules, the number of options
available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit at the beginning
and the end of the financial year were 7,707,319 and 907,319
respectively. The Service Provider Sublimit (as defined in Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules) is not applicable to the Company as it has never
granted any options to Service Providers (as defined in Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company,
or its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company
or any other body corporate.

Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year, save for the amended Share
Option Scheme 2014 disclosed in this report.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

So far as it is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2023, the
interests and short positions of the persons, other than the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company, in shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of SFO were as follows:
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Aggregate Long Positions in Shares RERONETTER
Ordinary shares
EER
Approximate
percentage of
Registered Corporate Number total issued
shareholders interests of shares shares
HERITRA
BERR EERER RO%E AHENEIL
Substantial Shareholders FERR
South China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd. South China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd. - 101,125,000 101,125,000 12.73%
TAL Apparel Limited HERKERAF 101,125,000 - 101,125,000 12.73%
Eastex (HK) Limited @ Eastex (HK) Limited @ 95,673,000 95,673,000 12.04%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
(Continued)

Aggregate Long Positions in Shares (Continued)
Notes:

(1) The interest disclosed by South China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd. is the same as the
101,125,000 shares disclosed by TAL, its 100% owned subsidiary. Each of Dr.
LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. and LEE Delman has indirect shareholding in
TAL and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by TAL under the SFO.

(2)  Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. is the sole shareholder and sole director of
Eastex (HK) Limited. Accordingly, Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P. is deemed
to be interested in the shares held by Eastex (HK) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, so far as it is known to the Company, as at
31 December 2023, no person, other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives of the Company, had interests or short positions in shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of our Directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, we have maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

The Group had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions pursuant to the Listing Rules during 2023.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Company did not have any bank loans and borrowings as at 31
December 2023.

FERRRROREBRONERK
wE (&)

RROHEFTFAE @)
Misz -

(1) South China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd.FrigEERT#Ez BATAL
(R2B /B2 )P EE 107,125,000/ 52 14 B 5 —H#E A%
% o EJ3IEIEL - S.B.S, J.P.RFEEAKIF LI TALEHE
BRIERE » BiRIEE S REIE RGOSR GBI TALIF
BRI G o

(2)  ZFEJ3E1E#L 2 S.B.S, J.P.ZEastex (HK) Limitedd i —#g
HRIE—EE o AUt » IRIFFEZRIEER - F3IEIE
1 > S.B.S, J.P.i#§#E A Eastex (HK) Limited# & BI5& 1%
R s o

R EXFRREES  BAQRMM KT =
+TZRA=+—H > BEBEEAREQREERERST
HABISINIATRERB RO B PHEEC
BERIBREF MAE RIS 3361K A T REFHELM
RZ KA ©

RANARERE
REAATABRSNER > URMEFFRD > i
AEREM > AQTER EHRAFRENARE

R -
BREXZRFEBRERS
KIBZ=ER > AEELEIT AN LTRAUR
EHMEX SRS AMERS -

RITERR HAb SR

HRIEBEZ=ZF+"HA=+—H > ZR_FWEEME
TERKMER o



Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 234 of this Annual
Report.

Retirement Scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualifying employees. Particulars of this retirement scheme are set out
in Note 22 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. All Independent Non-executive Directors are
considered independent apart from their independence confirmations
received and also through their participations and discussion of the
Company’s business during the year which the Independent Non-
executive Directors demonstrated their ability to continue to bring
in fresh perspectives and independent judgements to the Board and
respective Board Committees.

Auditors
The External Auditors, KPMG, will retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for

the re-appointment of KPMG as our auditors is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Other Information
H & B

Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
21 May 2024 to Friday, 24 May 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered to
determine the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on Friday, 24 May 2024 (“2024 AGM"). In order to qualify to
attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all duly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration, no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 May 2024.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Friday, 31 May 2024 to Tuesday, 4 June 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all duly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration,
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 30 May 2024.
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Report of the Auditors
BB ESE

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 128 to 233, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
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Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a

REENEE

FREFFERRERFANFTERHE - RAHKE
CEMBRENENRAEENEE - WFEEH
BB ERGESUBRRRHARRKETERE
B RFEHLEREHEBNER -

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of front-end
Government Electronic Trading Services

RUMBEEE 7FE S R WSRER

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 141 to 144.
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The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENEHNAEEZEE

Revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of front-
end Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS”) for
processing certain official trade-related documents and
from project and other service income. Revenue from GETS
constitutes a major portion of the E-=Commerce segment,
which accounted for 61% of the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of
the promised service in the contract.

The Group uses complex information technology (“IT")
systems to track the point of service provision for GETS. The
calculation of the GETS charge is automatically performed
by the IT systems based on pre-defined key parameters,
including unit price and transaction volume.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue in
respect of GETS included the following:

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
identifying and evaluating the key relevant IT systems
and the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls, with particular
emphasis on the capturing and recording of GETS
transactions;

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
assessing the calculation logic of the pre-defined
formulae built into the IT systems and the related
parameters (including unit price and transaction volume)
used in the calculation of GETS charges;

comparing the details of the monthly manual journal
entries relating to the input into the accounting system
of aggregate GETS revenue with the reports generated
by the IT systems, on a sample basis;
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
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Key audit matter (Continued)

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of front-end
Government Electronic Trading Services

REEEEGE

REABBAETFES RO R EER

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 141 to 144.
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The Key Audit Matter
BRENSER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANEFOMEEZEE

A record of GETS transactions is generated by the IT systems
from which the GETS charges, in an aggregate amount, are
manually input into the accounting system on a monthly
basis.

We identified revenue recognition in respect of GETS as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the Group’s total
revenue and because the reliance on complex IT systems
with the subsequent manual input into the accounting
system increases the risk of error in recording revenue.
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comparing the unit price for each GETS charge as
recorded in the IT systems with details in contracts
signed with customers, on a sample basis, and to
test the operating effectiveness of internal controls in
respect of the authorization of and input of the unit price
changes;

comparing cash receipts from customers during the year
and subsequent to the financial year end with invoices
issued to customers during the year, on a sample basis;
and

inspecting underlying documentation for other manual
journal entries relating to revenue which were considered
to be material or met other specific risk-based criteria.
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibilities
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Miu Ling.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

REBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z2-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= B
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
g3 BT T BT T
Revenue U = 3 266,611 258,815
Cost of purchases FREER A (27,756) (18,167)
Staff costs [ZE=17%:N 5(a) (120,133) (118,610)
Depreciation e 5(b) (8,925) (8,479)
Other operating expenses Hth& &R 5(c) (31,611) (33,465)
Profit from operations R F 78,186 80,094
Other net income/(loss) Ht A~ (B518) /$ %8 6 32,161 (20,427)
Share of results of an associate PRl —FE B A B 4R 705 (585)
Profit before taxation BR B AT A 5 111,052 59,082
Taxation A 7(a) (10,413) (6,749)
Profit for the year REEZRF 100,639 52,333
Earnings per share (HK cents) SREF (B 13
Basic - N 12.7 6.6
Diluted b3y 12.7 6.6

The notes on pages 137 to 233 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 77.

BI7EEF23BENMEF BRI BHRRO—D -
A i A 2 B RS F A AR B ERRER

BANRSFHERIMETT -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeBEaRHEMEZEKAER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE—_ZT-_=F+_A=+—HLFE

2023 2022

—E= Sy
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt BET T BT

Profit for the year REERF 100,639 52,333
Other comprehensive income for the year rEEHMEZERE
(after tax and reclassification (BRBREH D ERER)

adjustments):

Items that may be reclassified subsequently HEBHEEHO/EERERMN

to profit or loss: EE
Exchange differences on translation of MBS BRI EENTER

financial statements of the operations RFTSEREZE

outside Hong Kong (823) (46)
Debt securities measured at fair value FhEMEEREEAR

through other comprehensive income BE(FVOCL) stEME

(“FVOCI”) - net movement in fair value BES- AREEEE

reserve A EBRE 12 - (1,148)

Total comprehensive income for the year AEELHEKRZHATE 99,816 51,139

The notes on pages 137 to 233 form part of these financial statements. 5 137BE E %233 MM sEER A FERRM—IF 9 -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2023 RZEBE-_=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—==-= Sy
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt BT T BT T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB RE 14(a) 25,483 20,756
Goodwill Gk 15(b) 9,976 9,976
Interest in an associate Fr{E—RE B E N m 16 5,145 -
Deferred tax assets IEERIEE E 8(b) 56 137
e 40660 30,869
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables and contract assets FEWEBRR M BB E 17 42,646 42,093
Other receivables, prepayments and other HAEKRRIE ~ FEIRIER
contract costs Hith &4 2s 18 17,577 19,557
Taxation recoverable AW EIRIE 8(a) - 2,953
Deposits with banks RITER 168,363 69,977
Cash and cash equivalents RENREEE 276,335 366,545
504,921 501,125
Non-current assets classified as assets DEARFEHEEEN
held for sale IERENE E 19 - 567
. s04921 501,692
Current liabilities RBAEE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities and FEIERRR ~ BB ENR
other payables HthFE B 20 159,638 163,291
Taxation payable FEATHRIE 8(a) 4,839 851
S 164477 164,142
_Netcurrentassets ARRERE 340444 337,550
Total assets less current liabilities EELBERRBERS 381,104 368,419
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BB R (A)

As at 31 December 2023 RZEBE-_=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —E--
Note HKS$'000 HK$'000
k=3 BT T BT
Non-current liabilities FnBEE
Provision for long service payments RIBRFZ EHH 21 2,017 2,810
Deferred tax liabilities IEERIEAE 8(b) 2,121 1,006
Other payables HthpE(dFIE 20 762 190
... 490 4006
NET ASSETS EEFE 376,204 364,413
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital (152N 24(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves B 80,111 68,320
TOTAL EQUITY HEREE 376,204 364,413

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22
March 2024.

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, sBS., J.P.
Chairman

TSE Kam Keung
Executive Director

The notes on pages 137 to 233 form part of these financial statements.

REFGN__Z_MFE=A -+ A ERIZETR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERBBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE—_ZT-_=—F+_A=+—HLFE

Share Capital  Exchange  Fair value Other  Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
NEfE

R BARE  EXRE e HHRE REEN  BREE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mg E%Tn B%TR  B¥Tn BRI E%TR  B¥Tn  ERTn

As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE--%-5-8 296,093 7217 739 1,148 12 73421 378,630
Changes in equity for 2022 ZEZZER
RARZEE
Dividends approved inrespectof ~ FEEEMARE
the previous year 17 - - - - - (51,254) (51,254)
Equity-settled share-based MREEEL MR HA
transactions HRNRS - 440 - - - - 440
Profit for the year KEERR - - - - - 52333 52,333
Other comprehensive income FEERM2ENRE
for the year - - (46) (1,148) - - (1,194)
Total comprehensive income rEE2ANEEE
for the year - - (46) (1,148) - 52,333 51,139
Dividends declared in respect TEEERBRENRE
of the current year 7 - - - - - (14,542) (14,542)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE=zZf
+=A=1+-H 296,093 7,657 693 - 12 59,958 364,413
Changes in equity for 2023 ZBIZEW
RAEZEE
Dividends approved inrespectof ~ HEEBEHAERE
the previous year 11 - - - - - (58,962) (58,962)
Equity-settled share-based MRS NRRA
transactions AR A - 338 - - - - 338
Lapse of share options BIRELY - (470) - - - 470 -
Profit for the year REEER] - - - - - 100639 100,639
Other comprehensive income rEEHMZENS
for the year - - (823) - - - (823)
Total comprehensive income FEERENEEE
for the year - - (823) - - 100,639 99,816
Dividends declared in respect FEEEARRENRE
of the current year 11 - - - - - (29,401) (29,401)
As at 31 December 2023 R=Z=zZf
+ZA=t-H 296,093 7525 (130) - 12 72,704 376,204

The notes on pages 137 to 233 form part of these financial statements.  $137EZE 552338 MM BRI IF MBI —Z D ©



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

=T
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—EC=FTZA=+T—RHILFE

2023 2022
—E=-= B
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
HiaE BT T BT
Operating activities ReEEE
Profit before taxation BRI AR 111,052 59,082
Adjustments for: P
Equity-settled share-based payment ARG R4S 30 LU A7 73 BB RY
=t 5(a) 338 440
Depreciation e 5(b) 8,925 8,479
Finance cost =1 %N 85 29
Impairment loss on trade receivables and FEUWER A N &4 & EREEE
contract assets 5(c) 379 173
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) BRI (W) P8 6 342 (171)
Gain on disposal of non-current assets HESEARMFLEZEEN
classified as assets held for sale IERENE EN R 6 (6,805) -
Reversal of impairment loss on interest H—EEE AT ERRE
in an associate 5188 6 (4,719) -
Share of results of an associate [Zi el i = /NSTE ¥ (705) 585
Net gain on disposals of property, HEME « BEREREWKE
plant and equipment e (9) -
Interest income on deposits with banks RITERBIFSUA 6 (20,412) (5,322)
Interest income on debt securities measured FBREMEEKERAAER
at FVOCI SFEMNEBEESIFEUA 6 - (245)
Net loss on disposals of debt securities HEZBHEMEZEREEAR
measured at FVOCI BEENEFHESNEIE
e 6 - 1,534
Investment income on other financial assets FEiBEFZ R ARNEE
measured at fair value through profit or (TFVPLL) st 2RV EMEFF5
loss (“FVPL"): BENKEWA !
- Units in investment funds - KREEEEN 6 - (887)
- An equity security - —IERAES 6 - (12)
Fair value loss on other financial assets EBEEEANEESEN
measured at FVPL: HMHBEEENARER
518 -
- Units in investment funds - KEREEN 6 - 16,686
- Debt and equity securities - B RRAES 6 - 15,819
Reversal of impairment loss on other HMIA & ERESIEEE
financial assets - (1,447)
Operating profit before changes in RTEEESBBHAHNLE
working capital el 88,471 94,743
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, FEUSERRR ~ SHEE « HMtAE
contract assets, other receivables, WA ~ FENRIEREMS
prepayments and other contract costs KA D  ($8h0) 2,264 (6,820)
Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors, FEITERFR ~ BB EREME
contract liabilities and other payables {FRRIEHE M, G 3,131 (6,429)
Decrease in customer deposits received BlEREESHD (5,843) (4,329)
Cash generated from operations REEENES 88,023 77,165



134 | Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited ¢« Annual Report 2023

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (ECEC=F T AT —RIEFE
2023 2022
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
HiaE BT T BT
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BRHEENER (14,054)
Tax outside Hong Kong paid BHEBIBIMNRIE - 3)
Refund of Hong Kong Profits Tax RESEFGER 2,404 -
Net cash generated from operating activities E& EBHELNE S FE 85,747 63,108
Investing activities RESEE
Payment for purchase of property, BAYIE « BENRERSZA
plant and equipment ;I (13,653) (5,704)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE « BEMRERS
plant and equipment ;I8 10 -
Net proceeds from disposals of non-current HEDEAFEHEEEN
assets classified as assets held for sale IERBEEPMTSRIBEFEE 6,220 -
Interest received BFIE 19,474 2,932
Placement of deposits with banks FEARITER (98,398) (26,373)
Proceeds from disposals of debt securities ~ HEBBEMBEEIRAR
measured at FVOCI BENENEHERSAART
IE - 8,253
Proceeds from disposals of other financial HEFAETRANBETSE
assets measured at FVPL: MEMMTEEENFRE
RIE
- Units in investment funds - KREEEEN - 79,961
- Debt and equity securities - BB RRAES - 145,874
Investment income on other financial assets BUWERAEERAABEE
measured at FVPL received: HMEMBZEEENKE
WA
- Units in investment funds -KEESE - 887
- An equity security - —IERAES - 12
Net cash (used in)/generated from REZB (A, BEEW

investing activities REFE (86,347) 205,842
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE—_ZT-_=F+_A=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—m—=fF -
Note HK$'000 HKS'000
Mtz BET T BT
Financing activities L& ST B
Capital element of lease rentals paid BEERENELSTE (1,162) (1,213)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSNHETER (85) (29)
Dividends paid to ordinary equity shareholders B {t7xA &1 3@ BR IR 1
of the Company HEANRKE (88,363) (65,796)
_Net cash used in financing activities RMAZBAANREER (896100  (67,038)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBRLZECGD)
cash equivalents EnFEE (90,210) 201,912
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January R—B—HHWEESRBESEE 366,545 164,633
Cash and cash equivalents as at R+t-A=+—HAMEER
31 December RE&E%E 276,335 366,545
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEIN
Bank deposits with maturity less than K=E8R AEIHAIRITER
3 months 262,317 350,085
Cash at bank and on hand RITMFEERE 14,018 16,460

276,335 366,545
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE—_ZT-_=—F+_A=+—HLFE

METHELNEHERGENHR

Reconciliation of lease liabilities arising from
financing activities:

TRALAEFREREZHNEAECRNET >
BERENFREES  METHELENEERR

The table below details changes in the Group’s lease liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Lease
liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which ZBHIREREELARKREREELSEBNLE
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's BRESREXRTHEAMEIFEEINESREN
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing &1f&°

activities.

2023 2022

—B-= =2
Note HKS$'000 HK$'000
/=3 BT T AT
As at 1 January n—A—H 884 1,200
Changes from financing cash flows: RMERSTENEE :

Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERENERTER (1,162) (1,213)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERESNFETER (85) (29)
Totalchanges from financing cash flows ~ MHERERENE®ME (1247) (1,242)

Other changes: Hih @5 :
Increase in lease liabilities mainly from FRFEREEEHENHEE
renewal of leases during the year BEEmM 1,748 897
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFR 14(b) 85 29
_Totalotherchanges Atwgewweswm . 188 926
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—8 1,470 884

B137EEF233AMMEBRMBRERN—ED

The notes on pages 137 to 233 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt 7% 3R R B 5%

1

Material accounting policies

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK").
Material accounting policies adopted by the Company and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 7(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 comprise the Group and the Group'’s
interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except for
other financial assets measured at their fair values (Note

1().

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (Note

1(x)).

1

TEEHHE

(@)

(b)

BB
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REMBH - ZZFMBRETEBRE
BMAERZAAERQR (TEBBFR)
sz ERRA(TERRA) PERARK
BHRE - ZRBAREMBAE (84
EEDFARANEEG BRI
Fo

BERGMAREMET(EBMBRS
ZRNEVMERT - BRERBFEENES
st IR E M AT IR AR A © N
SEHHAR > ARAIRER LA E

BERMERIEERFRED - GAERK
BERMBRERMEZ 1R -

B mERNERELE
BE_E_=ZF+-_A=+—HL=EE
Wi EMBHREK > GELERNREAER
Frfit—MEE AT o

RN BRERFIEANGERERESL
A » BEMMBEERSI 0 HURQ
AEETE W)

BEHENERBEERREERLAR
BEAHERESRBENE PHREE
BUBR (Hz21(x)) °



138 | Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited ¢« Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods. Major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 2.

1

TEEHBRERGE
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

0]

New and amended HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued the following new and
amended HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Making materiality judgements:
Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform-Pillar Two model rules

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied
any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

TEEHBRERGE

(c) EFBERL2H
(i) FRIRBERT(BFBHBREEL
EBEHAAGEMGTUTRE
SEAG S HRE R ERBFET
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B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(©)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (“Offsetting
Arrangement”) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Once the
Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an employer can
no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived
from its mandatory contributions to mandatory
provident fund (“MPF") scheme to reduce the long
service payment (“LSP”) in respect of an employee’s
service from the Transition Date (the abolition of
the “offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP
in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly
salary immediately before the Transition Date and the
years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides
accounting guidance relating to the offsetting
mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism.
In particular, the guidance indicates that entities
may account for the accrued benefits derived from
mandatory MPF contributions that are expected to
be used to reduce the LSP payable to an employee as
deemed contributions by that employee towards the
LSP.

1
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism (Continued)

However, applying this approach, upon the enactment
of the Amendment Ordinance in June 2022, it is no
longer permissible to apply the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 that previously allowed
such deemed contributions to be recognised as
reduction of service cost (negative service cost)
in the period the contributions were made; instead
these deemed contributions should be attributed to
periods of service in the same manner as the gross
LSP benefit.

The Group has applied the guidance and changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability.
The guidance does not have a material impact on
the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods that have been prepared or
presented.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit to
the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Transaction fees, handling fees and registration fees

Revenue is recognised when the related services
have been rendered.

(ii)  Annual subscription fees

Revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the subscription.

(iii) Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when
the control of the goods have been transferred
to customers, which is the point in time when
the customer takes possession of and accepts
the products, and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

(iv) Dividends
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the
date on which the Group's right to receive payment is
established.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

V)

(vi)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired).
However, for financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then
the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross
basis.

Services income
Maintenance and support income

Maintenance and support income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the service period.

Others

Services income is recognised when the related
services have been rendered.

When the outcome of a contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost
method, i.e. based on the proportion of the actual
costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are
expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 1(o).
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(vii) Other practical expedients applied
In additional, the Group has applied the practical
expedients of not disclosing the information related
to the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations if
the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) and impairment
losses (Note 1(k)):

- buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of
the leasehold land at the inception of the lease (see
Note 1()));

- interest in leasehold land; and

- other items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment (see Note 1(j)).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(e)

®

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
Leasehold improvements lower of 5 years or
the remaining term

of the lease

Platform hardware and software, 3 - 5years
computer and office equipment

Motor vehicles 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 5years

Building 20 years

Leasehold land unexpired term of the lease
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(®

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI") either
at fair value or at the NClI's proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the company. NCI in the results of the
group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between NCI and the equity
shareholders of the company. Loans from holders of NCI
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with Note
7(n) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any
impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale).
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(9)

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see
Note 1(x)). They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI") of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence
ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method together with
any other long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
its investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale) (see Note 7(x)).
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested
annually for impairment (see Note 7(k)).

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and an associate, are set
out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at FVPL for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.

(i) Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 1(d)(v)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

@)

Other investments in securities (Continued)

0]

Non-equity investments (Continued)

FVOCI-recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortised
cost. The difference between the fair value
and the amortised cost is recognised in other
comprehensive income. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

@)

@

Other investments in securities (Continued)

(i)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. If such election is made for a
particular investment, at the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings and
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(d)(iv).

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

@

As alessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

0

Leased assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items which,
for the Group are primarily office equipment. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
item, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the
associated lease payments are recognised in profit
or loss on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 7(e)

and 1(k)(ii)).

1

TEEHBRERGE

() HEEE®@®E
(i) EREEAGE

REERBAE > AEEER
REEENRBEER > EHIES
1N2EBIXUTHEEREEE
BREERN > BAEEMSE
ERMAERE - HEAKEEME
BEEETIHEE » AREERE
EERENEEERERBEERLS
b o fREER - HRANAER
NRREPRNRRREER S
RAPHEST ©

EEEELtL HEARID
REMEMEEMRRERS
WA E PRSI OF KRR
HHZFRTEEZERE > AU
ARG ERA R - ROD
% HEARZREIERAS
2 > MAERAXAEBERAE
RS o MIFBURIIERHER
PAE2EENRTEMAERES
B2 WRNEERBEE
B

REARCHERBINERESR
ENTREAE > HhEaER
EaENTRSREHRRLBEHN
FZ A FHNERAEMRIESY
HAE) > MEERMEENTKE
BRAE > RIFNRBEREREE
RERBHEENREEMEL
imEERN LA > WINEE
RPN ERE - EHAEEE
PR ¥E AR R 5t T B8 MR [E S
B8R (RAFaE1() R 1(k)(ii) °



152 | Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited ¢« Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

0

Leased assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost (see
Note 1(i)(i)). Any excess of the nominal value over
the initial fair value of the deposits is accounted for
as additional lease payments made and is included in
the cost of right-of use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the
Group changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In
such cases, the group has taken advantage of the
practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognised
the change in consideration as negative variable
lease payments in profit or loss in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.
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1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") on:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables);

- contract assets (see Note 1(1)); and

- non-equity securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling) (see Note 1(i)(i)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets, trade and other receivables and contract
assets are discounted using effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that result from
all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when the
financial asset is more than two years past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account, except for investments
in non-equity securities that are measured at
FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling) does
not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset
in the statement of financial position.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
group on terms that the group would not
consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the
recovery occurs.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories and other contract costs, contract
assets and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in
the CGU on a pro rata basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

0]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
Note 1(k)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 7(d)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(k)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 7(m)).
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B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

o

(m)

(n)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see Note 7(d)). A contract liability is
also recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognised (see Note

1(m)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 7(d)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (see Note 7(k)(i)).

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(0)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on historical
warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes
against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based on
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs directly related
to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established,
the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract (see Note 1(k)(ii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

Employee benefits

0]

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.

Defined benefit plan obligations

The Group has the defined benefit plan of LSP under
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is based
on the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans,
which comprise actuarial gains and losses, and the
effect of any asset ceiling (excluding interest), are
recognised immediately in OCI. Net interest expense
for the period is determined by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation
at the beginning of the reporting period to the then
net defined benefit liability, taking into account any
changes in the net defined benefit liability during
the period. Net interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in
profit or loss.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes
model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to those share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued)
or the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of Group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of an investment in equity securities designated
as at FVOCI (except on impairment, in which case foreign
currency differences that have been recognised in OCl are
reclassified to profit or loss) is recognised in OCI.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On
disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to
profit or loss. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in
a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are
considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viif)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity
is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in Note 7(s)(a).

A person identified in Note 7(s)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group'’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(t)

(u)

v)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(k).

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group'’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of
these criteria.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
property, plant and equipment (see Note 1(g)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to revenue
which will be recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of
obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

v)

(w)

Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Otherwise,
costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is recognised in
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised (see Note 1(d)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.
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1

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(x) Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising assets
and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale
rather than through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is
allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets
and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except that no loss is
allocated to deferred tax assets, employee benefits assets,
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties,
which continue to be measured in accordance with the
Group's other accounting policies.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale
or held for distribution and subsequent gains and losses on
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or
depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer
equity accounted.

Accounting judgements and estimates

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to the
preparation of these financial statements are as follows:

Goodwill

Note 15(b) discloses management’s judgement in relation
to the identification of the Group’s E-Commerce segment as
the appropriate cash generating unit for goodwill impairment
assessment. Further to that, management takes into
consideration the projected volume and activity level and cash
flows of the E-=Commerce businesses, discounted to present value
at a risk-adjusted discount rate. These projections are based
on assumptions that take into consideration management'’s
knowledge of the business environment and their judgement
on future performance. There is inherent uncertainty in the
estimation process and the underlying assumptions relating
to the future, and accordingly actual performance may differ
significantly from the projection.

1

TEEHBRERGE

(x) BHEHENFRDEE
i IEREBEENHEEMERARNH
EERIUETEEBHEMIEEBE
BERE » B ERFFHE -

EREENHEARN —RUBREERR
AEEABEERTWNEBNRESE
2 o HERNNEMREBEE oK
ERE > HERUEADEENHEENR
afR ) HREAEEAEME S BEREE
SAEZIREREBEE « BREERINEE -
THMEERMBAR - MEATAREGE
EENRERIN MIREMETSE D
EAIRESIE -

ML DB B EHEXFEDIKERE
BIERERENENRERBIETR
B FES

—RDERFEHE - BERBEEURY
- BEMRBERABTUBERINE
MERMUEDEARNREHRTAE
L5 YN

R aEE

MR EMHFRERMS - EREFTEERE
EMOEEEHNT ¢

[k

Kz 15b)REERBMERFEMEFHE
DB RETHERETENEBEREELEEN
BrFR{EROFIER o LESh > EIREINE BB EFHE
BEBNEAESHEKEURRERE > T
EREEAEEIRRARERE - LATEAD
BERETRRMEL - BRARKDIREEER
HEBRRHSDHNE Y AR RIFAFEME
th o HRfEEHRERERERRRNVERRRE
EEBNAEEN - Bt EERRRERENE
HEHRERER -



172 | Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited ¢« Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

Revenue

The principal business of the Group is the provision of
Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS") for processing
certain official trade-related documents. The principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to the financial statements.

Revenue represents the value of services provided and goods
supplied to customers. All of the Group’s revenue is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers.
The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the year is disclosed in Note 4.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from customers
are set out in Note 25(a).

Segment reporting

The Board of Directors of the Group reviews the internal reporting
by segments to assess performance and allocate resources. The
Group has identified the following reportable segments:

E-Commerce: This segment generates income from the
Group’s Government Electronic Trading
Services and supply chain solutions.

Identity This segment generates income from the

Management: provision of digital certificate services,
security products and biometric-based
authentication solutions for identity
management.

Other Services:  This segment comprises handling fees for
paper-to-electronic conversion services,
income from payment technology solutions
and other projects.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to fees and sales generated and the
expenses incurred by those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment results is profit before interest, taxation and
depreciation.
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 7DIHHEGE)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by ERRWEFESIZE R AW - UKIE
timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding HFEEFUEE RSB NS ERFTHNE
the Group’s reportable segments results as provided to the AAEESE_S_=FN_Z°"_"_F+°"H4
Board of Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and =+—HLEFERMZROIJEETNEHNMT ©

assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 are set out below.

31 December 2023
—B-=H+-HA=+-—H
Identity Other

E-Commerce Management Services Total
EFHE BHEE H R 7% st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BETT

Disaggregated by timing of BRIANRRED S
revenue recognition

Point in time BPBF 128,520 12,114 20,193 160,827
Over time BEBFS 35,177 56,773 13,834 105,784
Revenue from external customers ¥ 73S 163,697 68,887 34,027 266,611
Inter-segment revenue 53 ERFE Uk i - 7,817 6,901 14,718
Reportable segment revenue 25 Bk 163,697 76,704 40,928 281,329
Elimination of inter-segment revenue  &#4 4> 2B W25 (14,718)
Consolidated revenue FEkE 266,611
Reportable segment profit o 2|2 IWEF 50,219 16,232 20,660 87,111
Depreciation e (8,925)
Other net income Hik A 348 32,161
Share of results of an associate P —REE S AT ¥R 705

Consolidated profit before taxation %R & BR Bt A5 7 111,052
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 7DIHHEGE)
31 December 2022
_E__F+”RB=+—H
Identity Other
E-Commerce  Management Services Total
BEFEE BIER HAthBR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BT BT BT AT
Disaggregated by timing of RERRERES 5
revenue recognition
Point in time BIEF 129,053 13,757 16,346 159,156
Over time sl 43,112 33,954 22,593 99,659
Revenue from external customers ¥ /bl 172,165 47,711 38,939 258,815
Inter-segment revenue S ER R E - 7817 5,680 13,497
Reportable segment revenue A2H 5 Pk 172,165 55,528 44,619 272,312
Elimination of inter-segment revenue  #$44) ZBRI Uk 25 (13,497)
Consolidated revenue mels 258,815
Reportable segment profit o 2HD PER 60,904 5,248 22,421 88,573
Depreciation e (8,479)
Other net loss Hithi51873%8 (20,427)
Share of results of an associate Rk UNSIE S (585)
Consolidated profit before taxation 4 & BB AT R A 59,082
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4 Segment reporting (Continued)

@)

(ii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

As at 31 December 2023, there is no transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under
the Group’s existing contracts (2022: Nil). This amount
represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future
from services contracts entered into by the customers with
the Group.

The Group has applied the following practical expedients
in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
provision of services such that the above information does
not include information about the revenue if either of the
following conditions is met:

(a) the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less;
or

(b) the entity applies the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.B16 such that it recognises revenue at the amount
to which it has a right to invoice, which corresponds
directly to the value to the customer of the entity’s
performance completed to date (e.g. a service
contract in which the entity bills a fixed amount for
each hour of service provided).

Geographic information

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
operating profit of the Group is substantially derived from
activities in Hong Kong.
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5 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

5

BR B AT 2

BRI A& 26 -

2023 2022
—E-=F -z
Note HKS$'000 HKS$'000
k=3 BT T BTt
(a) Staff costs: (a) EERZEx:
Contributions to defined AEHFCRINGTBIHER
contribution retirement plan 3,090 3,298
Equity-settled share-based MR REAE 0 AR 19
payment expenses AEREHNREE 338 440
Salaries, wages and other e s TENMEMET
benefits 116,705 114,872
120,133 118,610
(b) Depreciation: (Note 74) (b) E: (HE14)
Owned property, plant and BEYE - BEX
equipment = 5,964 5,496
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,961 2,983
8,925 8,479
(c) Other operating expenses: (c) HftiZ&pAxX !
Auditors’ remuneration ZEENEN 1,099 1,039
Directors’ fees and emoluments EEEESNINE 2,251 2,280
Facilities management fees REEEE 4,806 4,805
Repair and maintenance fees HENFREE 6,099 5,777
Office rental and utilities MAERENR A BRE 4,015 3,903
Consultancy fees B E 2,585 3,564
Telecommunication costs ESE 1IN 1,749 1,711
Promotion and marketing WENTGZRAS
expenses 1,999 2,518
Recruitment fees BEE 532 1,148
Listing expenses EHHAxZ 1,034 1,055
Service fee to business partners FFEBESIERHEN
R & 1,498 887
Impairment loss on trade FEWBR R S B E
receivables and contract assets RIEESE (H7£25(a)
(Note 25(a)) 379 173
Others Hith 0] 3,565 4,605
31,611 33,465
()  Others include travelling, insurance, and other office and () HMEFEER- ®REREMBENR—#K

general expenses.
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6 Other net income/(loss) 6 HhlkA (E8)FE
2023 2022
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt BET T BT
Interest income FEWA 20,412 5,567
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain R (§518) W F58 (342) 171
Reversal of impairment loss on interest Fx— RSBt A B #EE AR E
in an associate 518 #E(a] 16 4,719 -
Gain on disposal of non-current assets HENEAFEHEBEN
classified as assets held for sale EREBEENKEG 79 6,805 -
Government grants for Research and & & E51R & 0| f =+ B BT
Development Cash Rebate Scheme e (a) 520 -
Other income HgA 47 -
Net loss on disposals of debt securities HEFBEMBEEIKEIE
measured at FVOCI NABESENERRS
D) gi=be e 12 - (1,534)
Reversal of impairment loss on other ~ EfthBi 75 & EREEIEEE]
financial assets 12 - 1,447
Fair value loss on other financial assets BBEZHAABESEN
measured at FVPL: HMBEEENAREE
518 -
- Units in investment funds - KREREEEM - (16,686)
- Debt and equity securities - EEREAES - (15,819)
Investment income on other financial ~ BEBIEHEIBRAABEGTEN
assets measured at FVPL: HtA B EENKERA -
- Units in investment funds - REEEEA - 887
- An equity security - —IERAES - 12
Government grants for Employment RELE ST BB E
Support Scheme (b) - 5,528
32,161 (20,427)
(@) In 2023, the Group successfully applied for funding support (a) MIZEZ=%F > xEBERIBFHTR
from the Research and Development Cash Rebate Scheme, UMK ERERSEEBINER - %
set up by the Government. The purpose of the scheme is to s8I S EME B ENRABERY > WE
reinforce the research culture among business enterprises Ehib EEIEE A A ERFEEMNRS
and encourage them to establish stronger partnership with fEo

designated local public research institutions.
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6 Other net income/(loss) (Continued)

(b)

In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Government. The purpose of
the funding was to provide financial support to employers
to retain their current employees or hire more employees
when the business revived. Under the terms of the grant,
the Group was required to employ a sufficient number
of employees with reference to its proposed employee

headcounts in each subsidy month.

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 7
profit or loss

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:

H A~ (B518) 5 (&)
(b) W-Bo—& EEERNEAHFR

TRHEMEREE I THRMESBE
By o ZEtEINBENAEBRERREHM
BXE  HHERREBRREENTE
IREBRIZRES - RIBHBIZ IR
FEEASREMUANREANES

HE R RHYENREE -
mERBERNFES
(@) HABBRNOBESR:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax AHBIE - FEFEBH
Provision for the year REERE 9,235 5,899
Over-provision in respect of prior year L FEERBEEREE (18) (50)
%207 5849
Current tax - outside Hong Kong AEBIE - HBEIH
_Under-provision inrespect of prior year  WMEFERHEAR SR 3.
Deferred taxation ERERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary EAE RO ERERE
differences 1,196 897
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7

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss (Continued)

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents: (Continued)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 is
calculated at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for the Company
which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered
Profits Tax rate regime. Taxation for subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong is charged at the appropriate current rates of
taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

For the Company, the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the Company was calculated at the same
basis in 2022.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 and
2022 takes into account the enhanced Research and
Development tax deductions claimed on staff costs
incurred during the year, pursuant to Schedule 45 of the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance. The qualifying
expenditure is entitled to enhanced two-tiered tax
deductions, i.e. 300% for the first HK$2 million and 200%
for the remaining amount.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 takes into
account a reduction granted by the Government of 100% of
the tax payable for the year of assessment 2022/23 subject
to a maximum reduction of HKS6,000 for each business
(2022: a maximum reduction of HK$10,000 was granted
for the year of assessment 2021/22 and was taken into
account in calculating the provision for 2022).

7

REBEERNAES(E)

(a)

REBRRNBIES - (8

“ECC-FNEBNCGRBENREE
A ERREFN16.5%(ZE - _F :
16.5%) 5t 5 > 1A 25 B w4k B FI 1SR
METHEERAE > FALSITEHE -
BHERRINE AR R BRERERN
BRATTRER -

THARNEMS » HA2,000,000THIFE
SR FI28.25% IR o AR T BIFER
B BIZ16.5% M - sTEERATH
BB ERNBERFTANEER " —
ZEER o

RBEB(RBERG) FRL5 > —F "=
ERZEC_ENEBFERERES
ARENEELEREMABFAFRRNAR
N RAZHERIMRBINRE - SEKRRH
XBEREZHEIMRFIRBIRE > BE
71%2,000,0007cHIEREE 53 Bl BT 300% K2
200% M0,

TR —FEMNEANSREBENESHK
B _—F “=FFREEN
FEANIR RIS H A9 100%30 5 88 (B IE 7%
BReliRiEAAEK6,000T) (ZE -
F . IBEI-F /TTEFREERY
BEiHEEHE10,000T > BFEE=
T T EEHERFE st R ER) o
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7

Income tax in the consolidated statementof 7 H&8ERKNAEH (&)
profit or loss (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) REABRFEMNBEZ HEGHE

profit at applicable tax rates:

FIEBRINT -

2023 2022
—g—-= —Em——

—_—_=—= —_—<——

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AETT

Profit before taxation

FRR FI = 111,052 59,082

Notional tax on profit before taxation,

RIFEREEZKBERIFIERITER

calculated at the rates applicable to R EaF T ENRERIE

profits in the countries concerned 18,929 9,551
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses NGB IE A=k -2 1,796 4,376
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue JERRUR SR TS & (7,809) (4,373)
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised tax BT EEREDIRIERIE

losses utilised MR (535) (1,031)
Statutory tax concession EERIBEE (1,950) (1,727)
Over-provision in respect of prior years L FEEBERE (18) (47)
Actual tax expense BERELZH 10,413 6,749
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8 Income tax in the consolidated statementof 8 E&EBRRKWATER
financial position

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HFEVBMRRERWEBIES :
financial position represents:

2023 2022

—ZEg=-= Sy
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax EEEFEFSREHE
for the year 9,235 5,899
Provisional Profits Tax paid BEAEHFIER (5,591) (9,196)
3,644 (3,297)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax UEFEESANSRIBEER
provision relating to prior years 1,062 1,062
Balance of tax provision outside UEEEEBIRIMATEREELR
Hong Kong relating to prior years 133 133
4,839 (2,102)
Representing: 5
Taxation recoverable recognised ERGEM IR RERHN
in the consolidated statement AU [EFR IR
of financial position - (2,953)
Taxation payable recognised BERGEM SRR RERH
in the consolidated statement FE(THRIE
of financial position 4,839 851

4,839 (2,102)
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8 Income tax in the consolidated statementof 8 HZH& BB RKRWATER (&)
financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: () CEINELHEEEREE:
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ERGFEMBIRRARBERNEERIEE
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial E/ (AR HERED R4 FEEEH
position and the movements during the year are as follows: T
Fair
Depreciation value changes
allowances on other
in excess financial assets
of related Credit measured
Deferred tax arising from: RETHISENELHE depreciation  loss allowance at FVPL Total
BRARRE
HEER AREETEN
8 AR R FEEE HttRBEEN
nE BE LQArEESD M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BRTR ERTR BT

As at 1 January 2022 KZE-__F—H—H (1,227) 206 1,049 28
Credited/(charged) to profitorloss KBz &st A/ (30k) 221 (69) (1,049) (897)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—F

+=p=+-A (1,006) 137 - (869)
Charged to profit or loss HEE RN (1,115) (87) - (1,196)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=F

+=A=+-H (2,121) 56 - (2,065)
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8 Income tax in the consolidated statementof 8 HZH& BB RKRWATER (&)
financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EERIANECHEEEREE: (8
(Continued)

2023 2022

—E-= Sy
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Representing: 5 ¢
Deferred tax assets in the consolidated HEMBEIRRRAN
statement of financial position IEERIEE = 56 137
Deferred tax liabilities in the SEMBRRRAN
consolidated statement of RERIBEE
financial position (2,121) (1,006)
(2,065) (869)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has total RBEHR  AEENRIBEEGIELEEE
tax losses of HK$2,328,000 (2022: HK$5,572,000). #AABW2328,000c(ZE-2F | B
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in 5,572,0007%) ° ANEE MR RIE
respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$2,328,000 (2022: 5848 162,328,000 0 (ZE 2% . &
HK$5,572,000) as it is not probable that future taxable #5,572,0007) FERIREMRMIBEE » 5
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be EHRAKAIGEERKRERR G TA
available. The tax losses do not expire under current tax EARIEEE o BRIFRITREEG > 1R

legislation. TEES 1R & & M EARR o
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9 EEME

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIBEB(REEHN FE383(NEMR( AT (HE
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the EEMGER)RAD F2BHBENESIEN
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of T

Directors) Regulation is as follows:

9 Directors’ emoluments

Other
emoluments
in connection
with the
management  Basic salaries,  Contributions
of the affairs allowancesand to retirement Share-based 2023
Fees of the Company other benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
FEER  EXEe.
LGTES ] BRR Rt NRGBAER ==
e -8 &R = AL B3] At
HKS$000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BRI EBTT EBTR EBTR BT
Executive directors yirEs
TSE Kam Keung Bl - - 5270 18 2137 157 7582
CHENG Chun Chung Andrew B - - 3,145 18 752 62 3977
CHUNG Shun Kwan el - - 2,988 - 488 66 3,542
Non-executive directors FHTES
LEE Harry Nai Shee LI 140 - - - - 140
LEE Delman 6 100 - 4 - - - 104
YING Tze Man HEFX 120 - 4 - - - 124
YUEN Wing Sang Vincent mkE 100 - 4 - - - 104
Independent non-executive directors BuF#17EZE
CHAK Hubert Bps 350 - 4 - - - 354
CHAN Chi Yan REE 330 - 4 - - - 334
CHAU Tak Hay B 370 - 4 - - - 34
CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy A 390 - 4 - - - 394
HO Lap Kee (retired on 12 May 2023) I E(K-E-=%
ER+ZREMR 127 - 4 - - - 131
LINSun Mo Willy(appointed on ~~ HER(H-E_=%
12 May 2023) LR+ZREEE) 24 - - - - - 24
Total @it 2,251 - 11,435 36 33711 285 17,384
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9 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 9 ESME(@E
Other
emoluments
in connection
with the
management  Basic salaries,  Contributions
of the affairs  allowancesand  to retirement Share-based 2022
Fees ofthe Company  other benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
ARER  EfEE-
NSIES R ] NgtasER  ZF2C
g Bt =gl itz fedLs fszfd )

HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
AR AR ElTR TR BlTn Al AR

Executive directors HiTES
TSE Kam Keung #5% - - 5187 18 2903 154 8262
CHENG Chun Chung Andrew B - - 3,161 18 366 62 3607
CHUNG Shun Kwan FERa - - 3,740 - 636 64 4440
Non-executive directors FH17E3
LEE Harry Nai Shee NiE 150 - - - - - 150
LEE Delman TEK 100 - - - - - 100
YING Tze Man HFX 120 - - - - - 120
YUEN Wing Sang Vincent RKE 100 - - - - - 100
Independent non-executive directors BuFH{7EZS
CHAK Hubert 2% 350 - - - - - 350
CHAN Chi Yan REE 330 - - - - - 330
CHAU Tek Hey B 370 - - - - - 370
CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy BUHE 400 - - - - - 400
HO Lap Kee g 360 - - - - - 360
Total ) 2,280 - 12,088 36 3,905 280 18,589
* Bonus represented actual bonus paid during the year * TEATIEF R ETHIERRTEAT
The above emoluments include the value of share options LIS EIERIER AT BREAERTET
granted to certain directors and chief executive under the EENTBAAHNERERR Y BN GEEHE
Company'’s share option schemes, as estimated at the date of B FABYAENFEENESERES
grant. Details of these benefits in kind are disclosed under the TEERGREST B —BIIRER o

section headed “Share Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report.
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10 Individuals with highest emoluments 10 &REHAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2022: FR AAREFATHF=4(ZE=Z
three) are directors during the year whose emoluments are —R)AEE > BENMESEHNMHEE - B
disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect B (CTZ2F | e AT ZBE48%E0
of the other two (2022: two) individuals are as follows: T

2023 2022

—E-= BT

HKS$’'000 HKS'000
BET T BT
Salaries and other emoluments HENMEMBNE 3,111 3,810
Share-based payments WU 2 BB S o 22 53
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETBIHER 36 36
3,169 3,899

The emoluments of the above two (2022: two) individuals with M (CEI2E | MR R A TR

the highest emoluments are within the following bands: EFFBEHENT

2023 2022
—Eg-= S
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals

HKS$ BT AB AB

1,500,001 - 2,000,000 1,500,001 - 2,000,000 2 1
2,000,001 - 2,500,000 2,000,001 - 2,500,000 - 1
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11 Dividends 11 RE
(a) Dividends payable to ordinary equity shareholders of (a) TEEEMAXLATEZBERREZEA
the Company attributable to the year MRS
2023 2022
—®=—= —s——
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BT T AT T
Interim dividend declared and paid of BEEIRMNIEA RIS SR8
HK 3.7 cents per share 37AWZ=E=Z
(2022: HK 1.83 cents per share) =5%1.8381) 29,401 14,542
Final dividend proposed after the end RIBEEFERESETRE
of the reporting period of HK 6.3 cents FRE BARBEIRH
per share (2022: HK 4.67 cents per KEARE EERR6.381L
share) based on issued share capital (ZBZ2F | §R4.67751L)
as at the year end 50,062 37,109

Nil special dividend proposed after the end ER#EE = FRBRITARAN
of the reporting period (2022: HK 2.75 REHRBEIKNSRIRE
cents per share) based on issued share (ZZEZ—F : §882.75%81)

capital as at the year end - 21,853
79,463 73,504
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting HIRSAREBEIRNERBRE » TRK
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of WEHRERABE -

the reporting period.
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11 Dividends (Continued) 11 RE (&)
(b) Dividends payable to ordinary equity shareholders of (b) BRL—EMBFEE ZRFA#E
the Company attributable to the previous financial year, Rk FAARESERRESEAN
approved and paid during the year EARE

2023
—EC=HF

HK$'000
BT

Final dividend in respect of the previous Bt — BB BUEE »
financial year, approved and paid during A5 EE AL ERGRATHY
the year of HK 4.67 cents per share FREARR B/ 4.6741L
(2022: HK 6.45 cents per share) (ZBZZF : S186.45H4l) 37,109

Special dividend in respect of the previous B E—EMEERE »
financial year, approved and paid during ~ TASERHERRITRY

the year of HK 2.75 cents per share IR S ERR2. 7581
(2022: Nil) —E--F:E) 21,853

2022
S

HK$'000
BETIT

51,254

58,962

51,254
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12 Other comprehensive income 12 Hit2HEK &=
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
Debt securities measured at FVOCI ERHME2AWRRRAAEE
STENEEES
Changes in fair value recognised KEEERRDBZANEEES
during the year - (1,235)
Reclassification adjustments for amounts ¥ ABENFIBETEFRHE
transferred to profit or loss: HHEE .
- Net loss on disposals - HEBETEE - 1,534
- Reversal of impairment loss - BERERE - (1,447)
Net movement in the fair value reserve EREMEEN RSN EE
during the year recognised in other NABEREBEHFEE
comprehensive income - (1,148)
There was no tax effect relating to the above components at 31 KRIEZZTHE+ZR=+—H > LiEoiliE
December 2022. M E o
13 Earnings per share 13 BREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the EREABIINBEBEALTD L ERKERE
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the AFE{LEF15100,639,000c (22 ==
Company of HK$100,639,000 (2022: HK$52,333,000) and the A1552,333,00070) R AFEBEHTEBERKN
weighted average number of 794,634,000 ordinary shares (2022: IN#ETFIM#794,634,0008 (ZF -
794,634,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year. 794,634,0000% Z3@EAR) 51 E ©
Basic earnings per share are the same as diluted earnings per AXREEBTHER D » WEREAREN A

share as the Company has no dilutive potential shares. HERMAERE -
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14 Property, plant and equipment 14 Y% - BERSRE

(a) Carrying amount (a) HREE

Platform
hardware Ownership
and software, interest Other
computer inland and properties
Leasehold and office Motor Furniture  building held leased

improvements  equipment vehicles  andfixtures  forownuse  forownuse
FaBHR FER AR
BENE &k 8RR tihRET  HEFAR
¥ BOERE RE  GRRZE HAEER  MHmME st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A%t BETn B%Tn  EBTn  E¥Tx BT ARTR

Cost; A
Asat 1 January 2023 K-E-=F-A-A 18,251 170,822 1,278 3282 39,268 4278 231179
Addiions FE 71 10662 1,166 - - 1754 13653
Disposals BE - (2899) (193) - - - (3692)
As at 31 December 2023 KBz

L T-R=t-B 1832 8% 1651 S L Nawe ¢ 602 M0
Accumulated depreciation: ZiHE:
Asat 1 January 2023 KZE-=f-A-H 15,013 161,292 1,278 3233 32,039 3,568 216,423
Charge for the year ERfR 1,036 4,995 49 16 1,805 1,024 8925
Written back on disposals RERE - (2,898) (793) - - - (3,691)
As at 31 December 2023 KZB_=ZF

S foA=t-8 16049 16339 Mo 4 B ! A mesT
Net ook value: FEFE:
As at 31 December 2023 KZEZ=

TZR=1-H 2,273 15,196 117 33 5424 1,440 25,483




TECCHFER-ESBETEZERAF | 191

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 Y% - BERXEGE)

(a) Carrying amount (Continued) (a) REEME
Platform
hardware Ownership
and software, interest Other
computer inland and properties
Leasehold and office Motor Fumiture ~ building held leased
improvements ~ equipment vehicles  andfixtures  forownuse for own use Total
TaEAR FfraRmn
HEnx o BER THREF  HRERER
RE HAZRE A8 GARRE  BEEEE  WHMNE )

HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Aftn  BETn  BETn BBTn BRTn ERTn ABTn

Cost: B
Asat 1 January 2022 K-E__&E-A-H 16,914 167,766 1278 3279 39,268 3,381 231,886
Additions HE 1,337 3467 - 3 - 897 5704
Disposals KB - (#1) - - - - (411)
As at 31 December 2022 e ;3

o ToRET-R L S, L2 o B Am B
Accumulated depreciation: RitHE
Asat1January 2022 K-Z--%-A-H 14,066 157,038 1,278 3217 30234 2,522 208,355
Charge for the year ERRT 947 4,665 - 16 1805 1,046 8479
Written back on disposals RERE - (#11) - - - - (en)
As at 31 December 2022 KZBZZE

e ToAETR s tem LI . s 358 76AR
Net book value: BEFE:
As at 31 December 2022 KZEZZF

TZR=1-H 3238 9,530 - ) 7229 70 20,756
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 Y% - BERXEGE)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by EREEEREREERNS SRR
class of underlying asset is as follows: FEDRUOT -

2023 2022

—g-= -
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
et BT T AETT

Ownership interest in leasehold HEBHEERNHEE M

land and building in Hong REFHEE R » 1#

Kong held for own use, carried ITE R ATER » FIERFEHEA

at depreciated cost, with T F10E505E

remaining lease term between

10 and 50 years 0} 5,424 7,229

Other properties leased for own HEFERNEMZE > &
use, carried at depreciated cost IEE R AS I BR (i) 1,440 710

Platform hardware and software,  FERE4HREM ~ BRI
computer and office equipment, RNEFRE - BITERAERT
carried at depreciated cost BR (iii) 22 154

6,886 8,093
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 Y% - BERXEGE)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b) EAEEEGE
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases MEEEEEANRINEZIEE SN
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: T

2023 2022
—E2=-= —E=Z

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets A& EZEE EE
by class of underlying asset: BlomrExRH

Ownership interests in leasehold land and fA& it MIEFRIEE RS
building 1,805 1,805

Other properties leased for own use HEFERNEMYE 1,024 1,046

Platform hardware and software, computer T &R EHE « BREK

and office equipment, carried at WMAZERME  RITERE
depreciated cost 58k 132 132
2,961 2,983
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 85 29
Expense relating to short-term leases BRAMEHITEE MM 631 683
Expense relating to leases of low-value ERMBEEEEHRENHS -
assets, excluding short-term leases of TEEREEENEHEE
low-value assets 98 107
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were FR o EAEEERER1,754,0007T
HK$1,754,000 (2022: HK$897,000). The amount mainly “E 5 #¥897,0007T) c ZEEE
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under FTEEHRECEEHEERINE
renewed rental agreements. AIEFBERFR ©
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HENRERHEEREESAEREE
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in the consolidated DHNFEBEA BN EERERERNK

cash flow statement and Note 20(e), respectively. BfaE20(e) ©
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

0]

(i)

(iii)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
held for own use

The Group holds a building for its office. The Group
is the registered owner of the property interest,
including part of undivided share in the underlying
land. Lump sum payment was made upfront to
acquire the property interest from the previous
registered owner, and there are no ongoing payments
to be made under the terms of the land lease, other
than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authority. These payments vary
from time to time and are payable to the relevant
government authority.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office, warehouse, service centre
and carpark through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of two to four years.

The leases do not include an option to renew the
lease for an additional period after the end of the
contract term. None of the leases contains variable
lease payments.

Other leases

The Group leases platform hardware and software,
computer and office equipment under leases expiring
for four years. Leases do not include an option to
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated
and do not include an option to purchase the leased
equipment at the end of the lease term at a price
deemed to be a bargain purchase option. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

14 3% - BEK&iE (&)

(b)

EREEE(E
() HEEREELHREFHRERR
R

(i)

(iii)

FEEFERFEREMRAE -
rEBEBYEED (BEERLI
FTRAIDEREN—HD)HNEL
BEAN —EBRAECERS
NEBEECEEABAYEE
m > BBARBMBERIEL R
BT > MEIRE R BT R SR E
BY FE 2R 2= B9 7H & F 1 89 T R BR
Sh o RENRABFORE > WA
I FHERIE AR o

HEEBRNEMYE
FEEEEBEERRNGER
EREMMEREBRAIAE R
B REBROREES - HE—
RRADIA A HAM E ML o

HETFABERENERGERE
SEEERINABAEEE o

mHEaaISBEA] -

HtpEE

AEBERBERMEEERNVBLNE
ETe@E4R®RMs  BELM
NERE -  HELFEEREN
EEAEGREERBEENEE
#> BEFEERBEEFHER
RRRAAZERERENER
BEAERHBHIEEE - fiER
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15 FHGME D RS

15 Interest in subsidiaries

(a) Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected (a) FEFEAXEEEE BEEREEMN
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as MEBARFENOT :
follows:
Proportion Proportion
Place of ownership  of ownership
of incorporation/ interest interest
establishment Particulars of issued held by held by
Name of company and operation and paid up capital  the Company  asubsidiary  Principal activity
REARARE  ENELT
HEMAL/ HIR BRATR NHEEEE SENEE
NAER EEBE BRRARE Al EEEASE TERH
Digi-Sign Certification Services Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% - Certificate authority services
EFHERBERAE &H 10,0008 % {7 HELERE
Trade Facilitation Services Limited Hong Kong 50,000 shares 100% - Dormant
BH 50,0008 1 UREH
Digital Trade and Transportation Hong Kong 41,000,000 shares 100% - Provision of electronic messaging
Network Limited & 41,000,0008%R% {2 routing and transformation
HIEE S EHPRERAT services
REB TR EERBIRR
Tradelink PayTech Solutions Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares 100% - Payment technology solution
BRBERIARKERAR &H 1,000,0008 %13 ZAREALR
BRE(RM)—ABRAF Macau MOP25,000 100% - Provision of ecommerce services
i RFH25,0007 RS FHEERS
ENERZREFRRERAT PRC RMB500,000 100% - Provision of e-commerce and
HE AE#500,0007c e-logistics services

RUEEFEEREFIRRE
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15 Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as
follows: (Continued)

Each of these is controlled subsidiaries as defined under
Note 1(f) and have been consolidated into the Group’s
financial statements.

# Subsidiary not audited by KPMG. The financial statements of the
subsidiary not audited by KPMG reflect total net assets and total
revenue constituting less than 1% of the respective consolidated

totals.

* Company registered as a wholly-foreign owned enterprise in the
PRC.

Goodwill

The goodwill recognised by the Group arose from the
acquisition of Digital Trade and Transportation Network
Limited (“DTTNC0") in 2009 and is attributable mainly to the
technical expertise, intellectual property and the synergies
expected to be achieved from integrating DTTNCo into
the Group’s existing business and customer base. The
goodwill has a carrying amount of HK$9,976,000 since the
acquisition date of 26 March 2009.

The E-Commerce segment of the Group is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition of DTTNCo in
entirety, and there are no other units within the Group that
the goodwill can be appropriately allocated to. Accordingly,
the E-Commerce segment is identified as the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") containing the goodwill for the
purpose of impairment evaluation of the goodwiill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use the
CGU's cash flow projections based on financial forecasts
covering a six-year period. Based on the management’s
best estimates, cash flows beyond the six-year period
(2022: six-year period) are extrapolated at zero (2022: zero)
growth rate. The future cash flows are discounted, at a
discount rate specific to the Group of 10% (2022: 10%) for
the assessment period, to determine the value in use of
the CGU. Based on management’s assessment, there is no
impairment loss recognised in respect of the goodwill for
the year (2022: Nil).

15 FriGF 8 2 Rl #E s ()

(@)

(b)

IRVELKEESR  BETAEBH
MEQRFEWT © (8

MBS AEE 1()FR 5 E B A HI M B
RE > BERFTEENMBHRRES
iR o

* B FAMIE 22 B0 FF R B RS B B 51 BB S AT
BB - ZEWIFAEEH G ENEFHITE
BB 2 B R B R FT R BR B AR BV F
ERBKEEERE B SRR %
F e

* P ENFEE R FEILE]

maE
TEERINBEDARZZZA
FRBHEESEHRAEERAT
(TDTTNCo) FREA T T EREEER
M~ A EERTBESEHDTTINCoER
EEREEBAEREREBUERN
WEME - BRERIH-_SEThE=
B+ HiE > BE2NREEABE
9,976,0007T °

HRERAEEEFHEDMAIRER
W EEDTTNCoZ BB AR HE PR EE £ BY 1 R 2L
o MERERFEHEENRELEE
HMEN > REFHEDBEHND
B LRFENREELEN(TREE
EEAL) > WER LB EEHRET
fl o

REELBEMNATEISEELIREER
BEAELIET  HRRSEEBEMR
BTN ETERNTER RS A
H o ERNEEENREMGS » ANEHE
(ZEZZF | AEHB)UBHNRER
BIRES(CEZ_F  B)BERKIH#
B o KRR HRELGHEABRAERMN
BFEBIREI0%(ZT 24 : 10%) 84
R UETRSESBMAMNER - RIE
BEENIME  REEEBENBHER
PERRERE(CE__F §) -
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16

Interest in an associate 16

As at 31 December 2023, the following table contains the
particulars of a material associate, which is an unlisted corporate
entity whose quoted market price is not available:

Firi — R B & A Bl &R

TREY -—HEEMEQARNR T _=ZF+=
B=+—HFE » ZQRRLEHHREN
JELHRER

Particulars Proportion Proportion
Place Place of Form of business  of issued and of Group's  of shares held
Name of associate of establishment  operation structure paid up capital effective interest by the Company  Principal activity
BRARAR AEEfE  AAAFRRG
BELRLR RS EERY $HRRRA RadE BRERAMML BAlt  TEER
OnePort Holdings (BVI) Limited British Virgin Hong Kong Incorporated HKS$86,000 9.297% 9.297%  Provision of electronic port
(‘OnePort!) Islands &3 AL 186,000 community system services
AR4RES READHEETRE

Interest in an associate is accounted for using equity method
in the consolidated financial statements. The Group has
determined that it has significant influence on OnePort even
though it holds less than 20% of the voting rights in OnePort
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group is representing the
Group as a director of OnePort. The investment in OnePort was
previously fully impaired due to its accumulated losses position
in prior years. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group received dividend of HK$279,000 from OnePort. At 31
December 2023, management assessed the recoverable amount
of OnePort based on value-in-use calculations. The estimates of
the recoverable amount were based on the present values of the
budgeted future cash flows, discounted at a pre-tax discount rate
of 14%, by reference to the activity level and future zero growth
rate beyond the five-year period financial forecast of OnePort.
As the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount, after
taking into account share of profit recognised net of dividend
received during the year, reversal of provision for impairment loss
of HK$4,719,000 was made at 31 December 2023.

Frit—E#ME AR R TSRS BREPE
B#REANR - BEAEEFEONePOrt A E
20%HVI 2R » EHNAERITRAZERERS
EEEEOnePortNESE » MAEBERAEY
OnePortEBE AR Z /] - A OnePortitid
AFEARFTBIERR > BHTOnePortML &
HBERYAE BE_S_=ZF+_-_A=+
—HIEEE » EE B OnePort i EXAR B 1
279,000t - KZE_=F+_-_HA=+—H >
EIEEREEREETE AT G T OnePortiy
AU [E1ZhEE o ATUREI 2 EETH 2 E OnePortiY 3
BKERAEHRTERIBNRRSER &
HBERKRRESRENIRE & R14%HRE004
IREEARIRMANLAUE T o S ATUR B REE B AR
HE » K5t R eI ET GORREARU
mMBE) K- E-_=F+=-HA=+—8 "
BOIR B RS 1R 1 E A 154,719,0007T ©
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16 Frih—EBE QAR (E)

TXRERZE_=F+"BA=1+—HEEH
BRI EERME (BEREEHBERED

16 Interest in an associate (Continued)

Summarised financial information of the material associate at
31 December 2023, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the

consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below: HEREEHER) :
2023
—=—=
HK$'000
BT T
Gross amounts of OnePort’s assets and liabilities: OnePortZE Rk & E42%8 :
Current assets MEEE 63,716
Non-current assets ERENEE 41,873
Current liabilities mEAaE (42,034)
Non-current liabilities JEFREEE (8,215)
Equity i 55,340
Revenue & 39,068
Profit from continuing operations FHERERT) 7,578
Total comprehensive income 2HEK LR 7,578
Dividend received from associate RS AT WERR B 279
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in OnePort E2 2N £ 8 JA OnePort# 25 K ¥ BR
Gross amounts of net assets of OnePort OnePort& EFEAR%E 55,340
Group's effective interest rEEBRER 9.297%
Group’s share of net assets of OnePort R E B Fr{hOnePortfy & & FE 5,145
Carrying amount in the consolidated REFEMBHRRPHIREE
financial statements 5,145

KRIEZZE+ZR=+—8 > SEEHFE
EREATNIREFEREAT - EEEGZ
B ABHERE RN RN R A B
792,0007 ©

At 31 December 2022, the aggregate net carrying amount of
individually immaterial associate of the Group was nil. The
aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of this associate’s profit
from continuing operations and total comprehensive income
were the same at HK$792,000.
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17 Trade receivables and contract assets

BURRRENEE

2023 2022

—ZE== Sy
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt BET T BT
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance FEURBRTX > HNPRESIEEEE (a) 31,750 27,134
Contract assets, net of loss allowance &HEE > INFREEEE (b) 10,896 14,959
42,646 42,093

(@)

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

(@) FEWARSK - MEREERE
SRR AT
SR BRER B RINRERE
BEE > BUYCRRBIRESDATI0T ¢

2023 2022

—EC-=fF =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Less than 1T month Yri—EA 21,389 13,751
1 to 3 months —Z=@EA 6,981 8,132
3to 12 months =E+_@EA8 3,306 4,851
Over 12 months BB+ _—EAa 74 400
31,750 27,134

The amount of trade receivables expected to be recovered
after more than one year is HK$260,000 (2022: Nil). All of
the remaining balances are expected to be recovered within
one year and some of them are covered by deposits from
customers (see Note 20).

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 25(a).

TEEARS B — R B R AR TN £ 48
7 3518260,000C(ZCBE-2F : &) o R
BRERERN—FAKE » BETER
B R IRENIREFSE (BAYa220) o

BT EEREERRMEVIRREERN
EERBEVE—DFBEHNMEE25()
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17 Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(b) Contract assets, net of loss allowance
The Group's contracts include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the contract period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent
the build-up of significant contract assets.

All of the revenue recognised during the year are from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in
the current year.

The amount of contract assets expected to be recovered
after more than one year is HK$229,000 (2022:
HK$1,901,000). All of the other contracts assets are
expected to be recovered within one year.

18 Other receivables, prepayments and other

17 BURRREHNEEE)

(b)

BHEE  NKREBEEE
FEENSHEEMRERE  REE
EREREBRANORABMREER
16 o ZENREBERMETEZRERSGH
BE-

FREINFMERDEREREEER
R (BB D M) BRI ERTS o

FEHRREBE—ERKRENENEES
¥4 12290000 (ZE_F | B
1,901,0007T) - FREHMENEETEH
H—ERu(E o

18 HMEWRKIE - MARERHEAM

contract costs BRI
2023 2022
—E-=fF —E=-=

Note HKS$’'000 HK$'000
iz BT T BT T
Other receivables and prepayments HthpEW R IE M TR FRIE (a 12,561 12,479
Other contract costs Hth &4 A (b) 5,016 7,078
17,577 19,557

(a) Other receivables and prepayments (a) HbEWREREMNRE

All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

A E fth FEU IR R TR RIBFREA S —
FRROEHER B
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18 Other receivables, prepayments and other HinEUWRIE - FEIRIER A

contract costs (Continued)

(b) Other contract costs

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 relate to the costs to fulfil contracts with
customers at the reporting date. Other contract costs
are recognised as part of “cost of purchases” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
in which revenue from the related sales or services is
recognised. There was no impairment in relation to
the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs
capitalised during the year (2022: Nil).

All other contract costs are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expenses within one year.

19 Non-current assets classified as assets held

for sale

On 26 December 2022, the Group entered into an agreement
to sell its entire interest of 20% of Guangdong Nanfang Haian
Science & Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”) at a
consideration of RMB6,432,000 to /BZEEF X (TE)ERAE]
(“#8ZE"), a subsidiary of the controlling shareholder of Nanfang.
Thereafter, the Group’s interest in Nanfang had been classified
as non-current assets held for sale. As at 31 December 2022,
the process of disposal transaction was not completed and the
interest in an associate with the carrying amount of HK$567,000
was classified as assets held for sale.

On 24 July 2023, the process of disposal transaction of the
entire interest of 20% of Nanfang to /8% was completed and
a gain on disposal (including the release of the corresponding
exchange difference previously kept in the exchange reserve) of
HK$6,805,000 was recognised.

19

ér%’ﬂﬁkzli(%a)

(b) HabEHMA
KRIEZI=ZERIZEZZFE+ZA=+
—BEXWEMEAOMAEKLHREH
HERITHERERAONKEER - Htha
%m¢#mam&%¢mw¢m&%g

SOHARIV AR BB RN A TIRE R
ﬂ&JEﬁ 9 o FA 0 MEBRAERLR
FEAVIERER R AE AR LRRE(CEZ
ZHEE) o

FRIEHM SR ARIHK—FERREH
MR o

TERBFFHEEENFRBE
E

HRZZEZZHF+ZAZ+B > &x&EH:TL
& > UREBARK6,432,000cHEFMFHE
MNERBAHEEREREERAR(TMmAL)
HEIH20% R T BEEFEEFRR)BRL
g(HeE ) (MAZERRENHEBAR) - &
B AERFENEAER Eﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂftﬂ%
NIERBEE RN E-"F+"B=+—
B> HEXRZEFHARATHREREERBE
567,000 E RN BTN EAREHESR
o

HNIZZ=F+tAZ+WmE > ABEHERS
2E20%ERNHERBEFESTRK » MR
HE W5 B 15 6,805,0007T (BLIEAERR S AT 12 K
HERHENIBEERZLE)
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20 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and other

20 EAERX SRR EREMEN

payables MIE

2022
B CHF
Note HK$'000
k=3 BT
Trade creditors FETBRRR (a) 8,403 8,784
Customer deposits received BREREE (b) 106,016 111,859
Accrued charges and other payables FEst Rz M E A FESFRIE (©) 35,494 30,376
Contract liabilities =EO)=NE (d) 9,017 11,578
Lease liabilities HEEE (e) 1,470 884
160,400 163,481

Representing 15
- Non-current - JERE 762 190
- Current - mEh 159,638 163,291
160,400 163,481

(@) Trade creditors

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade creditors, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

(@) EFER™X
RBREHR > RERAHFHE B
MERREG AT A0T -

2023 2022

Less than 1 month
1 to 3 months
Over 3 months

DIER—ER
—E=@A
Ba=EAa

—g-= >
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AETT

8,242 8,758
108 26
53 -

8,403 8,784
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20 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and other
payables (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Customer deposits received

Deposits received are monies received from customers
before they are allowed to make trade transactions through
the use of the Group’s systems. Generally, customers are
only allowed to incur transaction charges up to the amount
deposited with the Group. Deposits are refundable to
customers on demand.

Accrued charges and other payables
The amount mainly includes accruals and payables of staff
costs and other operating expenses.

Contract liabilities

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the project exceeds the amount of the deposit. The amount
of the deposit, if any, was negotiated on a case by case
basis with customers.

Movements in contract liabilities

20 WA SNAERLHEL

E (&)

(b) BUREFZEE
BlREATREEERNEENAL
ETEEX 0B EPWERIFRIE - —
fRERER > BERANRBENRZE - EU
ERAAERXANRERR - RET
BERERTURE -

(c) EFAXRHEMEMNKE
ZEETEOIEREMANES REN
BIRRIEMU R A &R -

(d) BHEME
FEFEFHEETHFRBRIREBIRE
IR ENRERERSHER  BEE
ERZNEEREBRRETEBILE -
BRENTREWMB)NESERATRE
S o

BRAEENED

2023 2022
—E-= B
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
BT T BT T
As at 1 January n—HB—H 11,578 14,939
Decrease in contract liabilities as a SHEBERFENRERIERE A
result of recognising revenue during & &ERUKETRD
the year that was included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the period (11,322) (14,528)
Increase in contract liabilities as a SHEBERER T EMEM
result of billing in advance 8,761 11,167
As at 31 December B+ZB=+—H 9,017 11,578
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20 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and other

payables (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of billings in advance
of performance expected to be recognised as income after
more than one year is HK$225,000 (2022: HK$256,000).

Lease liabilities
The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the
reporting period:

2023

“BC=f

Present value
of the minimum

20 AR - ANRERRILEN

FE ()
d) BHAME
ANBENRDH ()

(e)

KRIEZ=%F+ZH=+—H - FEi#
H—ERREIBBANBNRGTES
¥4 BM225000 0 (ZE-—_F . B
256,0007T) ©

HEAE
TRETHAEERRSHREEREN
FERSQIER :

2022
—m——

—_—

Present value

Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum

CERENEN G CERERENT NG [ease payments  lease payments
BREHE RIEHE REHE REHE
NRAE R EE IFIRE [p e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BET T BT BT
Within one year —EFR 708 774 694 709
More than one year but Ea—FERER

within five years 762 801 190 191
1,470 1,575 884 900

Less: total future interest - RIRR SR A%
expenses (105) (16)
Present value of lease liabilities TAE&ERE 1,470 884
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RERBBE

21 Provision for long service payments 21

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to long service payments in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where an
employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct
or redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above,
or the employment contract is of fixed term and expires without
renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference
to the employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the
years of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s contributions to MPF scheme (see Note
22), with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently,
the Group does not have any separate funding arrangement in
place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory right of an
employer to reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by
drawing on its mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme. The
Government has subsequently announced that the Amendment
Ordinance will come into effect from the Transition Date.
Separately, the Government is also expected to introduce a
subsidy scheme to assist employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use any
of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF
contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before, on
or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where an
employee’s employment commenced before the Transition Date,
the employer can continue to use the above accrued benefits
to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service up to
that date; in addition, the LSP in respect of the service before
the Transition Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition Date and the
years of service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and
its abolition as disclosed in Notes 7(c)(ii) and 1(q)(ii).The
Amendment Ordinance has no material impact on the Group’s
LSP liability for the current or prior periods prepared or presented.

RIBEB(REEG) > EEZREVLENE
BRETETEATEREZERRE - Z5E
nEE  REEBREFRETAHMELSINIER
E MW ARE ; BEM65RUA ENFEERFHE ;
HEEENEEEFHEERRATER - R
RERNRENEZENSERENREFHFE
(EPR%#122,5007T) RARFSEIREE > A0
PREEMm R EE st BIHR (RAYEE22) FREERT
EREENEE  BRELRASLEEBK
390,0007T ~ Bl > AEMUBEFRBILES
ZHUBEITERREEE -

“ETTHFARA  BRESRTIEETIEG
REEMRRENAERR - EBRIEBREE
stEIEEIMEER RO HENEBRENR
AR - BUATBEIR B MIEET RGNS BiBIE B AR
£R o FIh o TEEABAT TG HLBERRR HE i AH AL
sTEILUZBNRE -

Hep > —BEUHIRIHEGIE > REBBER
RS B E R E R G a5t 8| R E
EHEMEFAE(RRNBERBRZA B
HElz & 1EH AR LUR D H R SRR
RIRE - A > WESNBEBPIIFHGR
18 > (B PTHEAEE R L FESHEF LUNRE =
BEARESRBORKRSE ; s - BEBH
718 B AR TS B RAR =15 IR E 2B TE B #ARI (2
BMAFNEEZAHNRBERE -

AEEBEAGHTEE1(c) (i) FTT(q)(ii) PRk BB B 5
BN EBEFRARR  ETRAIN A EEIT A
BB FHRRRREINRREEELES

a,
=7
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22 Employee retirement benefits

23

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

Equity-settled share-based transactions

(a) Share option scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was
adopted on 9 May 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme
2014"), whereby options will be granted to eligible persons,
including Directors, employees, consultants, business
associates or advisers as the Board of the Company
may identify from time to time (“Grantees”), entitling
them to subscribe for shares of the Company, subject to
acceptance of the Grantees and the payment of HK$1.00
by each of the Grantees upon acceptance of the options.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company.

22 EERKER

23

FEBRB(EHRFML2REEEN - B
RIFEB(REEG) RBNES - RIAHMN
NiREEE (MEEEFE) - BEEAERE
URFANEENRERTBNE - RIFETE
58 BEIREEAZBMFEFHEFR
BEBMABS%HNMER > MEBMASUESA
71%30,0007c 74 £IR o AEE @8 (FHAHE
MEEEREERMES -

IRBEEEYN AR AERN

X5

(a) MBRAESTE
RITEBRESEN_E—NEHEANH
Exm(—T—mEEREsED) - &
It ZRBEFERFAKRENTER
AL (BREESE - RBE - EXBER X
B ARER) (TREADRHER
# > BT REDBERABRMOER
HABEKBRAZEMLAIFE  B8%
AR AT RA BRI R A 1A 11.00
7T BNBRERTHEAZE -RE
NE)EEIRAIER
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B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions 23 URELEEIURDABERD
(Continued) R 5 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) EBRRRESHEI(E)
The share options granted under the Share Option Scheme REZZS—NFERERESEIEHNER
2014 vest after 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 ¥ ERYUBBRERSTZEA8 - Z+mX
months (75%) and 48 months (100%) respectively from @A~ =+ "EAKTU+/\ERA%E > &
date of grant and then exercisable within a period of 10 AERE25% ~ 50% ~ 75%52100% > FE1%
years. The Grantee may exercise the share options subject RIS+ FEARTTE o AR AR ZERAER
to the conditions in respective option offering letter. The RSN R RRE R TERERE o
subscription amount payable in respect of each share upon RITEEREMEM SRR 2 THIEE
the exercise of an option shall be determined by the board BRIERHESGET  BFAEIVKET
of directors and shall be not less than the greater of: RS
(i)  the closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated () HERESHBBERSEBIAM
in the SEHK'’s daily quotations sheet on the date of SHBRERFAIRGEEBHR
grant of such option; and FRESUT{E ; &
(i)  the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK (i) EEBERERLHBAIAEEE
as stated in the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for the B> KEBHMIAEB®RERAR
five business days immediately preceding the date of SRR AL B BB AR T

grant of such option. f& o
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Bt 75 ¥R & B & ()

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during
the year are as follows, whereby all share options are

settled by physical delivery of shares:

23 UREESELURGBERRD

X5 (&)

() BERETEHGE

EER

TXEIERFERBRENERR G
o Bt > FREBREUROEN SN

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BB IR BERY
TAHE BERHG BHREH
Options granted to directors:
ERTESNBRE :
—-on 30 June 2014 4,600,000 12 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 10 years
-KZZ2—WEARA=+H HZZ—MNEA=1+HiEH12EAR +F
(100%)
- on 30 June 2014 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RIZE—MmEXB=+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 30 June 2014
BZZE—MNFEA=+HEH12EAR
(25%) ~ 24ME B (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) &
48{E A (100%)
—-on 2 July 2015 800,000 100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
-KRZE2—AFtHBAZH KRZE—AFtHAZH5100% +&
-on 2 July 2015 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RIZZ—REtHAZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&

from 2 July 2015
BZE—AFtAZHIE12EH (25%)
24{E A (50%) ~ 36fE A (75%) X 48{E A

(100%)
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Bt 75 ¥R & B & ()

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

23 UREESELURGBERRD

X5 (&)

() BERETEHGE

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
MBI R
THEEE HREEG BREFH
—-on 4 July 2016 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZ2—REtAMmA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&
from 4 July 2016
B-E—A"FtAMBAEs12EH (25%)
2418 8 (50%) ~ 3688 (75%) K 4818 2
(100%)
- on 28 April 2017 3,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—tFEmEAZ+/\H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +5F
from 28 April 2017
BE-Z—tFMAZ+/\Biest12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 8 (75%) %
48{E H (100%)
- on 4 May 2018 4,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-FRZE2—/\EREHAMA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 4 May 2018
BEZZ—/\FHEAMB’E12MEH (25%) *
2418 8 (50%) ~ 36188 (75%) K481 2
(100%)
- on 12 April 2019 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZZE—-hEmA+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&

from 12 April 2019

B2 AFMNA+RHiE12EA
(25%) ~ 24ME B (50%) ~ 361E 8 (75%) &
48{E A (100%)
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Bt 75 ¥R & B & ()

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

23 UREESELURGBERRD

X5 (&)

() BERETEHGE

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
MBI R
TEZE BEGRHG BREFH
- on 17 April 2020 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZ2ZZHENA+tH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 17 April 2020
B-E_ZFNA+tHE12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 36188 (75%) %
48{E A (100%)
- on 16 April 2021 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZET—FWmA+<H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +E
from 16 April 2021
B _—FWmB+ HiEs12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 8 (75%) %
48{E A (100%)
- on 19 April 2022 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
- ZFEMA+AHR 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 19 April 2022
BZZ__FA+HBE12ER
(25%) ~ 2418 8 (50%) ~ 36488 (75%) %
48188 (100%)
—on 21 April 2023 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RIEZ=FmA=+—H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&

from 21 April 2023

B-E_=FMA-+—RHiEsH12@EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 361E B (75%)
24818 A (100%)
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B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions 23 URELEEIURDABERD
(Continued) R 5 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) BRESEE
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BN
IAHE REGKHE EHFH

Options granted to employees:

ERTFEESNBRE
- on 30 June 2014 1,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZE—MERA=+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&
from 30 June 2014
B-E—MmE,A=+HiEs12EAR
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 36188 (75%) %
4818 8 (100%)
-on 2 July 2015 1,200,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-MKZZ—h&EtAZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 2 July 2015
B-Z2—AFtHAZRHIE12(E8 (25%)
241E B (50%) ~ 36188 (75%) X 4818 R
(100%)
- on 4 July 2016 1,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—REtAMA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +5E
from 4 July 2016
BEZZ2—R"FtAMB’Es12@8 (25%) *
2418 8 (50%) ~ 36188 (75%) K 48182
(100%)
- on 28 April 2017 1,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZE—tFEmEAZ+/\H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&

from 28 April 2017

BE-Z—tFMmAZ+/\Biest12(EA
(25%) ~ 24ME B (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) &
48{E A (100%)
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Bt 75 ¥R & B & ()

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

23 UREESELURGBERRD

X5 (&)

() BERETEHGE

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREN
TEZE BEGRHG EREH
- on 4 May 2018 2,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZ2—/\EHAMNA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&
from 4 May 2018
B2 /\FRAMHEE12M@A (25%)
2418 8 (50%) ~ 3688 (75%) K 4818 2
(100%)
- on 12 April 2019 2,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—-AEmEA+IH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +5F
from 12 April 2019
BEZE—-NAFEEA+ZHiEs12EA
(25%) ~ 24188 (50%) ~ 36188 (75%) %
48{E H (100%)
- on 17 April 2020 2,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RIZEZZEFEMNAB+tH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 17 April 2020
BE-ZEZHFMA+tRHEH12EAR
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 36188 (75%) %
4818 5 (100%)
- on 16 April 2021 2,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZEZ—FWmA+75H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&

from 16 April 2021

B-E_—FMA+ HiEst12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 361E 8 (75%) &
48{E A (100%)
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B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions 23 LIREEEIURGHBERED
(Continued) R 5 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) BRESEE
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREN
TEZE BEGRHG EREH
- on 19 April 2022 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-MZIZEZF#mA+hH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&

from 19 April 2022
B-E__FHNA+hHE12EA
(25%) ~ 241E B (50%) ~ 361E 8 (75%) &

48{E A (100%)
- on 21 April 2023 2,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE_=FmNA-+—H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +E

from 21 April 2023
BE-Z_=FMNA-+—AEsH12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 361E 8 (75%) M

48{E A (100%)
Options granted to
ex-employees:
ERTFARESNERE:
—on 30 June 2014 2,400,000 100% on 30 June 2014 10 years
-RIE-NEARA=+H RZZE—WF A =+H5100% +45
-on 30 June 2014 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RIZE—mEAXA=+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 30 June 2014
BEZZ—OFEA=+HEH12EAR
(25%) ~ 24E B (50%) ~ 36{E A (75%) &
48{EH (100%)
- on 2 July 2015 2,400,000 100% on 2 July 2015 10 years

-HRZE—-HAFEtHAZH KZE—RAFtHA”H100% +45
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23 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

23 UREESELURGBERRD

X5 (&)

() BERETEHGE

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREN
TEZE BEGRHG EREH
- on 2 July 2015 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZ—hE+tAZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&
from 2 July 2015
BHZZ—AFtAZHEH12EH(25%)
241 B (50%) ~ 3618 8 (75%) K 4818 B
(100%)
—on 4 July 2016 1,600,000 100% on 4 July 2016 10 years
-RZE—AREtAMmA KIZE—"FLAMBEE100% +&F
-on 4 July 2016 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZ2—REtAMmA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 4 July 2016
B-E—AFtANBAEs12EA (25%)
24{E B (50%) ~ 36{EA (75%) & 48{@H
(100%)
- on 28 April 2017 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—tFEmEAZ+/\H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +5E

from 28 April 2017

BZE—tHFEmEAZ+/\HiEEsH12E8
(25%) ~ 24E B (50%) ~ 361E 8 (75%) M
48{E A (100%)

70,200,000




TR FFR-BEZBETESZERAF | 215

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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23 Equity-settled share-based transactions 23 URELEEIURDABERD
(Continued) R 5 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) BRESEE
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share B RERV BB R INEFHITEENT -

options are as follows:

2023 2022
=== —m——

——= —_,

Weighted average (11,1 T8 Weighted average Number

exercise price of options exercise price of options

T3 B E Y faRg

Cog - B B b

HKS '000 HKS ‘000

BET T8 BT T

Outstanding as at 1 January ~ H—R—HB KT 1.47 63,400 1.51 56,000
Granted during the year FRELH 0.96 6,800 117 7,400
Forfeited during the year Eapellye 1.39 (5,500) - -

Outstanding as at 31 December H+Z-B=+—H

W RITE 1.43 64,700 1.47 63,400

Exercisable as at 31 December B+ ZRA=+—RA{7{E 47175 45,825
No share options was exercised during the years ended 31 BE_ZE_—F+-_HA=+—HKZ-ZT
December 2023 and 31 December 2022. __HF+-A=+—BHLEEEARET

BRI AE o

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2023 had KIEZ=F+ZB=+—H > HXkXiT
exercise prices ranging from HK$0.958 to HK$1.90 (2022: ERERENITEEN L ABIE0.958TEE
ranging from HK$1.09 to HK$1.90) and weighted average 190 (T —F : N FE1.09T
remaining contractual life of 4.7 years (2022: 5.2 years). FHWE1.907T) » EMEFHREGENFE

HBATE(CT & 1 526) o
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23 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued) 5
(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions (b)

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value
of the share options granted is measured based on Black
Scholes Model. The contractual life of the share option is

used as an input into this model.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

23 UREESELURGBERRD

(4&)

BRENIABERRR
ERRUBREAEMESHNRBAR
BE N2RERHBRENQIAEE
tE - ERHBRENMGFAAEED
RBR N EHRASE o LR TR
B MBRENGHIER -

BRENAABERRER

2022
———

—_— ——

Fair value at measurement date

Share price

Exercise price

Expected volatility (expressed as
weighted average volatility used in
the modelling under Black Scholes
Model)

Option life (expressed as weighted
average life used in the modelling
under Black-Scholes model)

Expected dividends

Risk-free interest rate (based on the
yield of Hong Kong Government
Bonds)

REtEABNQREE

RfE

T1EfE

TRERR IR (IR D e aF AT E
PR Z IN#EFI9iR IR 25)

BIEE M (RN = AT
RIPT A Z T EH251)

EEEE S

BERHREEBHAES
Wt H)

HK$0.082 HK$0.080
7#1£0.082T F1£0.0807T

HK$0.95 HK$1.16
B#0.957T HL1.167T

HK$0.958 HKS$1.17
7 #£0.958 7T A&7
21.9% 20.2%

5 years 5years

5% 5%

6.9% 6.9%

3.13% 2.49%
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B 75 R &k Bt &£ (8R)

23 Equity-settled share-based transactions 23 URELEEIURDABERD

(Continued) R 5 (&)

(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions (b) BRENAALEERRRKGE
(Continued)
Fair value of share options and assumptions (Continued) BRENDAEERRBRRE
The expected volatility is made with reference to the FEHRRIBT 2 E A QBB E AR
daily historical volatilities of the Company with period EENHEEMERZHABNE HELR
commensurate to the expected option life. Expected TBIEL - TREAR EHIZBEREME ©
dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes in the BEAENTHBRMEENR > alsEH
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the NABENGEHEEATE

fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This EBRESENCREERFTNGHEL -
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date SEMERERBERELEBHZARE
fair value measurement of the services received. There B WEmERZERG - BHERE
were no market conditions associated with the share option BT ERE o

grants.
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Bt 75 ¥R & B & ()

24 Capital and reserves

(@)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes

24 EXRKf#E

BEAS 22
FEEFNREREMD OGS RES
ROHRHINGEREEHR - a2
BB DD BENEFRNEET

(@)

in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s individual IBEEYIWT
components of equity between the beginning and the end
of the year are set out as below:
The Company VNN
Share Capital Retained Total
capital reserve profits equity
BA&  EXRFEE RKREEFN ERERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B¥Tx BT BYTrx
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_%—HF—H 296,093 7,217 62,026 365,336
Dividends approved in respect of LEEEBHIERE
the previous year (Note 77) (Hta£11) - - (51,254) (51,254)
Equity-settled share-based ARG R4S B ARG 17
transactions RERNZZ - 440 - 440
Total comprehensive income KEEZ@MRGE
for the year 4a%E - - 63,774 63,774
Dividends declared in respect of ~ZARFEE B RZHIREHN
the current year (Note 71) G2 (FfzE11) - - (14,542) (14,542)
As at 31 December 2022 R=B==F
+=—BA=+—H 296,093 7,657 60,004 363,754
Dividends approved in respect of _EEEBEHERE
the previous year (Note 117) (Hta%11) - - (58,962) (58,962)
Equity-settled share-based DR R AE B LR (7
transactions AHERNZS - 338 - 338
Lapse of share options BERG R - (470) 470 -
Total comprehensive income EEEERZLLEE
for the year - - 84,424 84,424
Dividends declared in respect of ZAREEBRFIREHN
the current year (Note 71) &2 (F5E11) - - (29,401)  (29,401)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=F
+=-B=+-H 296,093 7,525 56,535 360,153
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24 Capital and reserves (Continued) 24 BEXRKf#E(E)
(b) Share capital (b) B
(i) Issued share capital (i) BBRITRAE
2023 2022
—Eg-= B2
Number Number
of shares L\GGIIEN  of shares Amounts
gng 4= cx M  RDEE EE
in ‘000 HKS$’'000 in ‘000 HKS'000
TR BETR TR ABETT
Ordinary shares, issued EZBR BRTR
and fully paid: F g
As at 1 January and K—BA—B&k+ZA
31 December =+—8 794,634 296,093 794634 296,093
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong RIBEFB(LEMEFI) 1351 » &
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the NEIEB M EEE ©
Company do not have a par value.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive BERSE ABRETE RS
dividends as declared from time to time and are TREMNRKRE » TEERAAT K
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the BLAERE—REROKE—=-
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard FMEEEREAAGRBTEER
to the Company’s residual assets. BR%E®EH °
(ii)  Shares issued under share option schemes (i) REBBRESHBITHRSG
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, BE_SE_=FN_T-F+
no share options have been exercised to subscribe “B=1+—HLEEE  #iEER

for ordinary shares of the Company. HEREITELERE R AT EIBR



220 | Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited « Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital (Continued)

(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options
at the end of the reporting period:

24 EXFf#HE &)

(b) BRAE(H)
(iiy RBEEPRRIBRRITEER
REHRR

2023 2022
—E-= —FC
Number Number
Exercise period Exercise price of options of options
1TEH TEE BRERE R EHE
30 June 2014 to 29 June 2024 HK$1.90 9,500,000 10,500,000
—E-NEAA=+HHEZE-_mESAZ+ANH 711,907
2 July 2015 to 1 July 2025 HKS1.78 6,400,000 6,600,000
—E-RFtRAZHEZE-_REtHA—H H1.787T
4 July 2016 to 3 July 2026 HK$1.57 6,300,000 6,500,000
“E-REtAmNHEZZZRFELRA=H BH&1.577T
28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 HKS$1.592 5,600,000 5,800,000
“E—tFNAZ+/\BEZEZHtFEMEAZ+LH 7B181.5925¢
4 May 2018 to 3 May 2028 HKS$1.34 5,800,000 6,300,000
- ) \ERAMNBE-ZEZ/\ERA=H BHE1.347T
12 April 2019 to 11 April 2029 HKS1.406 5,900,000 6,700,000
—E-AFENB+ZHEE-AEMA+—H H1.4067T
17 April 2020 to 16 April 2030 HKS$1.09 6,000,000 6,800,000
“ZEEFNA+tEHEZZE=ZEFMA+<H 7B181.097T
16 April 2021 to 15 April 2031 HKS$1.22 6,000,000 6,800,000
2 —FNA+SAEZE=—FNA+HH ABiE1.227T
19 April 2022 to 18 April 2032 HKS$1.17 6,600,000 7,400,000
—EFNA+ABEZZE="FMA+/\H BEE1177T
21 April 2023 to 20 April 2033 HKS$0.958 6,600,000 -
TEC=FNBZ+—HEZZ==FMNB=+H #1£0.9587T
64,700,000 63,400,000
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24 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

24 EXFf#HE &)

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the grant date fair
value of unexercised share options granted to
directors, employees and ex-employees of the
Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted for share based
payments set out in Note 7(q)(iii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 1(r).

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period (see Note

10)).

Other reserve

The other reserve is non-distributable and represents
transfer from annual profits up to a maximum of
50% of the issued and paid up capital of the Macau
subsidiary in accordance with the Macau Commercial
Code.

(c) RENMHERAR
(i) EXRE
BEXEBEEERTEAQRAE

F - RENHRELREHILH
Z1(q)(ii) AR RHERNZ
19 T ER 4% BY & 51 B SR PR AR 5T B9 15
RITEBRENREBBPLARE
& o

(i) EXRE
EREECERREEINREH
BRRFFELENFIBEEREZEE -
ERREERBENAZ (NS
STEERERIE o

(i) AARBERB(FITEHE)
N EERE(RTEE) SERR
SHRFFBNREB(EEMBRS
ZRANFSREBHEMEBE W IR
AABEAENREIREAAE
ERASE}FEEMZI0)

(iv) EAfRE
Hth#EBEB T2 LIERIE
BREZH > BRMMEARE
BT R R AU R 2 50% 2 BRAY
FEEHEL -
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24 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company was HK$56,535,000 (2022: HK$60,004,000).
After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed
a final dividend of HK 6.3 cents per ordinary share (2022:
HK 4.67 cents per share), amounting to HK$50,062,000
(2022: HK$37,109,000). This dividend has not been
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.
The directors did not propose a special dividend for the
current year. (2022: HK 2.75 cents per share, amounted to
HK$21,853,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. The Group has no
external borrowing at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed with due regard to the capital management
objectives of the Group.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

24 EXFf#HE &)

(d)

(e)

A it B IR A
KRIEZ=ZF#+Z"H=+—H > a#e
EFAQB L BERKREFEANHGBLR
¥BAHH56,535,0000(ZB-_F : B
#60,004,0007T) ° KIREHFXZE > &
ERRERPRESRZTERG.3IEM
(ZBZ-%F . 5R4.6781) » &HBE
HB¥50,062,000c (ZE 226 @ B
37,109,0007T) ° Z MBI E R R

RAHBE EFREEEMELEEK
BIBERIRE o (CE-_F : 82758
il » A£381621,853,0005T) °

BEXEHE
FEREREEFIANTIEBRARESRE
EFESENEEN » URERAERTR
KRARRRZMEAERE - ZEENRE
HHAR A FIMEDFERR ©

AEFAAEEASTEBE  THBAR
BIREARLEME o
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25 Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. These risks
are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and
practices described below.

(@)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial
loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade receivables and contract assets. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and deposits with banks is limited because
the counterparties are major banks, for which the Group
considers to represent low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Credit terms offered by the Group to customers are based
on individual commercial terms negotiated with customers.
Credit periods generally range from one day to one month.

When the Group registers a customer as a subscriber,
the customer is automatically assigned with a credit limit
based on the amount of its deposit or bank guarantee.
The amount of deposit is determined on a customer-by-
customer basis, depending on its usage of the Group’s
services. Generally, if a customer reaches or exceeds its
credit limit before the normal billing cycle, an ad hoc bill
will be issued to the customers for payment by bank direct
debit. However, if a customer is in default of payment for
whatever reason, its account is automatically suspended
from operation until all outstanding charges have been fully
settled. For that reason, customers may also, and often do,
place deposits with the Group from time to time to cover
their charges.

25 MBEBREERQAEE

EREENEEEBBER EBELEE R
BED  MRRIMERRE - ZFRBTEEE
BT X E it R B 5 B IR BUR N B AR IR o
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REERRIKE -
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25 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

There is, however, no credit policy for the Group’s ad hoc
customers who are required to pay the relevant charges
(including service charges, service centre handling fees and
Government fees) in full when using the Group over-the-
counter services.

The Group's exposure to credit risk from trade receivables
and contract assets is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At the end of the reporting period, 11.4% (2022: 23.8%)
and 37.4% (2022: 26.0%) of the total trade receivables and
contract assets was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets are set out in Note 77.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience indicates similar
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

25 BHEBREERAAEEGE

(a)
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25 Financial risk management and fair values 25 FMKEBREERAAEBEGE
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERMRGE
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BHERRRENEEE)
The following table provides information about the Group's TRIEHEHAEEFMEERENEERR
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and UREWERR RSN EETAIREEEE
contract assets: & -

Gross

carrying Provision on Total loss
amount individual basis ECL rates ECLs allowance
BHEE BHREE BREE
BEAE 185 % BR= 8 ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT %
Current (not past due) BDEA (Riah) 31,424 - 0.1% (19) (19)
Less than 1 month past due R —1E A 5,803 - 0.5% (27) (27)
1 to 3 months past due BP—Z==@A 3,586 - 3.6% (131) (131)
Over 3 months past due ABRB=EA 2,170 - 7.4% (160) (160)
42,983 - (337) (337)

2022
&g
Gross

carrying Provision on Total loss
amount  individual basis ECL rates ECLs allowance
BHEE BHEE BREE
SRE4AE BRI BEX B8 B
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT % BT BT
Current (not past due) EPEA (Riash) 26914 (129) 0.1% (20) (149)
Less than 1 month past due IR H—1E R 5265 - 0.4% (23) (23)
1 to 3 months past due BH—Z==EA 4,801 - 0.7% (34) (34)
Over 3 months past due BBE=MEA 5941 (385) 4.3% (237) (622)

42921 (514) (314) (828)
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25 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were not past due relate to a wide range
of customers for which allowance is made on an individual
basis based on expected loss rate determined on the basis
described above.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management considers that allowance is made in respect
of balances on both individual and collective basis based
on expected loss rate determined on the basis as described
above.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables and contract assets during the year is as
follows:

25 BHEBREERAAEEGE

(a)

FE =R

YRR R ENEE (B
RHIGEXRBEMENERBELR
BHE o WELEEARBEIIR (FEREE
RS KBERAER « BRIRKRR
FEBHBRRERRFERANKER
MZBR > MNLGRZE -

TERAHNERREERETFER
MREEFRRRE LA EEENE
HARS IR R (AR FHR M -

EEHER Y L IR EN RN RIRE S
LBURRER  ZERERPREEH
HUEEELHRRIF - IREBUEER -
EEERR > ARG ER REREE
RIE E B 2B E N RAERR RS
e

R ARBYERRREHNEENEGE
BEREZBUT

2022
—E-C

HK$'000

BT

As at 1 January “—B—H 828 827

Amounts written off during the year FRMEEEE (870) (172)
Impairment losses recognised FRERTRERE

during the year 379 173

As at 31 December BK+-B=+—H 337 828
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25 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(b)

(©)

Liquidity risk

All cash management of the Group, including the short
term investment of cash surpluses and raising of loans, if
needed, to cover expected cash demands, are managed
centrally by the Company. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities
was HK$164,477,000. Except for contract liabilities of
HK$9,017,000, all trade creditors and other payables of
HK$150,621,000 as indicated in Note 20, were due to be
repaid during the next financial year or repayable upon
demand. The Group will address the short-term liquidity
requirement inherent in this contractual maturity date with
internal resources.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate
risk arises primarily from floating rate bank balances, which
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group's profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately HK$2,141,000 (2022: HK$1,271,000).

25 BHEBREERAAEEGE

(b)

(©)

FEENMEREEETIF(EERE
BERNERRENEEERMETE)
NENFRIREFTR)GHEALABTERE
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25 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

()

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s consolidated equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
bank balances held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and
retained profits) is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022 for cash
flow interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through cash and bank deposits denominated in United
States dollars and investments in PRC and Macau
established entities. Given the fact that the exchange
rates of United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars are
currently pegged, management does not expect that there
will be any significant currency risk associated with the
investment in debt securities denominated in United States
dollars. The Group has not hedged the foreign exchange
exposure in relation to its investments in PRC and Macau
established entities.

26 Capital commitments

Capital commitments contracted for as at 31 December 2023
not provided for in the financial statements amounted to
HK$3,214,000 (2022: HK$1,851,000). They were mainly in respect
of the purchase of platform software and computer equipment
for the Group.

25 BHEBREERAAEEGE
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27 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions:

(@)

(b)

Recurring transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
generated revenue of HK$14,000 (2022: HK$15,000) from
TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL”"), an associate of a substantial
shareholder, for providing electronic solutions in processing
certain government related documents.

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s executive directors
as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in Note 10, is as follows:

27 ERBEBMALRS

PRIEEMBREAMBEAIRENR 5 K %E?
5h > REBTETUTERBBMA LIRS

(a) BEETHRS
BHE_ZT_=Z=£+_BA=+—HLE
E > ~EEREHEES TBFHEEX
HHNEFRASBURBMENNREGRATE
(MTALY) (BEERFMBEAN) EEWE
14,000 (Z B 24 © A115,000
7o) °©

(b) TEEEAEMS
TEEEABMS (RIERMZOFTNE
BRAARATMITES S FTHRRIE MK
FIOFMEEERE TESHEESSRTMW
MIE)WNTF :

2023 2022

—g-= —s-=
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BT T B+
Short-term employee benefits SHAE B &7 17,891 19,803
Post-employment benefits KRIEZREBET 72 72
Equity compensation benefits R A ERF 307 333
18,270 20,208

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note

5(a)).

28 Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

Pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government, the
Group has obtained two bank guarantees totaling HK$2,176,000
(2022: two bank guarantees totaling HK$2,176,000) from banks
for the due performance of the contracts by the Group. The bank
guarantees and performance bond are secured by a charge over
deposit totaling HK$2,176,000 (2022: HK$2,176,000).

M 4B ERsT AMB B A< ) (RAVEE5(a)) ©

28 BEHERIFARE

RIBEBFIINENER  AEARSE
BITEHNBERTESHERITEFRSEEE
2,176,000 c(ZE-—F : MIERTERS
HAB12,176,0007T) © WITERFMBLHIER
LEHHEK2,176,000 (2T "% : B
2,176,0007T) FRHNIRELEAIRIR ©
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29 Company-level statement of financial 29 ATFEEMNE BRI EK
position
2022
B
Note HK$'000
Kt BT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB RSE 23,253 19,533
Interest in an associate Frit—R B E A B m 16 5,145 -
Interest in subsidiaries P& i B A B e 2 15 89,125 89,302
Deferred tax assets IFIETRIEE & 35 38
e 117,558 108,873
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables and contract assets FEWRBEZ RSN BE 35,549 29,877
Other receivables, prepayments and HAEWRIE ~ FEIRIER
other contract costs Hth &4/ 12,945 13,169
Taxation recoverable AR ERIE - 2,855
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE USRI B A B FE 3,028 3,845
Deposits with banks RITER 168,363 69,977
Cash and cash equivalents RENREEE 273,856 363,860
493,741 483,583
Non-current assets classified as assets D EAIFEHEEEN
held for sale IERENE E 19 - 567
e 493741 484,150
Current liabilities b =R
Trade creditors, contract liabilities and ~ FE{TERFN ~ N EEK
other payables HhpESFRIE 147,411 147,718
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESHI B A B FE 96,188 78,028
Taxation payable FEATHRIE 3,421 -
[ 247,020 225746
Net current assets REBEEFREE 246,721 258,404

Total assets less current liabilities EELBERRBER 364,279 367,277
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29 Company-level statement of financial 29 A7\ E MmN BT K (&)
position (Continued)

2023 2022

—Eo=f S
Note HK$'000 HKS'000
Htat BETT
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Provision for long service payments RIRE S EE 1,847 2,383
Deferred tax liabilities IRERIEAE 2,092 967
Other payables HAnFEFRIE 187 173
... 4126 3,523
NET ASSETS EEFE 360,153 363,754
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital (32N 24(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves B 64,060 67,661
TOTAL EQUITY A 360,153 363,754
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on REFEN__T_ME=A"+_AHERE
22 March 2024. TS -
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, sB.S, J.P. 2
Chairman ZJyfEE L+ > sBS,JP.
TSE Kam Keung HITEE

Executive Director EiE L
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30 Non-adjusting events after the reporting

31

period

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of HK 6.3 cents per share (2022: final dividend and
special dividend of HK 4.67 cents per share and HK 2.75 cents
per share respectively) for the year ended 31 December 2023,
amounting to HK$50,062,000 (2022: final dividend and special
dividend of HK$37,109,000 and HK$21,853,000 respectively).
This dividend has not been recognised as a liability at the end of
the reporting period.

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the annual accounting period
ended 31 December 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements: Classification
of liabilities as current or non-current

1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements: Non-current
liabilities with covenants

1 January 2024

30 HEHRKABRNER

31

REREHRE ) EERRBEBEE_S =
+ZB=+—HIEENKRPKRESRR6.3B
UW(ZEEZ=F  RERERFRRE 525
AERA67HMNER2.758) » 5B
50,062,000 (=B = —4F : REARG B 4575
B9 RIAH1837,109,0007T K # 21,853,000
7) o R EHHR SR KRBT A EE -

EF-E-_=%#+=-HB=+—H
I FEESTHEC EMERRE
MAVIER] - FTERRZREUREE
YHEE
BEAMBEHRERTIZEQ > EADMAZME
T BT RRIETER > MRBE_ZSZ
=FE+ZRA=1+—HLEEEHEKREN > TMER
EEAFEHRR DA > Eh e AEETRAN
AT o

RHT35

Az

FRE

B BEX

(BRGER) BRI » —TomE

HBRENZES - HRE —A—H
PR B I B

(BBEHER) B 15R(ERD) » —ECmE

HEBBREZES —A—A

b =
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31 Possible impact of amendments, new 31 8F2=—FB=-_=F+=-HA=+—H
standards and interpretations issued but not HFEETHECEAEERE
yet effective for the annual accounting period MEMERT - HEARBRETREE
ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) THEE(E)

Effective for RT3
accounting periods == A
beginning on ey
or after SHHREXR
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: 1 January 2024 (EBMBREED)F165% —TopmE
Lease liability in a sale and leaseback (183]) » #E : E&HMD] —A—H
HHEEE
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement 1 January 2024 (EEGTEINFE7RUERD) » —E-E
of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial RERERN(EBITTE —AB—H
Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier HREERNFETR > THTAE !
finance arrangements W - HEFHELH
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of 1 January 2025 (EBGEANFE215(B:T) » ZZTZHE
changes in foreign exchange rates: EFEEZE —A—H
Lack of exchangeability BI3CHR 1%
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what AEERETGEZELENETEEERAHEES
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the period EENFEE - ESAERAS » RN EER)
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of AARABEGHGEMBRRERERTE o

them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
EFMBERE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—E-= S - CZEZZE “EZ—-hE

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it Pcaeel ARTrt BETz BBTn BRTn

Results E4 |

(vear ended 31 December) #HE+-BF=1+—H

IHEE)

Revenue Wz 266,611 258,815 273,825 261,213 337,175
Profit from operations &R 78,186 80,094 90,986 77,625 86,694
Other net income/(loss) Httli A/ (518) 7348 1 32,161 (20,427) (2,869) 6,161 8,722
Share of results of associates Y= YN=IES 705 (585) (1,899) (1,395) 798
Profit before taxation PR ER 111,052 59,082 86,218 82,391 96,214
Taxation #E (10,413) (6749)  (12,565) (9591)  (14013)
Profit for the year TEERF 100,639 52,333 73,653 72,800 82,201
Attributable to: BUF AL FEL

Ordinary equity shareholders of FATERBRREREA

the Company 100,639 52,333 73,653 72,800 82,201

Profit for the year TEERT 100,639 52,333 73,653 72,800 82,201
Assets and Liabilities EEREHE

(as at 31 December) F+=A=+—H)

Total non-current assets FRBEELELE 40,660 30,869 71,282 109,148 328,011
Total current assets MENA R 504,921 501,692 493,248 477,097 264,282
Totalassets AEe® 45,581 932561 564530 586245 592293
Total non-current liabilities EREEREE (4,900) (4,006) (4,301) (5379) (4,614)
Total current liabilities FBamEes (164477)  (164142)  (181599)  (196539)  (216,752)
_Totalliabilities AfR® (169377)  (168148)  (185900)  (201.918)  (221,366)
Net assets BESE 376,204 364,413 378,630 384,327 370,927

Earnings per share (HK cents) SIEEF (GBL)
Basic 257N 12.7 6.6 9.3 9.2 10.3
Diluted b 12.7 6.6 9.3 9.2 10.3
Note: HiaE :
1. The impairment loss on interest in an associate (2021: HK$834,000, 2020: 1. KRB E NG R mr R EER(ZF = —F Bl
HKS$9,000,000, 2019: HK$4,500,000) is included in other net income/(loss) to 834,0005T » ZEZF4F ! #E#9,000,0005T 1 ZF—7
conform with the presentation for the year ended 31 December 2023. 1F [ BU4,500,0005T) FIA BEMUA -~ (F548) /48 » X

BHE_E_ZF+ _FA=+—HILFERFEG
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Property Held for Own Use
HEBRNYE

As at 31 December 2023 RZEBE-_=F+=-A=+—H

Approximate gross floor area

(square feet)
Address ANEEEE
B!l (FHFHER)
11/F & 12/F Tower B, Regent Centre 63 Wo Yi Hop Road 44,532

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
BAZRNESEIRERT/OBE11E K121
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Investor Relations and Key Dates

REEBEREEZHH

The Company encourages two-way communication with both our
institutional and individual investors. Extensive information about
the Company’s activities is provided in the Annual Report. There is
regular communication with institutional and individual investors.
Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their shareholdings
and the business of the Company are welcome and are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.

Financial Calendar
Closure of Register of Members:

— to ascertain shareholders entitlement
to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM

21 May 2024-24 May 2024
(both days inclusive)

- to ascertain shareholders qualified for
the Final Dividend

31 May 2024-4 June 2024
(both days inclusive)

2024 AGM 24 May 2024

Payment Date for the Final Dividend On or about 14 June 2024

Listings

The Company'’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of SEHK
since 28 October 2005.

Annual Report 2023

This Annual Report 2023, in both English and Chinese, is now
available in printed form as well as on the Company’s website
at www.tradelink.com.hk and the website of HKEXnews at
www.hkexnews.hk.
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Investor Relations and Key Dates (Continued)

REEBEEREEZEBH(R)

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — 00536

Investor Relations

Ms. Wong Siu Yee, Grace

Vice President (Investor Relations and Corporate Communications)
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2161 4370

Fax: +852 2506 0188

Email: ir@tradelink.com.hk

Website

www.tradelink.com.hk
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EBMETZFIEIRAT - 00536
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MEEE635
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18R 121%

E:E © +852 2161 4370

f#H : +852 2506 0188

EH : ir@tradelink.com.hk
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Board of Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P.
(retired on 12 May 2023)

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT
(appointed on 12 May 2023)

Board Committees

Audit Committee

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman)

Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P.
(retired on 12 May 2023)

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT
(appointed on 12 May 2023)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman)

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Nomination Committee

Mr. HO Lap Kee Sunny, M.H., J.P. (Chairman)
(retired on 12 May 2023)

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT (Chairman)
(appointed on 12 May 2023)

Dr. LEE Harry Nai Shee, S.B.S., J.P.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy

Investment Committee

Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman)
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. YING Tze Man

Corporate Governance Committee

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok Jimmy (Chairman)

Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. HO Lap Kee, M.H., J.P.
(retired on 12 May 2023)

Mr. LIN Sun Mo Willy, G.B.S., J.P., FCILT
(appointed on 12 May 2023)

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan (Chief Operations Officer)

Ms. PANG Kit Fong (Chief Financial Officer)

Company Secretary

Mr. TAl Kwok Hung (removed on 9 February 2024)
Mr. HO Kai Tak (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Auditor

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor

Registered in accordance with the

Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Bankers ERBAT

Dah Sing Bank, Limited AFIRITERAF

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited FAR L ESESRITERAA
Registered Office PSR

11/F &12/F EAZEE

Tower B, Regent Centre HESE635

63 Wo Yi Hop Road BT 0BEE

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong 1118 X% 121&

Telephone: +852 2599 1600 &E:E | 48522599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188 {8H : +852 2506 0188
Share Registrar ROBFEZE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BEEPREBSZILBRAA
Shops 1712-1716 HREF

17/F, Hopewell Centre ERAERT83%

183 Queen’s Road East EM0171#

Wan Chai, Hong Kong 1712E1716E

Telephone: +852 2862 8555 EEE . +852 2862 8555
Fax: +852 2865 0990 {8H : +852 2865 0990

In case of inconsistencies between the English and Chinese versions, HIXIRMXBELEXRAFT > IRTXZZRIU
the English version shall prevail to the extent of such inconsistencies. HYRAZEE o



Tradelink

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre,

63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2599 1600 Fax: (852) 2506 0188

Corporate Website: www.tradelink.com.hk Business Portal: www.tradelink-ebiz.com

BREETFESHRAR

EEBZRNTEE 63 RERT L BE 118K 1212

B (852) 2599 1600 {HEL: (852) 2506 0188

AT www.tradelink.com.hk BEFEZEH: www.tradelink-ebiz.com

@ This report is printed on environmentally friendly paper %R & LR {RARRENSY
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